HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT SATISFACTION AND PROFITABILITY OF

NURSING HOMES

by

Richard Alrayes

Dissertation

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Health Care Management

Liberty University, School of Business

July, 2024

Abstract

The main issue focused on in the research is that increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes in Houston, TX creates an increase in medical errors and results in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability to the business. To address the problem, convergent parallel mixed methods were used to understand the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and the profitability of nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The mixed methods study was guided by four research questions: (1) How does increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes impact the quality of provided healthcare services? (2) How does the increase in medical errors (complaints) in nursing homes, as an indicator of the quality of provided healthcare services, impact the level of customer satisfaction and reflect profitability to the business? (3) What are the relational and professional practices that can help to overcome the obstacles of increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes? (4) What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints, and between the staff-patient ratio and the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, Texas? The qualitative data were gathered using information acquired from the face-to-face interviews. The qualitative data were organized in an Excel sheet and the codes and themes were developed accordingly. The coding process highlighted symmetric words. Codes and sub-codes were identified, conveying the work experience or information relevant to the in-person interview questions. The quantitative data collection consisted of pulling out data from a primary source of information (Medicare.gov). The data were registered into an Excel sheet. The information was then exported from Microsoft® Excel into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software for final analysis. The convergent parallel design is appropriate for the study as both qualitative and quantitative data are needed to have a comprehensive understanding of the effects

of work overload. The significance of the study was to understand the phenomena of high workload and its effects on the residents and the nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The intention was to provide more in-depth information regarding how much high workload will reflect on the quality of medical services and finances of the nursing homes. The results of my study will assist nursing homes' decision-makers when reviewing their staffing policy, open the door to expanding the vision of the staffing process, and shed light on the long-term effects of high workload.

HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT SATISFACTION AND PROFITABILITY OF

NURSING HOMES

by

Richard Alrayes

Dissertation

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Health Care Management

Liberty University, School of Business

July 2024

Approvals

7/29/2024

Richard Alrayes, Doctoral Candidate

Angela Cline, DBA, Dissertation Chair

Ronald Morgan, PhD, Committee Member

Alexander Averin, PhD, MBA Chair, Doctoral Programs

Date

Date

Date

Date

Dedication

My dissertation is dedicated to my family, who supported me during this long journey. It would be impossible to meet my goals without their understanding, patience, and love. With working a full-time stressful job, taking care of a family of four, and pursuing a doctorate, this would have been an impossible mission, but with my family's support, I nailed it.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful for all the support given to me from those who had my back during this long journey of over 6 years. A want to give a big thanks to my daughter Kamar for all the support she has provided me. I cannot forget the thoughtful discussions we had while we discussed how the healthcare system functions.

I would like to thank my professor, Dr. Angela Cline, for guiding me throughout the dissertation. I greatly appreciate your support, patience, encouragement, and professionalism. I am thankful for your honor and wisdom while guiding me throughout my research. I would like to thank the dissertation committee, Dr. Ron Morgan, and Dr. Nicole Lowes, for your professional guidance and tips when helping me move forward on this journey.

Of course, I cannot forget to thank the nursing home administrators who allowed me to conduct my research in their facility, as well as all the other participants who spared me their time despite their tight schedule.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Approvals	iv
List of Tables	XV
List of Figures	xvi
Section 1: Introduction	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	4
Research Questions	4
Discussion of Research Questions	5
Hypotheses	6
Nature of the Study	7
Research Paradigm	7
Research Design	9
Research Method	11
Conceptual Framework	12
Concepts	14
Theories	15
Constructs (Qualitative Approach)	17
Variable (Quantitative Approach)	
Actors 20	

Relationship Between Concepts, Theories, Actors, Constructs, and	
Variables	22
Definition of Terms	23
Assumptions, Limitations, Delimitations	24
Assumptions	24
Limitation	26
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	29
Reduction of Gaps in the Literature	
Implications for Biblical Integration	31
Benefit to Business Practice and Relationship to Cognate	32
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	
Healthcare System in the United States	
Shortages of Healthcare Workers	
Regulations Governing the Healthcare System	42
Social Security Act	43
Medicare	44
Medicaid	45
Center of Medicare and Medicaid	46
Health Maintenance Organization Act of 1973	47
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) of 1987	48
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996	49
Balanced Budget Act of 1997	50

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010	50
Quality Measures	52
Medical Errors	54
CMS Enforcement Processes (Quality Assurance)	59
Litigations Against Healthcare Facilities	61
CMS Stars Rating	63
Reimbursement Methods	64
Staffing Policies (Hospitals, Dialysis Facilities, Nursing Homes)	67
Patient Satisfaction	70
Using Convergent Parallel Mixed Method in Healthcare Research	73
Anticipated and Discovered Themes	75
Summary of Section 1	78
Section 2: Introduction	81
Purpose Statement	81
Role of the Researcher	82
Actions to Conduct the Study	82
Discussion of Bracketing to Avoid Personal Bias	85
Research Methodology	86
Introductory Paragraph	86
The Appropriateness of the Mixed Design for the Research Study	87
The Appropriateness of the Convergent Parallel Method for the Research	
Study	89

The Appropriateness of the Convergent Parallel Method for the	
Triangulation for the Research	90
Research Questions	
Summary Paragraph	93
Participants	93
Quantitative Approach	93
Qualitative Approach	95
Population and Sampling	95
Introductory Paragraph	95
Quantitative Approach	96
Population	96
Sampling	97
Qualitative Approach	
Population	
Sampling	101
Data Collection and Organization	
Data Collection Plan	
Quantitative Approach	
Qualitative Approach	
Member Checking	
Follow-up Interviews	110
Instruments	110
Qualitative Approach	110

Quantitative Approach	111
Data Organization Plan	112
Data Analysis	114
Quantitative Approach	114
The Variables	114
Descriptive Statistics	117
Hypothesis	119
Hypotheses Testing	120
Qualitative Approach	121
Emergent Ideas	121
Interpretations	121
Analysis for Triangulation	123
Reliability and Validity	124
Reliability	124
Bracketing	127
Summary of Section 2	129
Section 3: Introduction	130
Data Collection	131
Qualitative Data Collection	131
Quantitative Data Collection	133
Qualitative Component	134
Quantitative Component	134
Data Analysis and Results	135

Qualitative Results	136
Themes and Subthemes	142
Complaint.	142
Investigation.	142
Education and Training.	144
Changing the Assignment	145
Workload Management.	146
Patient Satisfaction.	146
Prioritization.	147
Delegation.	148
Communication.	149
Satisfaction Survey	150
Daily Management Round.	150
Patient Retention and Admitting New Patients.	151
Word-of Mouth.	151
CMS Rating.	152
Staffing.	153
High Patient to Health Care Worker Ration.	154
Patient Acuity.	155
Staffing Strategy.	156
Employees' Competencies	157
Agency.	157
Qualitative Research Questions	158

Quantitative Results	161
Pilot Test	161
Analysis of Qualitative and Quantitative Data Combined	
Quality of Health Care Services	170
Profitability	170
Findings, Interpretations, and Conclusions	171
Findings Related to the Research Questions	172
Interpretation of Findings	
Conclusion	
Application of Professional Practice	176
Introduction	176
Improving General Business Practice	177
Potential Application Strategies	179
Summary	
Recommendations for Further Studies	
Reflections	
Introductory Paragraph	
Personal & Professional Growth	
Biblical Perspective	
Summary of Section 3	
Summary and Study Conclusions	
References	

Appendix A: Semi-Structure Interview Guide for employees in the nursing department	
(RN, LVN, CNA)	241
Appendix B: Semi-Structure Interview Guide for Management Team (Administrator,	
DON)	243

List of Tables

Table 1	75
Table 2	
Table 3	104
Table 4	
Table 5	
Table 6	
Table 7	
Table 8	
Table 9	
Table 10	
Table 11	
Table 12	

List of Figures

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	

Section 1: Introduction

The United States is the richest nation in the world, and in spite of spending on healthcare more than any other advanced nations, the United States is ranked poorly in objective measure of healthcare outcomes (Jones & Kantarjian, 2015). Nursing homes play an important role hand by hand with other kinds of healthcare facilities to service the medical needs of the elderly population, which is increasing rapidly globally and nationwide. Nursing homes provide a wide range of health services to residents who end up in their facilities due to the lack of patients' ability to serve themselves or due to other health-related issues. Poor quality of healthcare services is a problem in many nursing homes in Texas. This problem threatens the life of elderly patients, who are the most vulnerable of the population. Phelan (2015) stated that there have been concerns globally regarding care homes where negligent practices, poor service delivery, and maltreatment have been illuminated in scandals, via means such as undercover documentary evidence, inspection reports, public inquiries, or serious case reviews. The study walked the readers through the current process in nursing homes regarding the staffing policy and its effects on patient satisfaction and business profitability. Additional explanation is provided on the causes of staff shortages and employee overload as well as the federal and state regulations, which govern and control the staffing ratio. The aim of this research is to understand the effect of providing low quality healthcare services on patient satisfaction and how patient satisfaction is reflected on business profitability.

Background of the Problem

The older adult population is expanding, living longer, and, naturally, live with multiple chronic conditions. Understanding and managing the needs of the elderly over time is an integral part of defining successful aging (Tkatch et al., 2016). The demographic bulge created by the

1

Baby Boom generation—the roughly 76 million people born between 1946 and 1964 (Super, 2020). By 2030, all baby boomers will be older than age 65. This will expand the size of the older population so that one in every five residents will be retirement age (Orr et al., 2020). In the United States, elder-care homes are known as nursing homes, typically helping older adults unable to perform activities of daily living (ADLs) independently, such as bathing, dressing and toileting (Grabowski, 2021). The quality of care in the nursing home is typically conceptualized and operationalized in terms of resident outcomes (e.g., admissions to the hospital, pressure ulcers, falls, infections, or satisfaction; Konetzka, 2020). In 2002, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) substantially expanded its quality improvement efforts by launching Nursing Home Compare (NHC), a national effort to publicly report the quality of care in all U.S. nursing homes, thereby informing consumers and incenting the improvement of quality (Brauner et al., 2018). The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes is calculated using three aspects of quality: process measures, nurse staffing, and inspections (Burke & Werner, 2019). Growing evidence suggests that workload has an adverse effect on quality of care and patient safety in nursing homes (Buljac-Samardžić & van Woerkom, 2018). Employees struggle with heavier workloads and fewer resources, resulting in less time with patients and a poor quality of patient care (Johannessen et al., 2020). Many of the recent studies focus on the effects of high workload on the quality of health care. Chang et al. (2019) stated that current nursing workload was significantly associated with care quality. MacPhee et al. (2017) demonstrated that job-level nurse perceptions of heavy workloads and task-level interruptions adversely influence patient and nurse outcomes. Recent research fell short in shading a light on the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and how that reflected negatively on the profitability of the nursing home.

Nantsupawat et al. (2016) demonstrated that nurses experiencing inadequate resources from practice environment or staffing will reduce job performance and probably threatening patient outcomes. Most of the studies that tackled the topic of high workload were conducted to figure out its effect on the quality of care and patients' output and failed to focus on patient satisfaction and business profitability. Griffiths et al. (2020) concluded that patient outcomes have been shown to improve when staffing is increased above levels identified as 'optimal' using professional judgements and a widely used prototype system.

Problem Statement

The general problem that was addressed is how increased workload experienced by employees in healthcare organizations create increased medical errors, resulting in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability in the business. Metcalf et al. (2018) stated that understaffing and healthcare workers' overload will increase the rate of medical errors. Carrez et al. (2019) stated that an overload of work increases the occurrence of medical errors. Chang et al. (2019) concluded that an increased amount of workload experienced by healthcare service providers increases the rate of medical errors, which can lead to a loss of customer satisfaction, with common mistakes consisting of patient falls, infections, medications, and incorrect documentation. Richter and Muhlestein (2017) stated that the patient experience has had a direct financial impact on healthcare organizations as well as loss of profitability to the business due to increased workload experienced by employees in the healthcare industry. The specific problem that was addressed is the increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes in Houston, TX, which creates an increase of medical errors and results in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability to the business.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this mixed design convergent parallel method was to understand the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and the profitability of nursing homes in Houston, Texas. Convergent mixed methods design is a type of design where the qualitative and quantitative data are collected parallelly, analyzed separately, and then merged. In this study, the quantitative data were obtained from the Medicare public document (Nursing home compare) and used to test the relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints and occupancy rate. At the same time, the qualitative method was applied by exploring the effect of high workload through interviewing healthcare workers and patients in multiple nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The reason for collecting both quantitative and qualitative data are to get a deeper insight on the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and nursing home

Research Questions

The U.S. health care system is sick. The poor outcomes mainly impact the patients (Anderlini, 2018). Carayon and Gürses (2005) stated that heavy workload of nurses is a major problem for the American health care system. Pérez-Francisco et al. (2020) stated that the upward imbalance of workload for not respecting the nurse-patient ratio established is manifested in problems such as increased infections in patient. Nurses are currently experiencing higher workloads than ever before due to four main reasons: (a) increased demand for nurses, (b) inadequate supply of nurses, (c) reduced staffing and increased overtime, and (d) reduction in patient length of stay. Everhart et al. (2013) stated that healthcare facilities facing financial uncertainty have sought to reduce nurse staffing as a way to increase profitability. Everhart et al. (2013) performed a cost-effectiveness analysis on patient-to-nurse ratios and found that lowering

the nurse workload decreases mortality rates and led to overall cost savings. McHugh et al. (2021) stated that the minimum nurse-to-patient ratio policies are a feasible approach to improve nurse staffing and patient outcomes with good return on investment. The following research

questions addressed the effects of high workload of healthcare workers on patient satisfaction and the connections and effects of this problem with business profitability.

RQ1- How does increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes impact the quality of provided healthcare services?

RQ2- How does the increase in medical errors (complaints) in nursing homes, as an indicator of the quality of provided healthcare services, impact the level of customer satisfaction and reflect on the profitability of the business?

RQ3- What are the relational and professional practices that can help to overcome the obstacles of increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes? RQ4- What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient

complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, TX?

Discussion of Research Questions

- RQI: Healthcare workers, like nurses and nurse assistants, are considered the most essential health providers of the medical services. Overstaffing and assigning more patients to each care provider will affect the time per patient given by the care giver. This question will help my research by understanding how workload affects the medical services provided.
- 2- RQ2- Medical errors have a huge effect on the reputation of healthcare organizations and jeopardize them from being a patient's choice or a doctor's referral when it comes to healthcare. This research question will help my research in understanding

medical errors on the patient's satisfaction and how that satisfaction will affect the nursing home's profitability.

- 3- RQ3- Managers in nursing homes play an important role in the success of the business; the continuous communication between healthcare providers and managers and understanding their limitations will help overcome the health care providers' obstacles at work and limit the number of medical errors.
- 4- RQ4- Staff-patient ratio can sometimes determine dedicated time spent by the healthcare provider with the patient during the patient's stay in a medical facility. The high overload of patients on the medical staff will increase the burden to take care of patients and provide accurate medical services.

Hypotheses

H4o: There is no statistically significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

H4a: there is a significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

H4 address RQ4 seeks to explain the influence of high workload on patient satisfaction and business profitability. Variables included- H4 includes Staff-patient as ordinal value from 1 star to 5 stars [as determined by the CMS- The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurse (RN) hours per resident per day; and (2) total nurse staffing (including RN, licensed practical nurse (LPN), and nurse aide) hours per resident per day], patient complaint as continuous value, and occupancy rate as continuous value.

Nature of the Study

Poor quality of healthcare services is an increasing problem in many nursing homes in Houston Texas. This problem threatens the life of elderly patients, who are the most vulnerable of the population. Phelan (2015) stated that there have been concerns globally regarding nursing homes where negligent practices, poor service delivery, and maltreatment have been illuminated in scandals, via means such as undercover documentary evidence, inspection reports, public inquiries, or serious case reviews. Patient satisfaction is an important and commonly used indicator for measuring the quality of health care. Prakash (2010) stated that patient satisfaction affects clinical outcomes, patient retention, and medical malpractice claims. The problem is that the increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes in Houston, TX is creating an increase of medical errors, resulting in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability to the business. The purpose of the convergent parallel mixed methods case study was to investigate the effects of high workload on patients' satisfactions and business profitability.

Research Paradigm

Kivunja and Kuyini (2017) explained that paradigms are important because they provide beliefs and dictates, which, for scholars in a particular discipline, influence what should be studied, how it should be studied, and how the results of the study should be interpreted. Monroe et al. (2019) stated that improving collective awareness of paradigmatic perspectives will help improve communication and understanding as we all work in the transformation of education, ecosystems, and human communities.

The pragmatism paradigm shaped the conceptual framework for the convergent mixed methods research study, which is the paradigm of this research. Pragmatism is a philosophy originated in the United States in the late nineteenth century (Morgan, 2014). Pragmatists believe

that reality is not static—it changes at every turn of events. Similarly, the world is also not static—it is in a constant state of becoming (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Pragmatism applies to mixed methods research in that inquirers draw liberally from both quantitative and qualitative assumptions when they engage in their research (Creswell, 2014). Mixed-methods researchers promote pragmatism as a paradigm by suggesting that it is directly linked to the needs of mixed-methods research (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Onwuegbuzie et al. (2009) explained that the pragmatist researchers can use the whole range of qualitative and quantitative analysis in an attempt to fulfill one or more of five mixed research purposes like triangulation, complementarity, development, initiation, and expansion.

Frey (2018) cited that the pragmatic paradigm is useful for guiding research design, especially when a combination of different approaches is philosophically inconsistent. The mixed methods researcher, pragmatism, opens the door to multiple methods, different worldviews, and different assumptions, as well as different forms of data collection and analysis (Creswell, 2014). Biesta (2010) stated that pragmatism has implications for the status of knowledge in that knowledge according to the pragmatist view is always about relationships between actions and consequences, never about a world "out there." Stark (2014) stated the through pragmatism as a mode of inquiry, those involved in the research process are looking to fit new pieces into their current understanding about a given phenomenon.

The framework of the convergent parallel mixed method design driven by a pragmatism paradigm provides a comprehensive view of the study. The pragmatism paradigm aligns with the core of the study that reveals the effect of high workload on the provided medical services and business profitability. The theory aligns with the methodology of the study by exploring the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and business profitability. Pragmatism framework allows to shade a light on multiple experiences of the high workload phenomena and directs to problem solving by observing what participants say and how they act while studying the phenomena. Mertens and Hesse-Biber (2012) stated that pragmatists recognize the construction of meaning through experience and believe that researchers must focus on the consequences of their interpretive activities for moral and political purposes. Shannon-Baker (2016) states that pragmatism is characterized by an emphasis on communication and shared meaning-making in order to create practical solutions to social problems.

Research Design

One of the important steps in conducting research is to design the research. A research design is a blueprint to guide the research process by laying out how a study will move from the research purpose/questions to the outcomes (Abutabenjeh & Jaradat, 2018). Schoonenboom and Johnson (2017) stated that a mixed methods design is characterized by the combination of at least one qualitative and one quantitative research component. The research was conducted by using a mixed methods design that addressed the research questions more comprehensively than either qualitative or quantitative methods by themselves. Raven et al. (2011) stated that the mixed methods research therefore has the potential to harness the strengths and counterbalance the weaknesses of both approaches and can be especially powerful when addressing complex, multifaceted issues such as health services interventions. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that mixed methods research offers powerful tools for investigating complex processes and systems in health and health care. The method that has been followed when conducting the mixed method design is the convergent parallel mixed method. The convergent parallel design is appropriate for the study as both qualitative and quantitative data are needed to have a comprehensive understanding of the effects of work overload. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that in a convergent

design, the qualitative and quantitative data are collected and analyzed during a similar timeframe. During this timeframe, an interactive approach may be used where iterative data collection and analysis drives change during the data collection procedures.

Mixed methods research offers great promises for practicing researchers who would like to see methodologists describe and develop techniques that are closer to what researchers actually use in practice (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). A qualitative dimension is needed to gather community perspectives at each stage of the research process, while a quantitative dimension provides the opportunity to demonstrate outcomes that have credibility for community members and scholars (Mertens, 2007). Mixed methods researchers need to establish a purpose for their mixing, a rationale for the reasons why quantitative and qualitative data need to be mixed in the first place (Creswell, 2014). The mixed methods approach has emerged as a "third paradigm" for social research. It has developed a platform of ideas and practices that are credible and distinctive and that mark the approach as a viable alternative to quantitative and qualitative paradigms (Denscombe, 2008). Mixed methods research allows researchers to use creativity in integrating qualitative and quantitative elements to best answer the research question (Halcomb, 2019).

Mixed methods offer a number of advantages over qualitative or quantitative methodologies alone. Mixed-methods methodology is of strategic significance when the research questions require triangulating (Hadi & Closs, 2016). The current research method contains an in-built method triangulation using data from different types of resources. Qualitative research can answer specific research questions that cannot be adequately answered using (only) quantitative designs (Busetto et al., 2020).

Research Method

By the early 1990s, mixed methods turned toward the systematic convergence of quantitative and qualitative databases, and the idea of integration in different types of research designs emerged (Creswell, 2014). The methods that are followed by researchers conducting mixed design methods were differentiated (as summarized by Creswell (2014) such as (a) ways to integrate the quantitative and qualitative data, (b) one database could help explain other database, (c) one database could lead to better instruments, and (d) one database could build on other databases. The method that has been followed when conducting the mixed method design is the convergent parallel mixed method.

Salmon (2016) stated that convergent parallel design involves collecting and analyzing two independent strands of quantitative and qualitative data in a single phase: merging the results of the two strands and then looking for convergence, divergence, contradictions or relationships between the two datasets. Edmonds and Kennedy (2017) explained that the convergent parallel involves the collection of different but complementary data on the same phenomena. Thus, it is used for the converging and subsequent interpretation of quantitative and qualitative data. The convergent parallel mixed method design is used to analyze the effect of the workload on the patients' satisfaction and profitability of the business. Results from the data analysis of a convergent parallel mixed method provided insight into the effect of the high workload and shed light on this phenomenon. The quantitative portion was built on analyzing previously collected data, while the qualitative portion depended on interviewing the participants to extract in-depth data. Parallel-results convergent synthesis design consists of independent syntheses of qualitative and quantitative evidence and an interpretation of the results in the discussion (Hong et al., 2017). This approach is often referred to as the concurrent triangulation design (single-phase)

because the data are collected and analyzed individually but at the same time. The paralleldatabases design is structured so that the QUAN and QUAL data are collected separately (not within the same measures) but at the same time (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). Creswell (2014) stated that in convergent parallel mixed study, the researcher will first report the quantitative statistical results and then discuss the qualitative findings (e.g., themes) that either confirm or disconfirm the statistical results. Hadi and Closs (2016) stated that convergent design is best suited when the researchers intend to obtain complementary data on same topic for the purpose of triangulation. It also allows researchers to overcome certain weaknesses of one methodology by complementing it with another methodology and gain in-depth understanding of the research problem. The convergent design deployed the qualitative and quantitative methods simultaneously not like other two methods where the result of one will influence the result of other. The goal of using convergent rather than other designs is to give more validity and reliability on the result of the research. The qualitative and quantitative research were conducted separately, with results converged at the end of the study.

Conceptual Framework

Poor quality of healthcare services is an increasing problem in many nursing homes nationwide and in Houston Texas. This problem is threatening the life of elderly nursing home residents, who are the most vulnerable of the population. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that most nursing homes do not provide sufficient staffing to ensure basic quality. The problem is that the increased workload experienced by healthcare services providers in nursing homes in Houston, TX is potentially creating an increase of medical errors, which is defined by Grober and Bohnen (2005) as deviations from the process of care, resulting in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability to the business. To address the problem, the convergent parallel mixed methods was used to investigate the effects of high workload on patients' satisfactions and business profitability. The framework of the convergent parallel mixed method design driven by a pragmatism paradigm provides a comprehensive view of the study. The pragmatism paradigm aligns with the core of the study that reveals the effect of high workload on the provided medical services and business profitability.

Figure 1



Framework Diagram

Concepts

The high amount of workload increases tiredness, which leads to an increase of medical errors. Chang et al. (2019) stated that nurses' workload was shown to be significantly associated with care quality. Barton (2009) stated that there are several important consequences of high workload, which includes patient safety. Buljac-Samardžić and van Woerkom (2018) stated that workload has an adverse effect on quality of care and patient safety in nursing homes. Buljac-Samardžić and van Woerkom (2018) stated that with high workload, caregivers may not have the time to assess the psychosocial and physical status of patients due to limited time and therefore will hinder in providing accurate care and resulting in leaving essential task undone. Consequently, quality of care and patient safety will be diminished.

The increase in the number of medical errors affects negatively on patient satisfaction. Gorgich et al. (2016) stated that the most common causes of medications errors in nursing were tiredness due to increased workload (97.8%). Chang et al. (2019) concluded that the increased workload experienced by healthcare service providers increases the rate of medical errors, which can lead to a loss of customer satisfaction. Bari et al. (2016) stated that these medical errors can have a disastrous effect on patients as well as the institution.

Patient satisfaction affects positively on the profitability of healthcare facilities. Richter and Muhlestein (2017) identified that the patient experience has had a direct financial impact on healthcare organizations as well as the loss of profitability to the business due to increased workload experienced by employees in the healthcare industry. Plaku-Alakbarova et al. (2019) found that the employees' working conditions like job stress, management, and communication were strongly associated with resident satisfaction with the quality of care.

Theories

Capacity theory: in working memory tasks, participants are required to actively maintain information and to also manipulate that information and/or other information. Workload capacity is a quantity required to perform information processing with a reduced capacity, leading to slower processing (Heathcote et al., 2015). The theory of capacity originated from Kahneman in the early 1970s. His theory centered around that human information-processing capacity is limited. Kahneman (1973) stated that the effort increases steadily with increasing demand of the primary task, and that the increase will be insufficient to maintain the performance at a constant level of speed and quality. Kahneman (1973) published Attention and Effort, which summarized over a decade's worth of groundbreaking studies on a variety of aspects of attention, including divided attention, task interference, and the role of perception (Bruya & Tang, 2018). Ruf et al. (2022), regarding the capacity theory, states that capacity shortfalls occur when the workforce is too small. They are most evident when making medium- to short-term personnel scheduling decisions that involve the construction of weekly timetables, and short-term operational planning, such as the daily assignment of tasks. Consolidation includes the stabilization and integration of memory into long-term storage to increase resistance to interference and decay. This process creates enduring structural modification in the brain and thereby has consequential effects on the function by reorganizing and strengthening neural connections. Diverse sources like sleep and stress and the release of neurotransmitters can influence memory consolidation (Sridhar et al., 2023). Capacity theory helps research because it supports the general idea of the effect of high workload on healthcare workers in providing medical services. Bruya and Tang (2018) identified that the capacity theory assumes that there is a general limit on man's capacity to perform mental work.

Discrepancy theory: Discrepancy theory is the study of difference (Jiang et al., 2011). Discrepancy theory has taken psychological evaluation of outcomes into consideration in satisfaction formulation and claims dissatisfied results if the actual outcomes were deviated from the subject's initial expectation. Jiang et al. (2011) stated that expectations and performance delivery perceptions lead to a disconfirmation measure of the discrepancy between expectations and perceived performance. Pascoe (1983) stated that the discrepancy theory includes the subject's perception of what is expected or valued as the baseline of comparing actual outcomes. Ruf et al. (2022), regarding the discrepancy theory, state that when the delivered experience is at odds with the customer's closely held beliefs and values, this creates cognitive dissonance, and instead of happiness, it is supposed to generate unhappiness and disengagement results. The research conducted depended on the discrepancy theory in explaining patient satisfaction formulation. Thus, discrepancy theories define satisfaction as the difference between actual outcome and some other ideal outcome (Pascoe, 1983). Batbaatar et al. (2015) stated that satisfaction is a perceived discrepancy between what patients expect and what they experienced as a proportion of those expectations. Goncalves and Sampaio (2012) explained that customer loyalty is a top priority for firms in light of the fact that repeated purchases of products and services is critical to organizational success and firm profitability. The perceived discrepancy can result in a number of reactions that are emotive or active, including an adjustment or dismissal of the anchor, a change in the perception of accomplishment, or a resulting belief that leads to a particular attitude or action (Jiang et al., 2011). According to Hudak et al. (2004), patient satisfaction is measured according to the discrepancy theory by calculating the difference between patients' rating of the outcome after providing the medical services and their expectations about the outcome before providing medical services.

Medical error theory: Rodziewicz and Hipskind (2020) stated that healthcare organizations need to establish a culture of safety that focuses on system improvement by viewing medical errors as challenges that must be overcome. The medical error theory was developed in 2008 by Gluck (2008). The author reveals the effects of the complexity of work on medical errors. Gluck (2008) recommended that to improve patient safety, one must develop strategies to prevent errors with forcing functions, reduce complexity, providing reminders at the point of care, and that everyone working in healthcare should be alerted to identify and eliminate latent (potential) errors before patients are harmed. Makary and Daniel (2016) defined medical errors as any deviation from the process of care that may or may not cause harm to the patient. Errors in nursing homes may take a number of forms. First, because of the illness acuity level of nursing home residents, a substantial number of drugs are ordered and dispensed daily in this setting (Kapp, 2003). The theory is aligned with the core of the research since it sheds a light on the reflection of workload and patient distraction on increasing the number of medical errors. Karande et al. (2021), regarding the medical error theory, state that lengthy working hours and heavy workloads are being increasingly recognized as factors that cause stress, chronic fatigue, and sooner or later burnout in physicians, residents, and nurses. Burnout in these healthcare professionals is being recognized to result in suboptimal patient care practices and appreciably increase the risk of medical errors (Karande et al., 2021). The theories were considered throughout the study. The mixed methods study supported the conceptual framework concerning the high workload, quality of health care services, and nursing home profitability.

Constructs (Qualitative Approach)

Workload: high workload affected the quality of medical services, patient satisfaction, and healthcare organizations' profitability. Sturm et al. (2019) stated that workload can lead to

more job-related stress and strain, which will effect on patient outcomes. Qualitative interviews will be conducted to address the workload status in the targeted nursing home.

Quality of medical services: The quality of medical services depends on many factors. The study shed a light on how the quality of medical services is affected by the increase of workload. Qualitative interviews were conducted face-to-face to obtain more details about patients' experiences.

Patient satisfaction: high workload affected patient satisfaction, which is what was explored throughout the study. Patients were most dissatisfied when they were not met in a professional manner (Skär & Söderberg, 2018). Qualitative interviews were conducted face-toface to explore the satisfaction of patients of the provided healthcare services.

Profitability of the nursing home facility: profitability is a measure of efficiency and success. Low quality of health care services leads to a decreasing number of patients, which reflects on the profitability of the nursing home facility. Qualitative interviews were conducted face-to-face to obtain more detailed information regarding the profitability of the nursing homes.

Variable (Quantitative Approach)

Variables may be either independent or dependent. Independent variables influence the value of other variables; dependent variables are influenced in value by other variables. A hypothesis states an expected relationship between variables (Andrade, 2021). The quantitative research has conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes, the correlation has been measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio (nursing hours per patient), patient complaints, and bed occupancy. The independent variable is something which is not affected by the experiment itself, but which can be manipulated to affect the dependent

variable, while the dependent variable is directly linked to the primary outcome of the study (Kaliyadan & Kulkarni, 2019).

Staff-patient ratio (nursing hours per patient). The nurse-to-patient-ratio (NPR) and the CAN-to-patient-ratio is very critical in providing accurate and on-time medical services. Barton (2009) stated that heavy workload of a major problem for the American health system due mainly to reduce staffing. In the qualitative approach of the research, workload represented as the staffing-patient ratio (nursing hours per patient). Griffiths et al. (2020) stated that the low nurse staffing levels were related to higher reports of missed care. The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes.

Patient complaints and incident reports: these are valuable resources for monitoring the quality of health-care services. Gillespie and Reader (2016) stated that patients can provide reliable data on a range of issues; healthcare complaints have been shown to reveal problems in patient care like medical errors, breaching clinical standards, and poor communication. which is hard to capture through safety and quality monitoring systems. Patients and families who make a formal complaint primarily desire two outcomes: a patient-centric response and system-level quality improvement (van Dael et al., 2020). The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes.

Bed occupancy rate. The study shed light on the effect of high workload on the bed occupancy rate, which mainly affects business profitability. Clement (2016) stated that the occupancy rate is positively associated with higher profitability. The data were collected from

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes.

The three variables that were mentioned above include: The independent variable was nursing hours per patient per day as an ordinal value, which is reflected as a star rating system from 1 star to 5 stars (to get more accurate data, the Medicare website has provided detailed data of the time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes). The dependent variables were patient complaints as a discrete value, and bed occupancy rate as a continuous value. The results were exported from Microsoft® Excel into SPSS for analysis. *Actors*

Nursing home facilities: there are approximately 17,000 nursing homes presently operating in the United States, with a total bed capacity of about 1.8 million. Over 90% of nursing home residents are over age 65, and almost half are over 85 (Kapp, 2003). Harrington et al. (2020) stated that more than half of U.S. nursing homes were found to have lower RN, CNA, and total nurse staffing levels than those recommended by experts with one quarter of nursing homes that had dangerously low staffing. Pesis-Katz et al. (2013) stated that consumers choose a nursing home on the basis of the quality dimensions that are easy for them to observe. The research has been done in seven nursing homes. These nursing homes are located all throughout the Grand Houston area, TX, which was the location focused on during this study.

Nursing home administrators: the nursing home administrator is considered the utmost responsible director in the quality of the healthcare services that are provided in the nursing home. Castle et al. (2009) stated that nursing home administrators have a multitude of daily responsibilities, including compliance and regulatory oversight, budgeting concerns, staffing issues, and resident care and satisfaction. Nursing home administrators must make decisions to
HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT

protect the financial viability of nursing homes while finding ways to deliver high quality care. This is done through a combination of increasing revenue and decreasing costs (Lord et al., 2018). All administrators also described conscious efforts to provide mental health and coping resources, from support groups and meditation classes to quiet spaces (Franzosa et al., 2022). The data were collected from interviewing these employees was valuable, especially data regarding the quality of healthcare indicators, business profitability, profit trends, patients' complaints, medical errors, and staffing policy.

Director of nursing (DON): DONs focus on supervising the quality of the medical services and give directions to other direct medical providers in the nursing department. Krause (2012) stated that the directors of nursing (DON) are central to quality of care in nursing homes (NH) because of their role in coordinating and overseeing nursing care. The DONs are considered a good source for the study because they overview the quality of health services and handle clinical incidents and patients' complaints.

Registered nurses (RNs) and licensed vocational nurses (LVNs): nurses work in shifts to provide patient care around the clock and are considered the primary gatekeepers of clinical observations, nursing interventions, treatment, and management of patient care (Choo et al., 2010). Nurses provide direct health care services like giving medication, inserting IV lines, withdrawing blood, charting, and many other medical services. Nurses are considered a very good source of the subject of the study, especially since they can provide more detailed information on how high workload affects their performance.

Certified nurse assistants (CNAs): CNAs provide 80% to 90% of the care to residents in nursing homes (Pennington et al., 2003). CANs play an important role in providing other kinds of health services like patients bathing, feeding, transferring, and cleaning. The CNA are

considered a very good source of the subject of the study especially since they can provide more detailed information on how high workload affects their performance.

Relationship Between Concepts, Theories, Actors, Constructs, and Variables

The goal of the research is to explore the effects of the high workload of nursing home employees on the quality of the health care services and patient satisfaction, and how said quality and level of satisfaction is reflected on the profitability of the nursing homes. Many theories were considered to articulate the vision of the research. The capacity theory explains the effect of workload on the performance of workers. The medical error theory aligns with the capacity theory since it reveals the effect of the complexity of work and the high workload on the quality of the medical services provided. While the discrepancy theory proposes that the deviation forms, the expectation will develop dissatisfaction. For the sake of exploring the deep end of the problem, a mixed study method was conducted by applying qualitative and quantitative research parallel. The results of both parallel studies (qualitative and quantitative) had been converged together at the end of the study to represent the conformity between the results of the two approaches. Nursing home administrators, directors of nurse departments, nurses, and nurses' assistants were interviewed. The recorded answers to the open-ended interview questions have been coded to organize the data regarding workload, quality, and patient satisfaction. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlations were measured amongst three variables: staff-patients ratio represented by nursing hours per patient (independent variable), patient complaints (dependent variable), and bed occupancy (dependent variable).

Definition of Terms

Some of the used terms could be unfamiliar to the reader, the rest will be defined through the context of the research. The definitions below will help readers to understand the terminology of the study.

Bedridden patients: loss of mobility is associated with a persistent decline in function and physical activity and is a risk factor for pressure ulcers, falls, urinary incontinence, and malnutrition (Gattinger et al., 2017).

Burnout: The National Academy of Medicine (NAM) defines burnout along three dimensions: emotional exhaustion, cynicism, and a low sense of personal accomplishment (Vuong, 2020).

CMS: The Center for Medicare and Medicaid services is an agency within the United State Department of Health and Human Services that controls the national health care programs. DeWalt et al. (2005) state that the CMS finances health care for more Americans than any other single entity; the agency has a responsibility to its beneficiaries to ensure that they receive quality, effective, and efficient health care.

High workload effects: high workload has been shown to be negatively associated with multiple health measurements, such as job satisfaction, mental well-being, job strain, depression, distress, fatigue, and emotional exhaustion (Sjöberg et al., 2020).

Patient satisfaction: Patient satisfaction surveys are often used to understand patients' concerns and determine areas for improvement (Thornton et al., 2017). Patient satisfaction is an important and commonly used indicator for measuring the quality of health care. Patient satisfaction affects clinical outcomes, patient retention, and medical malpractice claims (Prakash, 2010).

Assumptions, Limitations, Delimitations

High workload in nursing home facilities is very common and relates to many factors. The scope of the study is to focus on the effects of workload on patients' satisfaction and its reflection on the profitability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. There are many items that could be taken into consideration when measuring the patient's satisfaction, such as patients' complaints. Workload factors at multiple levels were indirectly related to higher reports of physical and emotional workplace violence through the mechanism of patient/family complaints (Havaei & MacPhee, 2020). These are the study assumptions: (a) acquire honest and truthful answers to the desired research questions, (b) limit the bias in collecting, analyzing, and presenting the data, (c) the parallel convergent mixed method design will provide more authentic and stronger support to the final results of the study, and (d) participants of the study who agreed to fill the survey are considered to have filled out an implied consent. Limitations represent weaknesses within the study that may influence outcomes and conclusions of the research (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). The limitations of the study are: (a) the skills that researchers have to acquire to handle the collection and analysis data and (b) choosing the sample and the participants. The delimitations describe the boundaries of the study, like the work setting of the participant healthcare workers that are working in a fast-paced environment. Creswell (2014) stated that the delimitations help to further define the parameters of the research study.

Assumptions

The convergent mixed method research study implies many important assumptions. The key assumption of this approach is that both qualitative and quantitative data provide different types of information—often detailed views of participants qualitatively and scores on instruments quantitatively—and together they yield results that should be the same (Creswell,

2014). In recent years, mixed methods research has grown rapidly in health-related research. As an emerging research methodology, mixed methods research has much to offer to doctoral researchers in health care, who are increasingly faced with complex research issues (McKenna et al., 2021).

The first assumption is to get the honest and truthful answers to the desired research questions. This will be done by providing an environment of confidentiality and trust with the sample participants and providing full explanations of the purpose of the research before moving on to the in-person interview phase. If an honesty message is posed in the form of questions that precede sensitive questions, this may put the sensitive questions in context with the questions on honest responds (Vésteinsdóttir et al., 2019).

The second assumption is that the protocol and the way of collecting the data will be free of bias. Pannucci and Wilkins (2010) stated that bias occurs when systematic error is introduced into sampling or testing by selecting or encouraging one outcome or answer over others. An essential idea in eliminating the bias is to understand the source that the bias can initiate from. Bias can occur in the planning, data collection, analysis, and publication phases of research (Pannucci & Wilkins, 2010).

The third assumption is implemented in the type of study. The parallel convergent mixed method design will provide more authentic and stronger supportive to the founded result of the study. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that in a convergent design (sometimes referred to as a concurrent design), the qualitative and quantitative data are collected and analyzed during a similar timeframe. During this timeframe, an interactive approach may be used where iterative data collection and analysis drives changes in the data collection procedures. Examining the data for reliability and validity assesses both the objectivity and credibility of the research. Validity

relates to the honesty and genuineness of the research data, while reliability relates to the reproducibility and stability of the data. Utilizing in-person questions with high construct validity can reduce measurement error (Smith et al., 2019).

Limitation

The researcher should have an appropriate skill when running a mixed design, especially when both of the qualitative and quantitative are not following the same method of data collection. Without appropriate research skills to manage the multiple points of integration, the overall research study can seem unfocused or disjointed (Kajamaa et al., 2020). McKenna et al. (2021) stated that researchers need to possess the relevant quantitative and qualitative skills to be able to conduct all aspects of their research with integrity in a timely manner. A quantitative research study collects numerical data that must be analyzed in sake of drawing the research conclusions. Albers (2017) stated that learning quantitative data analysis is not learning number crunching but learning a way of critical thinking for how to analyze the data. The goal of data analysis is to reveal the underlying patterns, trends, and relationships of a study's contextual situation. Albers (2017) stated that learning quantitative analysis should focus on three aspects: Making sure the variables are relevant to the study question, assuring they are collected in a manner that supports the analysis, and determining the analysis method from the early design stage, learning how to perform an exploratory analysis to understand what the data contains, and learning how to perform a statistical-based data analysis. The goal of statistical data analysis is to tease out and understand data relationships. SPSS software, which is the most used data analysis software, was used for quantitative data analysis. SPSS, if used correctly, gives an appropriate result for data that has been entered, and the knowledge of what had been done previously is given. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for

Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes and the correlation was measured between three variables: the staffpatient ratio (nursing hours per patient per day), patient complaints, and bed occupancy.

Austin and Sutton (2014) stated that qualitative research involves asking participants about their experiences of things that happen in their lives. It enables researchers to obtain insights into what it feels like to be that person and to understand the world as others experience it. Interviews as "open-ended questions and probes yielding in-depth responses about people's experiences, perceptions, opinions, feelings, and knowledge (Austin & Sutton, 2014). Structured interviews have been conducted, and a set of questions has been determined before interviewing the participants. The collected raw data from interviewing the participants has been coded and converted into usable data through the identification of themes, concepts, and ideas that have connections to each other. The participant answers to the in-person interview questions were cross analyzed to better represent emerging thematic codes. The analysis of data was done by using thematic analysis, which supported theme development while staying grounded in the data.

Moser and Korstjens (2018) stated that the sampling plan is appropriate when the selected participants and settings are sufficient to provide the information needed for a full understanding of the phenomenon behind the study. The qualitative section of the study is built on interviewing a set of healthcare workers who provide different kinds of medical services, varying from direct patient care, like Nurses (Registered Nurses, Licensed Vocational Nurses) and CNAs (Certified Nurses Assistants), to higher management positions, like Directors of Nursing (DONs) and Nursing Home Administrators. The sample size should be chosen to address the qualitative question of the study. The purpose of using the in-person interview methods is to allow participants to share in-depth perspectives and experiences regarding the

provided healthcare services. The number of participants is therefore dependent on the richness of the data, and more than 15 cases can make analysis complicated and "unwieldy" (Austin & Sutton, 2014).

Because of the sensitivity of the research (exploring the feedback of the participants about crucial items like workload and satisfaction), some of the participants could hesitate to participate in answering or completing the in-person interview questions. Even if only a small number of participants use the feedback option to "ventilate" negative feelings about the study or about certain questions, this can also help to explain why participants drop out after a few questions, or why other individuals chose not to participate at all (Decorte et al., 2019). Then, before the interview began, participants received a full explanation of the goal of the research to gain the utmost participation and cooperation. Smith and Fogarty (2016) stated that it is important that potential study participants are appropriately informed and understand what is involved with their research participation, with an explanation on the benefits of how the research could participate in improving healthcare services. Ethically, all participants should consent to participate and analyze the data without bias. Gupta (2017) stated that the most common concerns that arise in research studies include ensuring anonymity, maintaining confidentiality, and obtaining informed consent. Transparency and confidentiality are required to reach the best feedback from the participants. Explicit assurance of confidentiality can improve data quality (Plutzer, 2019).

Delimitations

The scope of the study focused on the effects of the high workload on the quality of healthcare services and the profitability of nursing homes located in Houston, Texas. Participants were chosen to participate in the research based on their department (management, nurses, nurses' assistants). As an example, the study excluded rehab health care providers, kitchen workers, housekeeping, and even pharmacy workers. The reason behind that is that most nursing homes outsource these services and are not involved directly in the staffing process regarding these departments. Chen (2018) stated that in a typical skilled nursing facility (SNF), numerous parties exchange goods and services in the delivery of care. Specifically, resident care is rendered through a complex series of transactions among various parties, including, but not limited to physicians, pharmacists, equipment distributors and manufacturers, rehabilitation therapists, laboratorians, and dieticians. Then, before starting to survey the nursing homes' employees and patients, they should be in a full understanding of the main reasons for the survey and the research subject to gain the utmost participation and cooperation. Smith and Fogarty (2016) stated that it is important that potential study participants are appropriately informed and understand what is involved with their research participation, with an explanation on the benefits of how the research could participate in improving healthcare services. Ethically all participants should consent to participate and analyze the data without bias. Gupta (2017) stated that the most common concerns that arise in research studies include ensuring anonymity, maintaining confidentiality, and obtaining informed consent. Transparency and the confidentiality are required to reach the best feedback from the participants. Explicit assurance of confidentiality can improve data quality (Plutzer, 2019).

Significance of the Study

The significance of the study was to understand the phenomena of high workload and its effects on the residents and the nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The intention was to provide more in-depth information on how much high workload will reflect on the quality of medical services and finances of the nursing homes. The result helps the nursing homes' decision

makers when reviewing their staffing policy and opens the door to expanding the vision of the staffing process as well as shades light on long-term affections of high workload. The study added to the literature on the nursing home staffing process and examined its effects on the profitability of the interviewed facilities.

Reduction of Gaps in the Literature

Many high-quality nursing homes exist, and meaningful gains have been made, but low quality and understaffing remain endemic (Konetzka, 2020). With the withdrawal of federal agencies getting involved in the staffing policies that nursing homes could apply, the staffing process still depends on the decision of the higher management team, which is directed mainly to cut costs and decrease expenses. Sofer (2017) stated that the latest revision of regulations for long-term care facilities by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) calls for nurse staffing to be determined by factors such as the number of residents at a facility, their diagnoses, and staff competencies than by mandatory staffing ratios. All the nursing home facilities should be incompliance with the federal agency (which delegated the authorities to the CMS and the State agencies to enforce its regulations) in sake of receiving payment from Medicare and Medicaid. Unroe et al. (2018) stated that nursing homes are a highly regulated setting of care and are regularly visited by both Federal and State surveyors. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that nurse staffing is one of the primary cost components for nursing homes. It is common for nursing homes to keep staffing costs as low as possible to maximize profits.

Most of the past literatures who tackled healthcare's heavy workload focused on its effects on patient's safety and quality of health care. A large body of research has examined the quality of nursing home care and associations with resident, organizational, and market characteristics as well as state and federal policies in an effort to identify possible pathways to quality improvement (Konetzka, 2020). Buljac-Samardžić and van Woerkom (2018) stated that the stress of workload has negatively impacted patient safety and may lead to issues such as infections, patient falls, medication errors, and patient mortality. Low nurse staffing levels are associated with adverse outcomes, most notably mortality (Griffiths et al., 2018). Quality of care is typically conceptualized and operationalized in terms of resident outcomes (e.g., admissions to the hospital, pressure ulcers, falls, infections, or satisfaction; Konetzka, 2020). Sarafis et al. (2016) stated that a nurses' occupational stress, which is likely a result from understaffing, will increase incidences of practice errors and lower the quality of care. MacPhee et al. (2017) stated that job-level heavy workload demands, and task-level interruptions involve externally imposed time pressures and mental exertion that negatively influence patient and nurse outcomes.

Implications for Biblical Integration

The number of Americans over the age of 65 is currently increasing much faster than the overall population's growth rate. These changes can be largely attributed to the improvement in life expectancy (Chiu & Pinto, 2018). Due to the aging situation, the use of medical services for elderlies is exceeding the rest of the population, which, therefore, puts more pressure on the healthcare system. With an increasing aging population worldwide, there is a need for greater focus on the spirituality of older people, to better support them and lead them to an enhancement of their inner peace (Lepherd et al., 2020). Christianity is a monotheistic religion based on the life teachings and miracles of Jesus Christ. With the attainment of eternal life with God at the heart of most Christian beliefs, the acknowledged relationship between death and religion is not surprising (Choudry et al., 2018). Oberholzer (2019) stated that spirituality and healthcare have depended on and supported one another from the earliest times. Patients all over the world seek the services of faith healers for all kinds of ailments, including social and psychological issues

(Peprah et al., 2018). The nurse–patient relationship is understood as the basis for transforming the patient illness experience into one of patient and family gaining knowledge and experience that fosters health (Pfeiffer, 2018). Christian healthcare workers providing medical services with faith of the lord will help patients into a better situation. Do not forget to do good and to share with others, for with such sacrifices God is pleased (Hebrews 13:16). A Christian nurse's listening reflects the love of the God who knows each of his creation for the uniqueness, the gifting, and needs- the nurse discerns what will help move this particular person forward in the healing process (Pfeiffer, 2018). Let us not become weary in doing good, for at the proper time we will reap a harvest if we do not give up (Galatians 6:9).

Benefit to Business Practice and Relationship to Cognate

The result of the study explores the effect of work overload on patient satisfaction and the profitability of nursing homes. The workload will affect the employees' performance and the turnover rate (Inegbedion et al., 2020). The higher quality as gauged by better outcomes was associated with higher costs (Carey et al., 2018). Financial performance or profitability is the result of revenues and costs, and organizations may improve profitability by increasing revenues, decreasing costs, or both (Weech-Maldonado et al., 2019). Weech-Maldonado et al. (2019) stated that nursing homes must balance the challenge of delivering high-quality care while remaining financially solvent in this turbulent environment.

The cost of medical services in the nursing home consists of direct and indirect costs. The direct costs are attributed directly to patient care like nursing (RNs, LVNs, CNAs), drugs, rehabilitation services, laboratory cost, radiology services, and medical supplies. The direct cost is considered more flexible than the indirect cost, which makes direct costs more applicable to be managed and controlled by the management team. For-profit medical facilities to cut the cost and

increase their profit margin, they minimize the number of employees/staff and get benefit of lower personnel costs (Jeurissen et al., 2021). Burke and Werner (2019) stated that the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes are calculated using three aspects of quality: (a) annual inspection and complaint survey data, (b) nurse staffing hours per resident day, and (c) resident quality measures based primarily on facility-reported data. The compare website plays an important role in leading patients to choose which facility they are headed to. Bougnol and Dulà (2021) stated that the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's starrating system effectively summarizes large amounts of data and information, simplifying the consumer's decision-making process, and spotlighting excellence. In addition of the loss of businesses due to low rating scores, the nursing homes that struggle in providing good quality medical services have to face penalties and fines forced from the federal and state agencies for unfollowing the federal regulations. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that the enforcement of existing laws and regulations for nursing homes, using sanctions including monetary penalties, holds of admissions and denial of payments, and termination from the Medicare and Medicaid programs remains grossly inadequate.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Healthcare System in the United States

Health is a relative state in which one is able to function well physically, mentally, and spiritually to express the full range of one's unique potentialities within the environment in which one lives (Svalastog et al., 2017). A healthcare system consists of all organizations, people, and actions whose primary intent is to promote, restore, or maintain health. This includes the efforts to influence determinants of health as well as more direct health improvement

activities (Griffin, 2016). Healthcare systems globally have experienced intensive changes, reforms, developments, and improvement over the past 30 years. Multiple actors (i.e., governmental and non-governmental) and countries have played their part in the reformation of the global healthcare system (Durrani, 2016). All health care systems have five major components: the facilities where health care is provided, the healthcare workers, the medical products, such as pharmaceutical and medical supplies, education and research institutions, and the financing mechanisms (Goldsteen et al., 2020). In a universal health care system, finance and delivery are interrelated and complementary. In the United States, on the other hand, finance and delivery are mostly separate and distinct (Ameringer, 2018).

Although the United States spends more on health care than any other comparable nation, Americans are less healthy than citizens of high-income countries that spend far less (Corso et al., 2018). The U.S. healthcare system differs from those other developed countries in three notable ways: It relies on multiple sources of private financing, it covers less of the population, and it costs much more (Camillo, 2016). Buntin (2021) stated that high healthcare prices might be less of a problem if the U.S. healthcare system was uniformly delivering high-quality care and yielding high value. The United States does prioritize health as a society and voters are reluctant to endorse solutions that limit access to the latest innovations in health care. However, a fundamental shortcoming in the U.S. healthcare system is the tendency to create and perpetuate incentives to deliver higher-margin treatments and specialty care instead of primary care, preventive care, and public health. The elderly (age 65 and over) made up around 13% of the U.S. population in 2002, but they consumed 36% of the total U.S. personal health care expenses. The average health care expenses in 2002 was \$11,089 per year for elderly people but only \$3,352 per year for working-aged people (ages 19-64; Goldsteen et al., 2020). The vast array of the institutions includes 5,686 hospitals, 15,663 nursing homes, almost 2,900 inpatient mental health facilities, and 15,900 home health agencies and hospices (Shi & Singh, 2017). Texas had the fourth largest aged population, with 3.6 million residents 65 and older (Angel et al., 2019).

A remarkable feature of the U.S. health care system is that it largely evolved in the absence of any strong role of government (Almgren, 2018). For decades, U.S. taxpayers have been lamenting the high cost of health care. Since the mid-1980s, Americans have had double-digit spending on health care. Despite this investment, Americans are less healthy than their European and Scandinavian counterparts across an array of health measures (Bradley et al., 2017). Although the United States leads the world in health care spending, it fares far worse than its peers in coverage and most dimensions of value (Crowley et al., 2020). Americans spent \$3.2 trillion on healthcare (almost \$10,000 per person on average) in 2015, accounting for 17.8% of U.S. gross domestic product (GDP), and the percentage will increase to 20.1% of the GDP by 2025 according to the Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS; Branning & Vater, 2016). In the United States, between 1960 and 2019, healthcare spending as a percentage of U.S. Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew from 5% to 17.7%, reaching \$3.8 trillion in 2019 (Harrill & Melon, 2021).

Currently, the United States is the only wealthy industrialized country that has not achieved universal health coverage. The nation's existing health care system is inefficient, unaffordable, unsustainable, and inaccessible to many (Crowley et al., 2020). The proportion of the population with health insurance was 90% in the United States, lower than other developed countries (range, 99%-100%) and the United States has the highest proportion of private health insurance (55.3%; Papanicolas et al., 2018). According to a Gallup report (2018), 13.7% of U.S. adults were uninsured in the last quarter of 2018. This represents a 2.8% increase since 2016

when the percentage of uninsured adults stood at its lowest—10.9%, an increase of 2.8% represents about seven million adults (Sofer, 2019). Many Americans cannot afford health insurance, and even those with insurance face substantial cost-related barriers to care (Crowley et al., 2020). The United States spent approximately twice as much as other high-income countries on medical care, yet utilization rates in the United States were largely similar to those in other nations. Prices of labor and goods, including pharmaceuticals and administrative costs, appeared to be the major drivers of the difference in overall cost between the United States and other high-income countries (Papanicolas et al., 2018).

The waste in health care is estimated between one-quarter and one-half (the aggregate waste in medical care is about six percent of GDP) of medical spendings without being associated in improving health care services (Cutler, 2018). The high cost of pharmaceuticals considered one of the major financial burdens that Americans face today and creates barriers to medication access that almost eight percent of Americans do not take their medications as prescribed because of the overwhelmingly high cost (Garness, 2019). The most important factor that allows manufacturers to set high drug prices is market exclusivity, protected by monopoly rights awarded upon the Food and Drug Administration approval and by patents (Kesselheim et al., 2016). Compared with peer countries, the United States spends about 200% more per capita on prescription drugs (Crowley et al., 2020).

For pharmaceutical costs, spending per capita was \$1443 in the United States vs a range of \$466 to \$939 in other countries (Papanicolas et al., 2018). Physicians and hospitals in the United States spend much more than their counterparts elsewhere on administrative activities (Crowley et al., 2020). Administrative costs of care (activities relating to planning, regulating, and managing health systems and services) accounted for 8% in the U.S. vs a range of 1% to 3% in other countries (Papanicolas et al., 2018). Salaries of physicians and nurses were higher in the United States (e.g., generalist physicians' salaries were \$218,173 in the United States compared with a range of \$86,607 to \$154,126 in the other countries; Papanicolas et al., 2018). The rate of growth in administrative costs in the United States has outpaced that of overall health care expenditures and is projected to continue to increase without reforms to reduce administrative complexity (Tseng et al., 2018). The United States is in the midst of a 40-year-long population health crisis. Life expectancy has declined since 2014, an unprecedented event that has followed on the heels of a decades-long slowing in secular gains in longevity in the United States, relative to peer countries (Venkataramani et al., 2020). The United States is being pulled apart as a country, separating into the simple categories of either rich or poor. Every dollar that is spent on medical care is one less dollar available for addressing the problems of an unequal society, and one more dollar that is difficult for much of the population to pay (Cutler, 2018).

Fraud and abuse contribute to unnecessary spending in the Medicare program, and federal agencies have prioritized recovery and the exclusion of health care practitioners who violate the policy (Nicholas et al., 2020). In 2018, \$3.6 trillion was spent on health care in the United States and the estimated losses due to fraud range from 3% to 10% of total spendings. There would, of course, be significant variations across individual states (Goel, 2021). Health care fraud and abuse involve all sectors of the health care industry, including drug and device manufacturers, hospitals, pharmacies, physicians, wholesalers, distributors, laboratories, and payers (Mackey et al., 2020). Although Medicare fraud and abuse are typically viewed by policy makers as financial problems, fraud and abuse perpetrators engage in a number of activities that could also harm patient health. Many crimes are prosecuted as fraud because they involve billing insurance Medicare for unnecessary or unsanctioned services and also jeopardize patient's well-

being (Nicholas et al., 2020). The impact of healthcare fraud is significant and wide-reaching. Fraud will soon and increasingly impact us; insurance holders pay higher premiums and out-ofpocket expenses and also receive reduced benefits and coverage; businesses who pay increasing amounts to provide healthcare to their employees, which results in the overall increased cost of doing business, and taxpayers who pay more to cover healthcare expenditures in public health plans (Stowell et al., 2018).

Life expectancy is a key summary measure of the health and wellbeing of a population. A nation's life expectancy reflects its social and economic conditions and the quality of its public health and healthcare infrastructure among other factors (Ho & Hendi, 2018). The United States life expectancy has increased for the majority of the past 60 years, but the rate of increase slowed over time and life expectancy decreased after 2014. A major contributor has been an increase in mortality from specific causes (e.g., drug overdoses, suicides, organ system diseases) among young and middle-aged adults of all racial groups (Woolf & Schoomaker, 2019). Life expectancy in the United States was the lowest of the developed countries at 78.8 years, and infant mortality was the highest (5.8 deaths per 1000 live births in the United States; Papanicolas et al., 2018). The recent trends in the United States suggest that we have experienced a break from the trajectory of continued gains in life expectancy. In December 2017, the U.S. National Center for Health Statistics reported that the country experienced a decline in life expectancy between 2014 and 2016 by 0.3 years (Ho & Hendi, 2018). A total of 250,000 or more unnecessary deaths per year due to errors were reported in 2016. The outcomes of the fragmented health care system in the United States accounted for 100 million medication errors per year as revealed by studies in 2000 (Anderlini, 2018).

Shortages of Healthcare Workers

The supply of health workers can be defined as the number of people with the skills and qualifications to provide care, who are willing to work in the health sector (Scheffler & Arnold, 2019). A talented, qualified, engaged, and diverse workforce is at the heart of America's healthcare system. However, health systems now face mounting and critical staffing shortages that could jeopardize access to care in the communities they serve (Jaca et al., 2022). The shortage of healthcare workers is viewable in many countries, including developed countries such as the United States of America, and is attributable to a number of factors such as an increase in chronic diseases and conflict, brain drain in the case of developing countries, and concentration of such workers in urban areas (Miseda et al., 2017). Healthcare workforce projections have important implications. The most publicized physicians supply and demand projections, commissioned annually by the Association of American Medical Colleges, regularly predict dire physician shortages (Morgan, 2014). The current size of the physician workforce is struggling to meet the demand of an unhealthy and aging population (Corso et al., 2018). The American Association of Medical Colleges projects that United States will face a shortfall of 67,000-94,7000 physician by the year of 2025 (Corso et al., 2018). These shortages are expected to persist and will become a shortage of up to 3.2 million healthcare workers by 2026 (Jaca et al., 2022).

Drennan and Ross (2019) stated that shortages of nurses occur when demand for nurses outstrips the numbers of nurses available for employment. Due to aging population growth, and greater insured population following the Affordable Care Act (ACA), healthcare workers availability to patients has been recognized as one of the top barriers to meet the needs of the healthcare patients in the United States of America (Zhang et al., 2020). The National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN, 2020) reports that there are more than four million RNs in the United States (Spurlock, 2020). Even with the high number of health care workers compared to the rest of the countries, the United States still suffers from nurse shortages. There will be significant RN workforce shortages throughout the country in 2030; the western region will have the largest shortage ratio of 389 RN jobs per 100,000 (Juraschek et al., 2019). The United States needs more than 200,000 new registered nurses (RNs) each year to meet increasing healthcare needs and to replace nurses entering retirement. In 2017, more than half of all nurses were age 50 or older, and almost 30% were age 60 or older. Workforce pressures also exist across a variety of allied health professions. According to one recent survey, the annual turnover rate of hospital-certified nursing assistants (CNAs) was 27.7% (Jaca et al., 2022). Tamata and Mohammadnezhad (2023) stated that although strategies have been implemented in the past to address the issues, the shortage of nursing is still evident.

Marć et al. (2019) stated that global demographic changes have led to a systematic increase in the elderly population and a decreasing number of births, which has impacted health policy and healthcare systems in various countries. There is clearly an inability of the educational system to cover the national demand. Abeliansky et al. (2020) stated that Americans develop five percent more health deficits per year, that men age slightly faster than women, and that, at any age above 50, Caucasians display significantly fewer health deficits than African Americans and a steady time trend of health improvements.

The other problem that could exaggerate the situation of the shortage of healthcare workers is the insufficient educational facilities to cover the increased demand. Unlike many other healthcare professional programs with standardized educational requirements for entry to practice, nursing has multiple educational programs for registered nurses: (RN): hospital or diploma school program, a 2-year junior college or associate degree (AD) program, and a fouryear baccalaureate or university program leading to a Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) degree (Iheduru-Anderson, 2021). It has been established that patient outcomes improve as the percentage of the RNs who have a bachelor's degree (BSN) at the bedside increases (Anbari, 2019). The American Association of Collages of Nursing (AACN) and the Institute of Medicine's recommend that baccalaureate level education in nursing become the minimum educational requirement for professional nursing practice (Iheduru-Anderson, 2021). Financial constraints, not having enough time, and competing priorities are significant barriers identified by prospective students for moving to complete their (BSN) degree (Anbari, 2015). The number of doctors and nurses in a country is a function of (1) the number of graduates, (2) the import or export of health workers, and (3) deaths and retirements of health workers (Scheffler & Arnold, 2019). The healthcare workforce itself is aging, which increases the demand for the healthcare services. In addition to the strategy to educate and train domestic healthcare professionals, the United States try to attract healthcare workers from abroad to meet the growing demand (Schilgen et al., 2017). The United States suggests emigration is an important source of healthcare worker shortages (Owusu et al., 2017).

Texas is on the top of the list of the fastest-growing states in the United States of America. In the next 10 years, Texas's population will increase by 22%. Furthermore, by 2030, the aging population will increase to 55% in Texas (Zhang et al., 2020). Marć et al. (2019) stated that the education of future nursing staff is limited by the number of faculty places available and the insufficient number of qualified educators.

Regulations Governing the Healthcare System

Since 1953, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) has been led by an official who reports directly to the President as a Cabinet member. The DHHS is the executive branch department responsible for the portion of American healthcare that is federally controlled (i.e., much of American healthcare is not federally regulated; Young & Smith, 2024). The DHHS consists of numerous appointed officers (such as the surgeon general) and eleven operating divisions, which include the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). The AHRQ, which also interacts with the U.S. Congress, oversees a network of Patient Safety Organizations (PSOs) and the Network of Patient Safety Databases (NPSD). It funds the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF), created in 1984 (Young & Smith, 2024). For decades, healthcare reform has been front and center in public and political forums, driven in large part by concerns about access, cost quality, and economic burden placed on patients, employers, and payers (Warner et al., 2020).

Through regulation, government is able to encourage organizations to set their quality agendas and to measure outcomes, as long as the target of improved quality is reasonable (Sari, 2017). In the United States, public policies may be enacted by federal, state or local governments. Typically, public policies are created by a lower level of government (e.g., local) must comport with policies created by higher level of government (e.g., state; Young & Smith, 2024). At both the federal and state level of government, the legislature and executive (the President or Governor and their administration) originate health policies in various forms, the former through legislation and budget appropriations and the next through legislative proposals, budget proposals, implementing regulations, sub-regulatory guidance, and administrative decisions (Camillo, 2016). Legally binding policies fall into three primary categories: legislation, regulation, and litigation. Legislations are created from U.S. Congress, state general assembly, or city councils. Regulations are promulgated by federal, state, or local administrative agencies in sake of adding specificity to the legislations. Litigations refer to the body of public policy created through judicial opinions (Young & Smith, 2024).

Social Security Act

The original Social Security Act, as passed in 1935, consisted of 11 titles enacting the program authorizing the necessary taxes, and establishing the administrative mechanism of the act (Allen, 2016). The Social Security Act developed a new general welfare scheme for social security and an insurance against unemployment. It targeted particularly vulnerable groups, such as the elderly, unemployed, dependent children, maternal and child welfare and public health work (Galofré-Vilà, 2023). The major amendment affecting the nursing home industry were added in 1965, with the pass of Title 18, known as Medicare. One year later, Title 19 was passed, known as Medicaid (Allen, 2016). While Medicare and Medicaid were both established by the Social Security Amendments of 1965, the implementation and financing structures of each program are dramatically different (Piatak, 2017). Medicare is implemented at the federal level, while the responsibility for implementing Medicaid has been left to individual states (Piatak, 2017). Federal rules are of overriding importance to the nursing home industry because, directly or indirectly, most nursing homes comply with them, especially if they expect to be reimbursed for services to Medicare or Medicaid patients (Allen, 2016). Nursing homes are integral to the efficient and effective functioning of the healthcare system through their roles as providers of short-term post-acute services and long-term care (Unroe et al., 2018).

Medicare

In 1965, President Johnson signed into law the creation of Medicare and Medicaid as amendments to the Social Security Act. Medicare was established by Title XVIII of the Social Security Act (Piatak, 2017). Medicare went into effect in 1966 for individual aged 65 and older, regardless of health or income (Huffman & Upchurch, 2018). Medicare has provided coverage to elderly U.S. residents for more than five decades. The broad-based program now covers more than 60 million people, the majority of whom have chronic conditions and some of whom are disabled, institutionalized, or both (Jacobs, 2021). Elderly individuals qualify if they are a U.S. citizen or a permanent legal resident and the individual or his or her spouse has worked and paid into the Social Security and/or Medicare system through Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes (Piatak, 2017). One of the major objectives to Medicare for all is that it would be mandatory and would be administered by the federal government (Dalen et al., 2019).

Medicare has subsequently grown to cover other group of individuals, including those who are younger than 65 and permanently disabled, as well as any individual diagnosis with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or end stage kidney disease (Huffman & Upchurch, 2018). The Medicare program covers most persons age 65 or older and consists of four related health insurance plans: a hospital insurance plan (called Part A); a supplementary medical insurance plan (Part B); and two privately run plans, Medicare Advantage (Part C) and prescription drug coverage (Part D; Mazie, 2024). Medicare Part A covers only services deemed medically necessary like inpatient hospital stay, skilled nursing facility care (semi-private room, meals, skilled nursing, and rehabilitative services), home health services, and hospice care (Overview of Medicare Parts A-D, 2009). Medicare funds long-term care only temporarily and tangentially by covering nursing home- based rehabilitation after hospital discharge (Werner et al., 2020). The program's rapid and unanticipated growth spurred the federal government to legislate various cost-containment measures beginning in the 1970s, notably one in 1983 that set standard payments for the care of patients with a particular diagnosis. Part C was enacted in 1997 and went into effect in 1999. It was later restructured with Part D, and both were enacted in 2003 and went into effect in 2006 (Mazie, 2024).

Medicare covers a different set of services than private insurance, and in the case of routine dental care, for example, the traditional Medicare fee-for-service program does not provide any coverage (Jacobs, 2021). Nursing home facilities are covered 100% by Medicare Part A for eligible patients for the first 20 days following hospitalization, and 80% for days 21-100 (Goodwin et al., 2017). Medicare can influence access to care or perceptions of affordability through a variety of channels.

Medicaid

Medicaid was established by Title XIX of the Social Security Act to provide medical assistance to low-income individuals and families. Medicaid is a health insurance program established for low-income persons under age 65 and persons over that age who have exhausted their Medicare benefits. The program is jointly funded by the federal government and the states. To participate in the plan, states are required to offer Medicaid to all persons on public assistance (Mazie, 2024). Since Medicaid is run at the state level under federal guidelines, these averages mask considerably the variability in the generosity of the programs and the eligibility rules across the states (Currie & Duque, 2019). The program serves four distinct populations: lower income children and their mothers, the disabled, elderly people in nursing homes, and since 2014, low-income nondisabled adults in states that have adopted Medicaid expansions that were allowed under the Affordable Care Act (ACA; Currie & Duque, 2019). Medicaid finances more

than half of all long-term care for people who need help with daily activities, such as bathing, dressing, or eating, but is available only to people who have spent down their own assets, and it has coverage gaps (Werner et al., 2020). Medicaid can improve beneficiary health and help sustain its own future by embracing payment for outcomes (Millwee et al., 2018). Medicaid outcome measures include preventable admissions, readmissions, emergency department visits, inpatient complications, early elective deliveries, infant and child mortality, patient-reported outcomes, satisfaction, confidence, and reduction in low-value care (Millwee et al., 2018). The current CMS quality reporting program for nursing homes uses length of stay to differentiate long stay (less or equal to 100 days) from long stay (more than 100 days).

Medicaid pays nursing homes a regulated capitation payment per Medicaid-resident day, the Medicaid reimbursement rate, which is intended to cover the providers expenses for health care services as well as room and board. The national average Medicaid reimbursement rate per resident per day equals about \$164 (Hackmann, 2019). Medicaid acts much like a Medicare supplement, filling in the gaps that Medicare leaves and paying monthly premium for Part B and Part D coverage (Huffman & Upchurch, 2018). The individual states determine the eligibility guidelines for enrollment in their programs, with Medicaid generally offered to persons whose incomes and assets fall below a certain level. The federal government pays the states 50 to about 80% of state Medicaid costs. Hospital care, physicians' services, skilled nursing care, home health services, family planning, and diagnostic screening are covered by the plan (Mazie, 2024). *Center of Medicare and Medicaid*

Federal engagement in regulation of the nursing home industry greatly expanded after the creation of the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which provided funding streams for post-acute and long-term care (Unroe et al., 2018). From the late 1970s through the 1990s, the Center of

Medicaid and Medicaid conducted a wide-range of demonstrations that included the development of diagnosis-related groups and testing their use in paying for inpatient hospital care. It also developed demonstrations of prospective payment for skilled-nursing facilities (Jain & Shrank, 2014). Since the Affordable Care Act was passed in 2010, CMS has been developing focused payment strategies that shift from fee for services toward value-based care (i.e., health care with meaningful patient outcomes) and a focus on population health (Burd et al., 2017). Nursing homes are highly regulated setting of care and are regularly visited by both Federal and State surveyors (Unroe et al., 2018). State survey agencies that have primary responsibility for regulating nursing facilities—licensing them at a state level and certifying them for participation in Medicare and Medicaid on behalf of the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS; formerly the Health Care Financing Administration; Walshe & Harrington, 2002). Approximately two decades ago, federally mandated public reporting began for U.S. nursing homes through a system now known as Nursing Home Compare. The goals were to provide information to enable consumers to choose higher-quality nursing homes and to incent providers to improve the quality of care delivered (Konetzka et al., 2018).

Health Maintenance Organization Act of 1973

The HMO Act offered funds to support HMO development with the hope of improving overall U.S. health care and simultaneously decreasing costs (Falkson & Srinivasan, 2023). Health maintenance organizations (HMO) are organized healthcare systems that are responsible for both the financing and the delivery of broad range of comprehensive health services to an enrolled population (Pozgar, 2019). HMOs increased in popularity following the passage of the HMO Act in 1973, which sought to increase the usage of HMOs to improve patient care, decrease health care costs, and put a greater emphasis on preventative health care (Falkson &

Srinivasan, 2023). The major purpose is to stimulate interest from consumers and providers in the HMO concept and to make healthcare delivery under this form available and accessible in the healthcare market. The HMOs are responsible to provide medical services to their subscribers in return for a fixed monthly or annual payment periodically determined and paid in advance. HMOs are designed to improve overall U.S. health care and simultaneously decrease costs by integrating health insurance and health care delivery within the same organization and thus aligning the incentives of the health care payer and provider (Falkson & Srinivasan, 2023).

Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) of 1987

This law resulted from years of reports of abuse and scandals in nursing homes (King, 2020). The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987 (OBRA) was enacted partially in response to criticism that the expanding population of nursing home residents with intellectual disability (ID) were not receiving appropriate care (Landes & Lillaney, 2019). OBRA and the subsequent regulations mandated uniform comprehensive assessments of all nursing facility residents after admission and periodically thereafter; developed quality indicators that were more outcome-oriented than process-oriented; and changed federal survey procedures to make them more oriented toward the residents through interviews and assessments of residents rather than simply reviewing medical records (Walshe & Harrington, 2002). The nursing home reform legislation in the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act increased the minimum standards for nursing home staffing. All nursing homes certified for Medicare and Medicaid residents must have an RN director of nursing, an RN on duty for 8 hours a day, 7 days a week, and a licensed nurse (i.e., either an RN or LVN/LPN) on duty around the clock (Harrington et al., 2000). The quality of resident care in U.S. nursing homes has been a concern of public policy at least since the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987, when Congress tied quality of care to

certification and reimbursement for Medicare and Medicaid (Plaku-Alakbarova et al., 2019). The Act mandate states to inspect nursing homes (unannounced) and subject non-compliant facilities to sanctions (King, 2020).

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996

Protected health information breaches have impacted over 176 million patients in the United States from 2009 to 2020. Most of these breaches have occurred due to the carelessness of employees and failure to comply with HIPAA rules versus external hackers (Edemekong et al., 2024). The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 has made an impact on the operation of health-care organizations (Moore & Frye, 2019). The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Privacy Rule addresses the use and disclosure of individual's health information and sets standards for privacy rights so that individuals can understand and control how their health information is used (Williams & Colomb, 2020). HIPAA was created to improve healthcare system efficiency by standardizing healthcare transactions. HIPAA added a new Part C titled "Administrative Simplification" that simplifies healthcare transactions by requiring health plans to standardize healthcare transactions (Edemekong et al., 2024). In 1996, the federal government passed a law that created national standards to protect the confidentiality of medical records (Moore & Frye, 2019). HIPAA has accomplished its primary objective: making patients feel safe by giving their physicians and other treating clinicians sensitive information while permitting reasonable information flows for treatment, operations, research, and public health purposes (Cohen & Mello, 2018). HIPAAcovered entities such as providers completing electronic transactions, healthcare clearinghouses, and large health plans must use only the National Provider Identifier (NPI) to identify covered healthcare providers in standard transactions (Edemekong et al., 2024).

Balanced Budget Act of 1997

The Balance Budget Act of 1997 (BBA) is the most significant piece of healthcare legislation since the enactment of Medicare and Medicaid in 1965. It is a hodgepodge of provisions that dramatically changes government-funded medical services (Ettinger, 1998). This Act established a new part C in the Medicare program, known then as the Medicare-Choice (H+C) program, effective January 1999 which was re-named later on the Medicare Advantage program. The Medicare Advantage plans were introduced to give beneficiaries more choices and improve efficiency and cost savings (Brockett et al., 2018).

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) of 2010 was a comprehensive national healthcare reform aimed at expanding health insurance coverage and improving access to care in the United States (Ercia, 2021). The ACA enabled people to gain coverage by (1) expanding the publicly funded Medicaid program to cover adults with annual incomes up to 138% of the federal poverty level; (2) establishing the Health Insurance Marketplace for individuals and small businesses, allowing them to purchase private health insurance (PHI); and (3) enforcing an individual mandate that required eligible people to have federally approved health insurance coverage (Ercia, 2021). In 2010, the passing of Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) was the first successful attempt at health care reform in decades (McGee & Breslin, 2021). The ACA expanded insurance coverage in two principal ways. First, it created health insurance marketplace at the state level on the premise of competition and choice and second, it expanded eligibility for the Medicaid program (McIntyre & Song, 2019).

Title II of the ACA was meant to standardize and expand Medicaid eligibility; everyone earning below 138% of the federal poverty level would qualify for the coverage (McGee &

Breslin, 2021). The reforms resulting from the Affordable Care Act (ACA) over the past 6 years have led to increases in health care coverage. There is broad consensus that an estimated 20 million to 22 million individuals have obtained health care insurance since 2010 (Bauchner, 2017). The Affordable Care Act also provided low-income individuals and households up to 400% of the federal poverty line with the subsidies to help them purchase insurance (McIntyre & Song, 2019). The deployment of the Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) by the government payers to reward providers for quality and outcomes has not been widely replicated in the private sector. By contrast, many private health insurance plans, including those sold on the ACA Marketplaces, have focused on patient-side cost- containment tool such as deductible, pre-authorization, and coinsurance (McGee & Breslin, 2021). The Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) Program, one of several federal regulations mandated by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, uses Medicare provider payment penalties and bonuses to encourage healthcare facilities' administrators to improve performance in four domains: clinical processes, patient outcomes, patient experiences, and efficiency (Lee et al., 2020).

The ACA called for two innovations in healthcare payments with serious implications for nursing homes: bundled payment (entail paying one fee for a health episode) and accountable care organizations (groups of providers who together agree to provide care to a group of patients over time for a set cost), both of which are designed as cost saving measures (King, 2020). The Affordable Care Act (ACA) launched unprecedented reforms to improve healthcare value. Skilled Nursing Facility-Value-based Purchasing Program (SNF-VBP) from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) incentivizes facilities to improve quality through lower hospital readmissions. However, SNF-VBP may penalize nursing homes that are unable to invest resources to reduce readmissions (Sharma et al., 2020). The ACA contains several provisions to increase the availability and affordability of health insurance (e.g., health insurance exchanges, Medicaid expansion, and bans on insurance discrimination against preexisting medical conditions) and to reduce the rising costs of health care (e.g., excise taxes on high premium insurance plans and reducing the growth rate of Medicare payments; Doran et al., 2017). Facilities with negative profit margins that are penalized under SNF-VBP have an average loss of \$ 24,400—an amount that roughly approximates the average annual salary of a certified nursing assistant, one of the key nursing home direct care staff. These losses may further exacerbate quality problems in facilities that are already struggling. Alternative approaches to assist financially struggling SNFs may help them improve quality and perform better under SNF-VBP (Sharma et al., 2020). SNFs with negative profit margins are more likely to be penalized under the SNF-VBP (Sharma et al., 2020).

Quality Measures

The healthcare sector is one of the important sectors of the service industry. It is believed that in this sector, the customer-server relationship is very critical, and even the slightest gap in the people quality may have a huge impact on the delivered service quality. Some of these enablers are doctors, nursing staff, and support staff (Gupta et al., 2022). Quality of care and a patient's safety are now recognized globally as a healthcare priority. While adverse events are a serious issue related to the patients' safety, concern has been raised on the quality of care provided globally (Islam & Li, 2019). Healthcare leaders face the tremendous challenge of burdened healthcare systems with rising healthcare demands and increasing costs, threatening the sustainability of national welfare systems. Somewhat surprisingly, the debate on the costs of healthcare systems occurs separately from another key challenge in healthcare: quality improvement and patient safety (Bal & Wallenburg, 2023). In March 2001, soon after the release

of To Err Is Human, the IOM released Crossing the Quality Chasm, a more comprehensive report that offered a new framework for a re-designed U.S. healthcare system. A number of reports presented strong evidence of widespread quality deficiencies and highlighted a need for substantial change to ensure high-quality care for all patients (Nash, 2019). In its 2016 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report, the AHRQ 2016 notes several improvements, including improved access, better care coordination, and improvement in patient-centered care (Nash, 2019). Crossing the Quality Chasm unifies the component of the quality through six aims (safety, timeliness, effectiveness, efficiency, equitable, and patient-centeredness) the acronym referred to as "STEEEP" (Thomas Craig et al., 2020). Although there are a variety of ways to interpret and assess patient-centered care, the goal of patient" centeredness" has led to the widespread mandatory introduction of patient satisfaction surveys (Chen et al., 2019). An increased number of adverse events always have detrimental effects on patients and healthcare providers including physical and mental harm, reducing credibility of the healthcare system (Islam & Li, 2019). Healthcare quality is the provision of effective and safe care, reflected in a culture of excellence, resulting in the attainment of optimal or desired outcome (Allen-Duck et al., 2017). However, poor quality due to lapses in provider care can trigger adverse events such as infections or falls, requiring additional resources to repair damages (Carey et al., 2018).

Successful discharge of nursing home residents to a community has been reported in Nursing Home Compare (NH Compare) as a quality indicator (Xu & Intrator, 2020). Quality indicators include structure, process, and outcome measures that are reported annually on the National Healthcare Quality Report, thus providing an overview of the quality of the health care in the United States (Allen-Duck et al., 2017). Quality indicators are described in a numerator/denominator format. The numerator includes all residents for whom the outcome of interest is indicated; the denominator includes all residents except those who fit predetermined exclusion criteria (Favez et al., 2020). Nursing homes represent an important group of health care providers that are subject to public reporting. Most nursing homes in the United States provide two distinct types of services: (1) post-acute care to patients who required short term rehabilitation, and (2) long-term care (Ryskina et al., 2018). The low Medicaid reimbursement rates is an important contributor to shortfalls in the quality of care (Hackmann, 2019).

Medical Errors

The term "medical error" encompasses diverse events that vary in magnitude and can potentially harm the patient. According to the 2019 World Health Organization (WHO) Patient Safety Factsheet, adverse events due to unsafe patient care are among the top 10 causes of death and disability worldwide (Singh et al., 2024). Medical error occurs when the treatment was not in line with the required and generally accepted professional quality standards. Medical error is defined as a medical violation of the duty of care or a consequence of manifestly negligent conduct (Radanović & Vukušić, 2020). There is a need to improve safe nursing care in nursing homes. Residents are often frail and vulnerable with extensive needs for nursing care. Preventable adverse events in the United States cause an estimated 44,000 to 98,000 hospital deaths annually, which exceeds motor vehicle collision deaths. Furthermore, in terms of health care, disability, and loss of productivity, medical errors are estimated to cost the community an additional 37.6 to 50 billion dollars. The most severe consequences of medical errors are the adverse events patients, and their families suffer (Singh et al., 2024). Adverse events pose serious risk to persons older than 65 years. And adverse event is a harm or injury resulting from medical care, including the failure to provide needed care (Kapoor et al., 2019). Medical errors arise from various factors, including communication breakdowns, diagnostic errors, medicationrelated issues, surgical errors, and systemic challenges. Preventive strategies encompass effective communication, standardized protocols, patient engagement, and a culture of safety. Managing medical errors necessitates prompt response thorough investigation, learning from mistakes, and implementation of preventive measures (Al-Worafi, 2024).

The overall number of deaths from medical error in 2016 was more than 250,000, which was 9.7% of deal percent of deaths nationwide, over double what had been reported in 1999 (Allhoff & Borden, 2019). The Institute of Medicine report To Err is Hunan reported that there were as many as 98,000 deaths per year due to medical error as of 1999 (Lancaster et al., 2022). The Institute of Medication's to Err is Human, published in 1999, represented a watershed moment for the U.S. health care system. The report dramatically raised the profile of patient safety and stimulated dedicated research funding to this essential aspect of patient care (Bates & Singh, 2018). To Err is Human points out many aspects regarding patient safety, but it emphasizes the idea that errors in the system, rather than individuals, are responsible for most preventable adverse events caused by unintentional error (Bengtsson et al., 2021). Mistakes or medical errors, including those committed by nurses, are considered an inevitable part of professional practice and the human condition (Lancaster et al., 2022).

As the largest group of healthcare professionals in the United States, nurses are the primary providers of care in inpatient settings and are most likely to be involved in errors associated with medication administration, patient falls, infections, documentation, and equipment-related patient injuries (Lancaster et al., 2022). Major national policy and practice initiatives have also built momentum to address safety in U.S. health facilities. The Patient Safety and Quality Improvement Act of 2005 authorized the creation of Patient Safety Organizations (PSOs; Bates & Singh, 2018). All Medicare and Medicaid participating hospitals

of more than 50 beds who want to qualify for health plan participation in affordable care exchanges (they receive a CMS certification number) will need to be a part of a Patient Safety Organization (PSO) or a Medicare OIO by January 1 of 2017 or be a participant in a Hospital Engagement Network (HEN; Lancaster et al., 2022). The number of errors in medication management in nursing homes is increasing, which may lead to potentially life-threatening harm (Bengtsson et al., 2021). In 2002 the Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) substantially expanded its quality improvement efforts by launching Nursing Home Compare (NHC), a national effort to publicly report the quality of care in all U.S. nursing homes, thereby informing consumers and incenting the improvement of quality (Brauner et al., 2018). Bougnol and Dulà (2021) stated that the U.S. Government's Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) rates more than 15,000 nursing homes nationwide using a 5-star scale. The outcomes are disseminated in various ways including a user friendly and informative web page. The ratings are generated using publicly available data. One objective of this work is to explore and extract these data in a replicable manner and to reveal how the government uses them to generate the star ratings.

A quality improvement perspective would consider avoiding adverse events from errors as one of a broader set of goals. Quality improvement efforts also work to enable positive health outcomes beyond improving safety (Brauner et al., 2018). For nursing homes, some of these other goals have been defined as improving or maintaining functional status, treating pain, maintaining weight, avoiding incontinence and catheter use, avoiding depression, avoiding physical restraints and the inappropriate use of antipsychotic medications, and improving vaccination rate (Brauner et al., 2018). Nursing homes in the United States that accept funds from Medicare or Medicaid must be certified by CMS. Nearly all the homes are certified
although this is not complete. In 2014, 15,640 U.S. nursing homes were certified. Certified homes report their operation to the U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (Bougnol & Dulà, 2021).

NHC does include some patient safety measures, such as pressure sores and injurious falls, which are often associated in the minds of consumers with neglect (Brauner et al., 2018). Nursing home residents have a high risk of falling. The fall risk is estimated to be 33.9%, which is three times higher than older adults living in communities. Falls lead to fractures, subdural hematoma, and injury, causing death or disability (Cao et al., 2018). Fall-related injuries, such as hip fracture, increase the mortality rate and increase the financial burden on the U.S. healthcare system (Datta et al., 2018). Staffing levels and proportions of regulated staff are low in nursing homes, and up to 80% of direct care is provided by unregulated care providers with little or almost no training (Hoben et al., 2017). Lower staffing was associated with high rates of urinary catheter use, low rates of skin care, and low resident participation in activities (Harrington et al., 2000). Pressure ulcers are areas of localized damage to skin and underlying tissue. They are caused by prolonged, or short or intense, periods of pressure or pressure and shear. Pressure injury can lead to severe pain and distress, poor health-related quality of life and serious complications such as gangrene and mortality (Lavallée et al., 2019).

Pressure ulcers are often avoidable and can be prevented. Using support surfaces, repositioning the patient, optimizing nutritional status, and moisturizing pressure-bearing surfaces are generally considered effective preventive strategies (Righi et al., 2020). In the United States, nearly one million people develop pressure ulcer annually, while approximately 60,000 acute care patients die from related complications (Etafa et al., 2018). The common barriers of pressure ulcer prevention are the lack of staff/heavy workload, lack of training, and lack of multidisciplinary initiative (Etafa et al., 2018). The impact of the pressure ulcer on a patient can be considerable, due to increased pain, length of stay in the medical facility, and decreased quality of life (Wood et al., 2019). In 2012, 11.3% of residents in Medicare/Medicaid-eligible nursing homes had had at least one fall since admission, and 5.4% were reported as having pressure ulcers (Plaku-Alakbarova et al., 2019).

Patients filed complaints about treatment quality and competence if they did not feel that healthcare providers performed a thorough job examining or observing patients, which they perceived as reasons for treatment delays or medical errors (Wei et al., 2018). Incident reporting as a mean to improve patient safety was one of the key recommendations in the Institute of Medicine Report to Err is Human in 1999. The purpose of the incident reporting is to identify safety hazards and, consequently, develop interventions to mitigate these hazards and reduce harm in health care (Carlfjord et al., 2018). Complaints can provide valuable data about nursing home quality because they originate with those who live in the facilities and other interested in the resident's day-to-day care (e.g., family, members, friends, long-term care ombudsmen, etc.), and they target areas identified by these consumers (The relationship between staffing levels and consumer complaints in nursing homes, 2021).

Patient complaints usually refer to an expression of grievance, which are often formal letters written to healthcare organization after a threshold of dissatisfaction with care has been crossed (Reader et al., 2014). The meanings of the complaints reflected six themes regarding access to healthcare services, continuity and follow-up, incidents and patient harm, communication, attitudes and approaches, and healthcare options pursued against the patient's wishes (Raberus et al., 2019). The complaints describe those inadequacies in meeting generated feeling of not being met with respect, not being understood, and not being welcomed to the healthcare setting. The complaints described situations when patients felt ignored by the healthcare professionals due to insufficient time throughout the caring encounter (Skär & Söderberg, 2018). Patients' complaints are unstructured and voluntary information that patients and families reported to healthcare facilities regarding their unsatisfactory experience. This information contains a patient's feeling, values, and expectations for care (Wei et al., 2018). Complaints regarding the care process were related to the flow of patient care in the healthcare system. The main complaint about the process was patients' perceptions of long waiting times to register, to be seen, to have diagnostic work done, or to obtain medications (Wei et al., 2018). Complaints speak to a broader spectrum of harm and suffering that go beyond formal adverse events. Complaints about care episodes can take considerable time and effort, generate negative energy and may leave a dogged 'minority' embittered (McCreaddie et al., 2018). Facility level data on residents' pressure ulcer, medically unexplained weight loss, and falls were obtained from the Center for Medicare and Medicaid services long-term care minimum data set (Plaku-Alakbarova et al., 2019). Patient-reported complaints showing that most complaints are around communication and interaction with healthcare professionals (Skär & Söderberg, 2018). Complaints are defined as concerns about care that can be addressed at the point of service within 12 hours. Grievances are defined as "a formal or informal written or verbal complaint that is made to the healthcare facility by a patient, or the patient's representative, regarding the patient's care, abuse or neglect, issues related to the hospital's compliance with the CMS" (Bayer et al., 2021).

CMS Enforcement Processes (Quality Assurance)

Bishop and Degenholtz (2022) stated that the modern American nursing home, an unexpected creature of the Medicaid and Medicare programs, has evolved to provide neither a comfortable, functional "home" nor reliably excellent "nursing." In recent years, quality and safety issues have become increasingly important in nursing home care following an increased focus on both clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction. Health authorities and organizations priorities audits as a quality improvement (QI) approach by systematically evaluating delivered care, identifying areas for improvement and implementing changes for the better (Hut-Mossel et al., 2021). The Center of Medicare and Medicare (CMS) understands that the responsibility to monitor the safety of the nation's nursing homes and other providers is a unique government task that lies at the core of government's tole in healthcare (Moody-Williams, 2019). The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) finalized a comprehensive update to nursing home requirements of participation in October 2016. The revamped requirements of participation are intended to promote person-centered care and quality of care in nursing homes and modernize the 1991 rule (Unroe et al., 2018). In the United States, Medicare's Hospital Readmission Reduction Program and Hospital Value-Based Purchasing Program, created under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), providing evidence on how variations in the design of incentive programs correspond with differences in effect (Doran et al., 2017).

The CMS may impose enforcement actions on a nursing home for care deficiencies. Deficiencies can result in civil money penalty (CMP) enforcement remedies, which are fines imposed when facilities fail to comply with Medicare or Medicaid participation requirements due to care deemed deficient by the state survey process (Wang et al., 2020). The three primary goals of the CMS regarding to the nursing homes is to (1) reduce the number of healthcare-associated infections, (2) improve the quality of resident-centered care and safety, and (3) reduce antipsychotic use (Moody-Williams, 2019). In order to be eligible for payment under Medicare and Medicaid, the nursing homes must comply with the minimum quality and safety standards set forth in federal legislations.

Under contracted with the CMS, states perform on-site survey every nine to fifteen months using trained surveyors whose tasks include examining facility operations, reviewing medical records, and interviewing residents and staff (Li et al., 2015). State surveyors issue deficiency citations if they determine that service standards for a particular domain are not met. Depending on the severity and scope of identified deficiencies, facilities may face intermediate sanction, such as civil monetary penalties or termination of Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement (Li et al., 2015). In 2016, the CMS introduced 3 new quality measures (QMs) to its report card, Nursing Home Compare (NHC). These measures (i.e., rehospitalization, emergency department visits, and successful discharges to the community) focus on short stay residents (Saliba et al., 2018). Skilled Nursing Facility-Value-based Purchasing Program (SNF-VBP) from the Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) incentivizes facilities to improve quality through lower hospital readmissions. However, SNF-VBP may penalize nursing homes that are unable to invest resources to reduce readmissions (Sharma et al., 2020). Many nursing home residents have physical and cognitive impairments, causing nursing staff to have a vital role in assuring residents receive quality care and have a high quality of life. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) has acknowledged the importance of nursing staff levels for at least two decades. In 2000, CMS began publicly reporting nursing staff levels for RNs and total nursing staff which includes RNs, LPNs, and NAs (Brunt & Bowblis, 2023).

Litigations Against Healthcare Facilities

There were examples of staff becoming emotionally "blunted" when adapting to time limitations and cutting corners on a regular basis to maintain efficiency. Providing basic care

then became just another task to tick off the list, and to some the nursing home appeared more like a "care factory" where residents became just another task to be performed as quickly as possible, resulting in their objectification and depersonalization (Lund et al., 2024). The medical liability system is intended to serve three functions: compensate patients injured by negligence, promote corrective justice by providing a mechanism to rectify wrongful losses caused by defendants, and deter negligence (Mello et al., 2020). Experiencing lawsuit may lead nursing homeowners into a financial situation where they decide to sell or no longer provide the services (Konetzka et al., 2018). Injuries that are not due to negligence are less likely to become claims because healthcare facilities explain to patients what happened; preventing such claims strengthens the informational function of litigation because claims more reliably point to actual quality problems (Mello et al., 2020). Rising malpractice pressure causes both health care spending and quality to increase up to threshold, and decrease thereafter (Montanera, 2016). Malpractice causation requires the establishment of a correlation between an act and the standard of care that has not been complied with (Radanović & Vukušić, 2020).

Nursing home closure may have important consequences in the nursing home sector, where care is ongoing, sometimes for years, such that closure means relocation of residents (Konetzka et al., 2018). When nursing staff leave or when nursing hours are insufficient, quality suffers (Bishop & Degenholtz, 2022). The work of the nursing staff becomes next to impossible and quality of care plummets when available staff hours cannot meet resident needs due to turnover, worker shortages, or chronic understaffing (Bishop & Degenholtz, 2022). The regulatory failure to ensure adequate staffing and quality in this case had a detrimental impact on residents and led to the class action litigation (Lund et al., 2024). A growing body of evidence shows that the basic care needs of nursing home residents are regularly neglected, and residents do not always receive qualitatively good care of basic human needs. Hence, these neglectful practices may include not providing sufficient basic care or ignoring residents' needs related to nursing home residents' physical, psychological, emotional, and social needs (Lund et al., 2024).

CMS Stars Rating

In 2008, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) implemented a five-star rating system of nursing homes in the United States. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services today launched its enhanced Nursing Home Five-Star Quality Rating System which integrates data nursing homes report on their weekend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual turnover among nurses and administrators (Brown, 2022). The 5-star quality ratings were designed to simplify information for consumers by aggregating quality measures into a rating system of one of five stars, with more stars indicating better quality. The rating is derived from three domains of quality: nurse staffing to resident ratio, deficiency citations, and clinical outcomes (Li et al., 2019). Nursing homes have been subject to public reporting since 2002, when the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) launched the Nursing Home Compare website for Medicare and Medicaid certified nursing homes (Ryskina et al., 2018).

Quality measures were drawn from the federally mandated Minimum Data set (MDS) assessment instrument. The MDS was collected at time of admission and then at least quarterly thereafter for all nursing home residents (Grabowski et al., 2017). All nursing home residents are required to have an MDS admission (i.e., provides an admission date and an 'admission from' location) and discharge (i.e., provides the reason and date of discharge) record. The MDs includes detailed clinical and functional status data on all residents in Medicare or Medicaid certified nursing homes. The facility-level nursing home data and resident-level MDS data sets were linked to the Medicaid claims data files of inpatient care for the Medicaid beneficiaries for

2011–2012 (Xu et al., 2019). A full-length assessment is also required for each resident and annually thereafter, interspersed by abbreviated quarterly assessments (Doupe et al., 2018). In 2022, CMS introduced four new staffing measures that were incorporated into the calculations of NH's staffing star rating. These four new staffing measures included: (a) case-mix adjusted total nursing staff levels on the weekend, (b) total nursing staff turnover, (c) registered nurse turnover; and (d) administrator turnover (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019). These new staffing measures were in addition to the existing case-mix adjusted RN and total nursing staff levels (Brunt & Bowblis, 2023).

Reimbursement Methods

Medicare allows patients to pick any Medicare-certified SNF, which accounts for 85% of SNFs in the United States, according to the 2009 Nursing Home Compare. Once a patient is qualified for SNF care, Medicare covers the total cost in the first 20 days and charges \$185.50 coinsurance per day during days 21–100. Patients must pay all costs by themselves starting from day 101 and beyond (Jin et al., 2022). Nursing homes have to balance delivery of high-quality care while ensuring financial viability in an increasingly challenging and competitive environment. Nursing home financial viability is an area of increasing challenging and competitive environment from alternative providers, declining occupancy rate, and a changing regulatory environment (Weech-Maldonado et al., 2019). High Medicaid nursing homes on average had a negative total margin. As such, these nursing homes are at particular risk for financial distress and ultimately closure (Weech-Maldonado et al., 2019). In 2000, Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC) began using a new formula for Medicare margins that included a PPS, GME, bad debt, skilled nursing facility, home health, and non-PPS Medicare payments and costs (Phillips et al., 2004). Low insurance companies' reimbursement:

providing high-quality care and maintaining viable finances are both necessary for nursing home survival and maintaining a supply of high-quality nursing homes is necessary to meet national health care demands (Lepore & Leland, 2015). The low profit margin of the nursing home business is handled by shifting the financial stress to the employees by decreasing the hourly rate and increasing work overload. Nursing home care is largely financed by the U.S. government through Medicaid, a means-tested program that pays facilities a rate that is often below the costs of care (Grabowski, 2021). The Resident Assessment Instrument (RAI) is an international standard assessment tool used for determining the care requirements of nursing home residents.

A core component of the RAI is the Minimum Data Set (MDS), a data collection tool consisting of approximately 300 items that summarize individual residents' clinical status and functional capabilities (Carey et al., 2018). In the case of self-pay, most of the patients cannot afford to pay the expenses of nursing homes due to the high cost. Nursing home care, which is much more expensive than assisted living, is not affordable for most older people with significant long-term services and supports (LTSS) needs, only six percent of whom could pay for a nursing home stays out of their income alone (Johnson & Wang, 2019). In the beginning of 1998, CMS used the summary Resource Utilization Group (RUG) score (i.e., data from aggregate MDS resident assessments) to adjust its Medicare nursing home prospective payment (Harrington, Mollot, Edelman, et al., 2020). Residents are categorized according to MDS data into Resource Utilization Groups (RUGs), a classification system that provides a foundation for formulating individual care plans. RAI/MDS Version 3.0, including RUG Version IV, is part of the U.S. federally mandated process for clinical assessment of all residents of nursing homes certified to participate in Medicare or Medicaid (Carey et al., 2018). The average quality of care patients receive should increase as high-quality providers gain more market share and lowquality providers work to improve their performance to avoid losing market share (Ryskina et al., 2018).

In October 2019, CMS changed its Medicare reimbursement methodology from using the RUG scores to Patient-Driven Payment Model (PDPM) scores primarily for readjusting Medicare reimbursement and not specifically to promote high-quality staffing nor to assure that nursing homes meet the federal regulatory requirements (Harrington, Mollot, Edelman, et al., 2020). Unruh et al. (2020) stated that whereas the RUG system incentivized longer SNF stays and more therapy, the PDPM incentivizes shorter stays with less therapy, which increases the financial difficulties on nursing homes. U.S. healthcare has reoriented towards quality and value, incorporating both the health outcomes and the resources allocated to achieve those outcomes (Chee et al., 2016). The PDPM would rely on patient characteristics and remove therapy minutes as a determinant of SNF payment. The clinical reason for a resident's SNF stays plays a critical role in the PDPM. CMS should include an evaluation of the need for therapy services at appropriate intervals to support clinical judgment (Bogenrief, 2018). The new patient-driven payment model (PDPM) bases payment on a patient's medical complexity and clinical outcomes, rather than on how much therapy a patient needs- the basis for the old system (Kinder, 2019). Under the PDPM, CMS must ensure that SNFs have access to timely and accurate information to complete this information and rely on it for payment purposes (Bogenrief, 2018). PDPM does not change coverage criteria for skilled care. The regulations for accessing skilled care remain the same. SNF care is covered only if all four of these factors are met: (a) The patient requires skilled nursing services or skilled rehabilitation services, (b) the patient requires these skilled services daily, (c) the daily skilled services can be provided only on an inpatient basis in an SNF, and (d) the services delivered are consistent with the nature and severity of the individual's disease (Kinder, 2019).

Medicare does not pay for a skilled nursing facility (SNF) unless a fee-for-service patient has stayed in the hospital for at least three days. This Medicare reimbursement rule, or the "three-day rule," provides full coverage for the first 20 days and partial coverage for days 21– 100 for skilled nursing care provided at any Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Servicesapproved SNF (Jin et al., 2022). The "Incentivizing Health Care Quality Outcomes Act of 2014" (HR 5823) proposes to replace the existing patchwork of process and outcomes quality measures with a uniform, coordinated, and comprehensive outcomes-based quality measurement system. The Outcomes Act represents a shift in payment policy toward getting value instead of an increasingly complex attempt to measure value (Averill et al., 2016). The ACA also includes changes to both payment systems and the organizational structure of health care. Specifically, it contains numerous provisions that aim to shift payments away from volume-based reimbursement by linking payments to quality in multiple settings, including hospitals, physician groups, nursing facilities, home health agencies, hospices, and dialysis facilities (Doran et al., 2017).

Staffing Policies (Hospitals, Dialysis Facilities, Nursing Homes)

Extensive evidence supports the association between increased nurse staffing and improve quality of patient care (de Cordova et al., 2019). United States has not adopted federal legislative initiatives to regulate nurse staffing (Jones et al., 2015). Passing efforts to mandate via Federal legislation ratios have failed largely due to hospitals' opposition (Anders, 2021). As of 2019, 14 states had laws or regulations representing one of the following approaches: (a) mandated nurse-to-patient ratio for all hospital unit (California, Massachusetts); (b) mandated staffing committees (Illinois, Nevada, Ohio, Oregon, Texas, and Washington); and/or (c) mandated public reporting by hospitals of nurse staffing levels (Illinois, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island, and Vermont; de Cordova et al., 2019). California has mandated RNs to patient ratios since 2011. Their experience has proven that patient outcomes improve as well as nurse retention. Hospitals' decrease has largely offset the impacts of hospitals' net revenue by decreasing acquired infection, reducing the 30-readmission rate, and improving patient satisfaction scores (Anders, 2021). Low registered nurse staffing associated with reports of missed nursing care in hospital. Missed care is a promising indicator of nursing staffing adequacy (Griffiths et al., 2018).

Providing optimal end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) management requires an adequately trained and sufficiently staffed workforce, including doctors, nurses, and patient care technicians (PCTs; Gaietto & Williams, 2020). The center of Medicare and Medicaid Services, which oversees the payment and quality of care for patients receiving dialysis, does not mandate specific staffing rations for dialysis facilities but has focused instead on tracking and publicly reporting outcomes in an effort to ensure safe and effective care (Rastogi & Chertow, 2018).

Most of the nursing homes in the United States are overloading their healthcare workers and assigning them more responsibilities than they could handle, which generally effects on the quality of the provided medical services. Myhre et al. (2020) stated that there is an association between low levels of staffing and patient's neglect. The number of nurses available to care for patients, measured by full-time equivalents and hours per patient day (HPPD), is inversely correlated with patient mortality and failure to rescue (Paulsen, 2018).

Staffing procedures in nursing homes: De Hert (2020) stated that healthcare workers seem to be at particular risk for burnout, which may have significant professional consequences

such as lower patient satisfaction, impaired quality of care, and even major medical errors. Insufficient staffing leads to the rationing of time of care, which has an important impact on the occurrence of missed care (Haegdorens et al., 2019). Most nursing homes do not provide sufficient staffing to ensure basic quality (Harrington, Dellefield, Halifax, et al., 2020). New payroll-based data reveals large daily staffing fluctuations, low weekend staffing, and daily staffing levels often below the expectations of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS; Geng et al., 2019). The delivery of nursing assistant care hours per resident per day was significantly associated with higher quality of resident care (Boscart et al., 2018).

Staffing federal regulations: The Center of Medicare and Medicaid does not provide a rigid ratio for nursing homes to follow regarding to staffing policy, just stating that they are required to have enough staff to provide medical services pertain to the patient status and needs. The law requires nursing homes 'to provide sufficient staff and services to attain or maintain the highest possible level of physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being of each resident' (Zhang et al., 2006). Sofer (2017) stated that the CMS also chose not to mandate the presence of RNs at these facilities, despite evidence of greater acuity of illness among residents today and research findings of care deficiencies. Wiener (2003) stated that the CMS rely on the states to actually administer the process; CMS's regional offices oversee and monitor the state's activities. Most of the recent critique of inadequate regulation involves allegations of weak enforcement rather than inadequate nursing home quality standards.

New federal and states regulations of healthcare staffing: In 2015, the U.S. government proposed new nursing home regulations to strengthen the quality of nursing home care. Unfortunately, the proposed regulations did not change the federal staffing standard (Harrington et al., 2016). Most nursing homes do not provide sufficient staffing to ensure basic quality. More than half of U.S. nursing homes were found to have a lower RN, CNA, and total nurse staffing levels rather than those recommended by experts, with one quarter of nursing homes dangerously low on staffing (Harrington, Dellefield, Halifax, et al., 2020). Depending on the experts' estimations, California was the only state who identified the minimum hours of nursing care provided to patients in nursing homes. Most governments and healthcare organizations are hesitant to support a mandated ward-based minimum, and the only mandatory nurse staffing levels are in places in the state of California (Haegdorens et al., 2019). California law requires all nursing homes to provide at least 3.5 nursing hours per resident day (hprd; Harrington, Dellefield, Halifax, et al., 2020).

Staffing and patients' care: Griffiths et al. (2020) state that patient outcomes have been shown to improve when staffing is increased above levels identified as 'optimal' using professional judgements and a widely used prototype system. Rome and Harris-Kojetin (2016) stated that in 2014, the total registered, licensed practical, vocational, and aide staffing level among all residential care communities was about 2 hours and 50 minutes per resident day (hprd). State minimum standards are generally well below the levels recommended by researchers and experts to consistently meet the needs of each resident (Harrington, Dellefield, Halifax, et al., 2020).

Patient Satisfaction

Customer satisfaction can be defined as the overall experience with a purchase. Customer satisfaction has a very strong influence on the competitiveness of the product and, therefore, on the company (Suchánek & Králová, 2019). The concept of patient experience is surprisingly complex and generally linked with patient satisfaction. As reimbursement and performance policies have become more normative within healthcare. Patient experience has become a metric

to measure payment systems for quality (Berkowitz, 2016). With the evolving healthcare industry toward patient-centered orientation, inputs from the patient's perspective are valuable. Improved patient satisfaction is associated with increased level of adherence to treatment process and recommended prevention, and improved health outcomes (Chandra et al., 2019). Patient satisfaction is increasingly used as a method to rate, rank, and compare medical facilities. Patient satisfaction has been recognized as an important metric of health-care quality (Chen et al., 2019). The satisfaction score is based on many factors that a patient experiences before, during, and after an episode of care, along with characteristics of the care environment (Berkowitz, 2016). Patient satisfaction surveys have become a popular and common approach to measure the quality of healthcare and patient experience. Healthcare providers usually take the results of the survey into consideration while they are planning a new strategy or evaluating current practice and healthcare services (Huang et al., 2018). Measuring satisfaction is necessary to understand patient preferences. Measuring and reporting satisfaction with care may be important in helping seniors and their families choose a nursing home and may be important in helping facilities improve some aspects of quality (Castle et al., 2018). Patient satisfaction, which refers to the conclusion reached by patients and their families after comparing their feeling during the medical service with their families and after comparing their feelings during the medical service with their previous expectations, was the criterion of medical service quality (Fang et al., 2019).

Measuring patient's satisfaction with nursing care could be effective in improving nursing service quality by facilitating the creation of standards for care while monitoring both results and patients' perception of quality (Karaca & Durna, 2019). Satisfaction/experience information is currently used by the CMS in both the Hospital Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) program and the Home Health VBP demonstration, where providers are paid according to their performance scores based in part on patient experience scores (Gaudet Hefele, 2020). The patient complaints described experiences of patients' and/or relatives' dissatisfaction with healthcare services. These reports commonly described experiences of significant incidents, disadvantages and problems with an impact on the patient's health, medical or nursing care, or patient safety (Raberus et al., 2019). Patient complaints is a widely accepted measure of patient satisfaction, can inform improvement in service quality, and contribute towards overall health systems performance (Mirzoev & Kane, 2018). Over time there has been a regulatory and clinical care response to the concept of patient satisfaction and patient experience. Nurses, the primary caregivers in all health promoting environments, including hospitals, clinics, and community settings, have responded in various ways to regulatory and clinical mandates (Berkowitz, 2016).

Complaints could be linked to overall patient satisfaction rates to reveal latent incidents that may explain changes over time (van Dael et al., 2020). Resident satisfaction is not only a direct reflection of medical care but represents additional important dimensions of resident nursing home experiences, such as the closeness of their bond with caregivers or the presence of daily comfort in their lives (Plaku-Alakbarova et al., 2019). The lack of information of nursing homes regarding to resident/patient satisfaction means consumers cannot use it for decisionmaking and are forced to rely on other quality measures like the five stars rating program (Gaudet Hefele, 2020). The state of Minnesota uses satisfaction and quality of life information in their state Medicaid nursing home pay-for-performance program (Gaudet Hefele, 2020).

Health care provision has also shifted toward a marketplace model, and thus consumer satisfaction has taken on economic implications, because as an outcome, it reflects both consumer opinion and choice (Castle et al., 2018). A confluence of policy priorities, stimulated by the Affordable Care Act and CMS Quality Strategy, have brought a focus on the need to deliver care that provides a quality patient experience within healthcare systems. To incentivize health systems to implement these goals, CMS created ways to reward innovation related to how these strategies are implemented across health systems (Berkowitz, 2016).

Using Convergent Parallel Mixed Method in Healthcare Research

Although researchers have combined qualitative and quantitative data for many years, current conceptualizations of mixed methods research did not emerge until the 1980s, especially in some fields such as education, health sciences, psychology and sociology (Molina-Azorin, 2016). The qualitative method is based on numbers to claim objectivity whereas qualitative method generates theories relying on subjectivity. Mixed method is the intentional integration or combination of the two methods, that is, quantitative and qualitative, to draw on the strengths of each to answer real life research questions (Kaur, 2016). The use of mixed methods research in business studies may play an important role in the development of our field because results obtained from different methods have the potential to enrich our understanding of business problems and questions (Molina-Azorin, 2016). In mixed methods, the data collected are more comprehensive and provide a more complete understanding of the problem and potential solutions (Vedel et al., 2019). When applied, the mixed method research allows the strengths of one approach to complement the restrictions of another (Regnault et al., 2018). In the mixed method, the integration is most commonly undertaken in the interpretation phase of the study, where the results were presented separately and there was some integration that took place in the discussion and conclusion sections of the report (Campbell et al., 2017). The most important, and perhaps most difficult, aspect of mixed methods research is integrating qualitative and quantitative data (Tariq & Woodman, 2013).

In the convergent parallel mixed-methods design, the quantitative and qualitative data were analyzed separately and then merged for final comparative analysis (Creswell, 2014). Combining two methods in one study can be time consuming and requires experience and skills in both quantitative and qualitative methods. This can mean, in reality, that a mixed methods project requires a team rather than a lone researcher in order to conduct the study rigorously and within the specified time frame (Tariq & Woodman, 2013). Robust mixed method requires research teams with experience in both qualitative and quantitative research. Moreover, a thorough understanding of the underlying principles of mixed research method is recommended at the point of study conception all the way through to implementation and knowledge dissemination (Regnault et al., 2018). Among other applications, Mixed research method can be used to enhance the creation of conceptual models and development of new instruments, to interpret the meaningfulness of outcomes in a clinical study from the patient perspective and inform health care policy (Regnault et al., 2018).

Historically, quantitative methods have dominated health research. As the value of qualitative approaches has been recognized, there has been a growing interest in combining qualitative and quantitative methods (Tariq & Woodman, 2013). Mixed methods research has found an increased interest in the field of health outcomes research. Consideration for both qualitative and quantitative perspectives has become key to contextualizing patient experiences in a clinically meaningful measurement framework (Regnault et al., 2018). Tomasi et al. (2018) used the convergent parallel mixed-method study design to characterize when, where, and how healthcare providers exchange clinical information in the Department of Critical Care Medicine at the hospital for sick children and explore the factors that currently facilitate, or counter established best rounding practices therein. Giesinger et al. (2018) used the convergent parallel

mixed-method study design to investigate what makes a symptom or functional impairment clinically important, that is, relevant for a patient to discuss with a health care professional. Alwashmi et al. (2019) used the convergent parallel mixed-method study design to demonstrates how the iterative convergent mixed methods design provides a novel framework for generating unique insights into multifaceted phenomena impacting health usability.

Anticipated and Discovered Themes

Table 1

Theme	Theme Description	Literature references
Staffing	Each nursing home has to provide	Harrington et al. (2020);
	a sufficient number of healthcare	Zhang et al. (2006); Wiener
	workers to cover the varied needs	(2003); Myhre et al. (2020);
	of its residents (patients)	Harrington et al. (2016);
		Barton (2009); Barton
		(2009); Haegdorens et al.
		(2019); Griffiths et al.
		(2020); Drennan and Ross
		(2019); (de Cordova et al.,
		2019); Anders (2021);
Medical errors	Medical errors are a preventable	Metcalf et al. (2018); Carrez
	adverse effect of medical care and	et al. (2019); Chang et al.
	could result in increasing workload	(2019); Gorgich et al.
	as presented within the literatures	(2016); Rodziewicz &

Anticipated and Discovered Themes

		Hipskind (2020); Gluck
		(2008); Makary and Daniel
		(2016); Kapp (2003);
		Haegdorens et al. 2019;
		Griffiths et al. (2020);
		Anders (2021); Allhoff and
		Borden (2019).
Patients' satisfaction	Measure the degree of happiness	Richter and Muhlestein
	and satisfaction of patients	(2017); Jiang et al. (2011);
	regarding the provided medical	Pascoe (1983); Batbaatar et
	services.	al. (2015); Goncalves and
		Sampaio (2012); Hudak et
		al. (2004); De Hert (2020);
		Skär and Söderberg (2018).
Profitability	It is a measure of efficiency and	Muhlestein (2017); Clement
	success. Implication of high	(2016); Geng., Stevenson, &
	workload on nursing home	Grabowski, (2019); Sofer
	profitability	(2017).
Quality of care	It is providing safe, effective,	Buljac-Samardžić and van
	patient centered, timely, efficient	Woerkom (2018); Lepore
	and equitable healthcare services.	and Leland (2015); Gillespie
		and Reader (2016); (van
		Dael et al., 2020).

HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT

T	•	• . •	, .	1		1 . 1	1	1	1
	1m	iting	timo	duo	to	high	MOT	ZIAAC	4
н.		ILIII2		uuc.	10	шен	work	(ittat	L
_					•••				~

will be reflected on the quality of

medical services.

Work stress	Work stress will show up when	Plaku-Alakbarova et al.
	there is no balance between the	(2019); Sturm et al. (2019);
	requirements of a job and the	Juraschek et al. (2019).
	employee capability. Work stress	
	as a result of high workload effects	
	on patients' satisfaction	
Communication	Communication at healthcare	Plaku-Alakbarova et al.
	facilities is an essential factor in	(2019).
	providing accurate medical	
	services. With a high workload, the	
	communication efficacy will drop.	
Time	Limited time effects on the degree	Kaneman (1973).
	of focus and increases probability	
	of errors	
Employee capacity	Mental capacity is limited and	Bruya and Tang
	short when handling many	(2018).
	missions in a limited timeframe	
	with a reasonable efficiency.	

Demographic change	Population aging has a negative	Marć et al., (2019); Spurlock
	impact on the society and	(2020); Abeliansky., Erel
	overloads the healthcare system.	and Strulik (2020)
Education and training	Medical providers education and	Marć et al. (2019);
	training is an essential factor in	Abeliansky., Erel and Strulik
	providing accurate medical	(2020); Juraschek et al.
	services. With the shortage of	(2019); Scheffler and Arnold
	providing a sufficient and	(2019); Iheduru-Anderson
	reasonable education through the	(2021); Zhang et al. (2020).
	availability of medical institutes,	
	this will reflect on the workload of	
	medical staff.	
Insurance reimbursement	Healthcare facilities depend on	(Grabowski, 2021); Johnson
	insurance companies'	and Wang (2019);
	reimbursement to cover their	Harrington et al. (2020);
	expenses and gain profit.	Unruh, Khullar and Jung
		(2020)

Summary of Section 1

The heavy workload of healthcare workers is one of the major problems in the United States' health system. The heavy workload is affecting the quality of healthcare services and patients' safety. The study shed a light on the effect of heavy workload on patient satisfaction and the financial stability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The effect of workload on the patients' satisfaction and business profitability cannot be explored by using one way of research, but a mixed approach that can better help in diagnosis and in finding the truth regarding the problem. The research problem was explored by using a mixed convergent parallel method, since it provides more in-depth information and gives the ability to converge the data extracted from both qualitative and quantitative approaches.

The convergent parallel mixed methods converge two types of data collected in two different methods and analyzed separately to get the final result. In the process of reaching out the data, honesty, confidentiality, and trustworthiness should be provided in sake of reaching out the most fulfilling and accurate results. The framework of the convergent parallel mixed method design for this study is driven by a pragmatism paradigm that provides a comprehensive view of the phenomena. To collect data free of bias, the source of potential bias has been identified and its effects on the study have been measured in order to be reduced to a minimal level. The complexity of the convergent parallel mixed method requires the researcher to have qualitative and quantitative analytical skills from the designing process to converge and articulate the results. Results from the data analysis of a convergent parallel mixed method provided insight into the effect of high workload and shed a light on this phenomenon. Part of the data were extracted from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system, while the other part of the data were extracted from face-to-face interviews with the research participants.

To fulfill the purpose of the research to understand the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and profitability of nursing homes in Houston, Texas, qualitative and quantitative data collection methods were implemented parallelly, analyzed separately, and then the results were compared and converged to get a deeper insight of the phenomena. The next section of the study focused on identifying the research population and selecting the individual members of the

HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT

population to make a statistical inference to formulate the population's sample, which represented the whole population. Identifying the sample size is also an essential factor in getting statistically significant results and answering the research questions. The quantitative approach focused on understanding the relationship between the staff-patient ratio (as an indicator of workload) with the number of patients' complaints (as an indicator of patient satisfaction) and the bed occupancy rate (as an indicator of nursing home financial profitability). The data were extracted from the Medicare public document (Nursing Home Compare). The qualitative approach handled the constructs by interviewing the sample participants to understand how a high workload is affecting the quality of medical services and medical errors, and how it is also affecting the patients' satisfaction.

Section 2: Introduction

Although the United States is considered one of the richest nations in the world, and its spending on healthcare is considered one of highest among the developed countries, the healthcare system in the United States is suffering many down sides. Nursing homes play an important role hand by hand with other kinds of healthcare facilities to service the medical needs of the elderly population, which is increasing rapidly, globally, and nationwide. Nursing homes provide a wide range of health services to residents who end up in their facilities due to the lack of patients' ability to serve themselves or due to other health-related issues. Poor quality of healthcare services is a problem in many nursing homes in Texas. The study walks the readers through the current process in nursing homes regarding the staffing policy and its effects on patient satisfaction and business profitability. More explanation was provided concerning the causes of staff shortages and employee overload as well as the federal and state regulations, which govern and control the staffing ratio.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this mixed design convergent parallel method is to understand the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and the profitability of nursing homes in Houston, Texas. A convergent mixed methods design was used, which is a type of design where the qualitative and quantitative data are collected parallel, analyzed separately, and then merged. In this study, the quantitative data were obtained from the Medicare public document (Nursing home compare) and used to test the relationship between the staff-patient ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy rate. In 2002, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) substantially expanded its quality improvement efforts by launching Nursing Home Compare (NHC), a national effort to publicly report the quality of care in all US nursing homes, thereby informing consumers and incenting the improvement of quality (Brauner et al., 2018). NHC was modified to feature a five-star composite rating system for overall quality in late 2008, assigning each nursing home a rating of one to five stars with more stars indicating higher quality (Brauner et al., 2018). At the same time, the qualitative method was applied by exploring the effect of high workload through interviewing healthcare workers in multiple nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The reason for collecting both quantitative and qualitative data are to get a deeper insight on the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and nursing home profitability.

Role of the Researcher

Actions to Conduct the Study

Since the convergent parallel mixed method had been determined as a required method for answering the research questions, the next step was to draw a plan of action that fits with the method and components of the study. The main goal of the study focused on collecting and analyzing the data. The results of both researchers were converged at the end to explore the conformity between the results of the two approaches. Using an independent sampling plan in a mixed methods study commits the researchers to propose at least two distinct samples, defined as having unique sampling frames but not requiring nonoverlapping participants (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). A defining feature of qualitative methods is the use of purposeful sampling techniques. These techniques are primarily intended to generate depth of information (hence enhancing credibility) to address a defined research question (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). Nursing home administrators, directors of nurse departments, nurses, and nurses' assistants, have all been interviewed in-person. The data were gathered from the participants of the study by using a semi-structured interview, which was done by asking questions within a predetermined framework. Busetto et al. (2020) stated that in comparison to written surveys, qualitative interviews have the advantage of being interactive and allowing for unexpected topics to emerge and to be taken up by the researcher. Semi structured in-depth interviews are commonly used in qualitative research and are the most frequent qualitative data source in health services research (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). This method typically consists of a dialogue between researcher and participant, guided by a flexible interview protocol and supplemented by follow-up questions, probes and comments (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The interview is a critical component of data collection in qualitative studies. Great value is placed on the interview process from which an intimate conversation, key data, and interpreted results emerge (Fritz & Vandermause, 2018).

A quantitative approach employs strategies of inquiry such as experiments and surveys and collects statistical data on predetermined instruments (Signorell et al., 2021). The recorded answers to the open-ended interview questions have been coded to organize the data regarding workload, quality, and patient satisfaction. Participants were chosen to participate in the research based on their department (e.g., managers, nurses, and nurses' assistants). As an example, the study excluded the rehab health care providers, kitchen workers, housekeeping, and even the pharmacy workers. The reason behind that is because most nursing homes outsource these services and are not involved directly in the staffing process regarding these departments. Chen (2018) stated that in a typical skilled nursing facility (SNF), numerous parties exchange goods and services in the delivery of care. Specifically, resident care is rendered through a complex series of transactions among various parties including, but not limited to physicians, pharmacists, equipment distributors and manufacturers, rehabilitation therapists, laboratorians, and dieticians. The collected raw data from interviewing the participants has been coded and converted into usable data through the identification of themes, concepts, or ideas that have connections to each other. Codes can be thought of as individual puzzle pieces which, as a collection, contribute to a researcher's depiction of the data. Individually, codes do not tell the entire story. For that to occur, the researcher must understand how codes (inter) relate and contrast with one another (Lester et al., 2020). The participant answers to the in-person interview questions were cross analyzed to better represent emerging thematic codes. The analysis of data was done by using thematic analysis, which supported theme development while staying grounded in the data.

The quantitative study explores the relationship between staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy. Correlation, in the broadest sense, is a measure of an association between variables. In correlated data, the change in the magnitude of 1 variable is associated with a change in the magnitude of another variable, either in the same (positive correlation), or in the opposite (negative correlation) direction (Schober et al., 2018). The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. Strategies were adopted to reduce the incidence of missing data, but these had to be thought through before the first data collection. Whenever the problem of missing data are present, its implications for interpreting results have to be examined, particularly where they are to be generalized to a broader population.

Discussion of Bracketing to Avoid Personal Bias

Bias, perhaps best described as any process at any stage of inference that tends to produce results or conclusions that differ systematically from the truth (Yarborough, 2021). Galdas (2017) stated that the research proposals and manuscripts that do not provide satisfactory detail on the mechanisms employed to minimize bias are unlikely to be viewed favorably. The whole population consists of all individuals that fit the study. While studying the whole population is impractical, sampling is considered a crucial step in research. The data analysis of the research could also be subject to bias by giving more preference to the conclusions in favor of research hypothesis. In order to get overall data about the constructs of the qualitative section of the research like workload, quality of medical services, and patient satisfaction, the face-to-face interview was conducted with the sample participants like nurses, nurse assistants, directors of nursing, and nursing home administrators.

Bracketing is a method used in qualitative research to minimize the potentially deleterious effects of preconceptions that may taint the research process (Tufford & Newman, 2012). The notion of bracketing is not about getting rid of subjective components and removing pre-understandings but raising awareness of them so that they can be explored, made use of, and explicitly incorporated. The essential part of bracketing is to isolate researcher experience from what is being studied. Dörfler and Stierand (2020) stated that bracketing can be conceptualized as the researchers' attempt to hold abeyance to their pre-understandings and assumptions to attain experiences before making sense of them. The first stage of bracketing is to leave the bias aside by listening carefully to the participant without interruption while recording the interview to be analyzed and coded later during the analysis process. McGrath et al. (2019) stated that actively listening to the interviewees means respecting silence and identifying such silent

moments as an opportunity for ongoing reflection. Interviews on subjects that have profound meaning for interview subjects may prompt deep reflection on behalf of respondents. The next stage of bracketing, according to Dörfler and Stierand (2020), is to raise the awareness of presumptions and previous knowledge and beliefs the interviewer was not aware of. This has been achieved by transpersonal reflexivity. Berger (2015) stated that reflexivity means turning off the researcher lens back onto oneself to recognize and take responsibility for one's own situatedness within the research and the effect that it may have on the setting and people being studied, questions being asked, and data being collected and its interpretation. The qualitative analysis is subject to many types of bias like data collection bias, and the bias in analyzing and reporting the data. Reflexivity by reducing the research bias will provide more credibility to the research. Undertaking the initial bracketing discussions and reflections allow the researcher to step aside to some degree from this known lifeworld in order to make the familiar strange and problematic, and to subject it to scrutiny and questioning (McNarry et al., 2019).

Research Methodology

Introductory Paragraph

The research was conducted by using a mixed method that addressed the research questions more comprehensively than either qualitative or quantitative methods by themselves. Mixed methods research requires a perspective equal and inclusive of both quantitative and qualitative approaches and a different way of thinking (McKenna et al., 2021). The mixed methods design for this study is a convergent parallel design. The convergent parallel design is appropriate for the study as both qualitative and quantitative data are needed to have a comprehensive understanding of the effects of work overload. The framework of the convergent parallel mixed method design driven by a pragmatism paradigm provides a comprehensive view of the study. The pragmatism paradigm aligns with the core of the study that reveals the effect of high workload on the provided medical services and business profitability. The pragmatism approach facilitates the mixing of quantitative and qualitative approaches in a way that best addresses the research questions (McKenna et al., 2021). In undertaking mixed research, there are key informed decisions that need to be made. Firstly, the priority to be afforded to the individual components needs to be determined. Secondly, the timing of data collection is crucial (McKenna et al., 2021).

The Appropriateness of the Mixed Design for the Research Study

The use of the mixed design method in the healthcare sector offsets the vulnerabilities in various methods and generates a more complete picture (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). Schoonenboom and Johnson (2017) stated that a mixed methods design is characterized by the combination of at least one qualitative and one quantitative research component. The research was conducted by using a mixed method that addresses the research questions more comprehensively than neither qualitative nor quantitative methods could achieve solely. Raven et al. (2011) stated that mixed methods research therefore has the potential to harness the strengths and counterbalance the weaknesses of both approaches and can be especially powerful when addressing complex, multifaceted issues such as health services interventions. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that mixed methods research offers powerful tools for investigating complex processes and systems in health and health care. Mixed methods research offers great promises for practicing researchers who would like to see methodologists describe and develop techniques that are closer to what researchers actually use in practice (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). As providers and policy makers strive to ensure quality and safety for patients and families,

researchers can use mixed methods to explore contemporary healthcare trends and practices across increasingly diverse practice settings (Shorten & Smith, 2017).

A qualitative dimension is needed to gather community perspectives at each stage of the research process, while a quantitative dimension provides the opportunity to demonstrate outcomes that have credibility for community members and scholars (Mertens, 2007). Mixed methods researchers need to establish a purpose for their mixing; a rationale for the reasons why quantitative and qualitative data need to be mixed in the first place (Creswell, 2014). The mixed methods approach has emerged as a "third paradigm" for social research. It has developed a platform of ideas and practices that are credible and distinctive and that mark the approach as a viable alternative to quantitative and qualitative paradigms (Denscombe, 2008). High workload effects on patient satisfaction research are complex and multifaceted. The integration of both qualitative and quantitative methods optimized the breadth and depth of the study, taking into consideration the real-world environment and socio-cultural context of the nursing homes.

Vedel et al. (2019) stated that in mixed methods research the data collected is more comprehensive and provides a more complete understanding of the problem and potential solutions. Mixed methods research is versatile, pragmatic, and adaptable to constraints and opportunities during a research process (Kaur, 2016). Mixed methods provide opportunities for participants to have a strong voice and share their experiences across the research process, and they can facilitate different avenues of exploration that enrich the evidence and enable questions to be answered more deeply (Shorten & Smith, 2017). The critical strength of mixed method approaches is that they typically capitalize on data reflecting individual lived experiences in the qualitative strand. Mixed methods can facilitate the involvement of other key stakeholders, such as partners, family members, and/or other knowledge users, in the process of developing the research question(s) and outlining the research designs. It appears clearly that Mixed method is a strong option to leverage effective patient engagement and supports ongoing research focused on patient-identified priorities and the improvement of patient outcomes (Regnault et al., 2018). This ensures that the results are considered from the patients' perspective. Incorporating patients' voice in mixed method helps ensure that the research is focused on the needs and priorities of patients (Regnault et al., 2018).

The main reasons for conducting the mixed method in this study is to support the qualitative findings with quantitative findings, triangulate results, provide more comprehensive understanding of effects of high workload on patient satisfaction, and the profitability of the nursing homes. The mixed design provides at least three advantages: (a) helps researchers examine an issue from multiple perspectives, (b) by triangulating two different methods and including several forms of data, and (c) the mixed design tends to be pragmatic that the researchers can flexibly adapt the design and methods to constraints and opportunities that pop up during the research process (Kaur, 2016).

The Appropriateness of the Convergent Parallel Method for the Research Study

The convergent parallel design is appropriate for the study as both qualitative and quantitative data are needed to have a comprehensive understanding of the effects of work overload. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that in a convergent design, the qualitative and quantitative data are collected and analyzed during a similar timeframe. During this timeframe, an interactive approach may be used where iterative data collection and analysis drives change during the data collection procedures. The convergent parallel mixed method design is used to analyze the effect of the workload on the patients' satisfaction and the profitability of the business. Results from the data analysis of a convergent parallel mixed method provided insight into the effect of high

workload and shed light on that phenomenon. The quantitative portion was built on analyzing previously collected data, while the qualitative portion depended on interviewing the participants to extract in-depth data. Parallel-results convergent synthesis design consists of independent syntheses of qualitative and quantitative evidence and an interpretation of the results in the discussion (Hong et al., 2017). Creswell (2014) stated that in convergent parallel mixed study, the researcher will first report the quantitative statistical results and then discuss the qualitative findings (e.g., themes), that either confirm or disconfirm the statistical results. In this research, the findings of the quantitative and the qualitative components were used to enrich the findings and provide further insight into the research subject.

The Appropriateness of the Convergent Parallel Method for the Triangulation for the Research

Triangulation is a measurement technique often used by surveyors to locate an object in space by relying on two known points in order to "triangulate" on an unknown fixed point in that same space. Early on, social scientists borrowed the concept of triangulation to argue for its use in the validation process in assessing the veracity of social science research results (Mertens & Hesse-Biber, 2012). Triangulation is used to help understand the experience of a common phenomenon and add depth to data that is collected (Fusch et al., 2018). Terms such as "triangulation," "combining methods," and "multiple methods" have been around for quite a while to designate using different methods of data analysis in empirical studies. However, this practice has gained new momentum through a research strand that has recently emerged and that explicitly aims to offer a framework for combining methods (Timans et al., 2019). The mixed method is lending itself to triangulate the date in collecting and analyzing the data and presenting the results of the research. Triangulation has proved useful in confirming and finding analogies

and correlations between results obtained using different methods. The complementarity method validates, describes, and clarifies the results obtained using other methods (Piccioli, 2019). With the purpose of corroboration and validation, the researcher aims to triangulate the methods by directly comparing the quantitative statistical results and qualitative findings (Demir & Pişmek, 2018).

Hadi and Closs (2016) stated that the convergent design is best suited when the researchers intend to obtain complementary data on the same topic for the purpose of triangulation. It also allows researchers to overcome certain weaknesses of one methodology by complementing it with another methodology and gain in-depth understanding of the research problem. Salmon (2016) stated that convergent parallel design involves collecting and analyzing two independent strands of quantitative and qualitative data in a single phase: merging the results of the two strands and then looking for convergence, divergence, contradictions, or relationships between the two datasets. Convergent triangulation is when the data interpretation phase uses the results of two parallel studies to confirm and support (with greater relevance) the results obtained (Piccioli, 2019). Edmonds and Kennedy (2017) explained that the convergent parallel method involves the collection of different but complementary data on the same phenomena. Thus, it is used for the converging and subsequent interpretation of quantitative and qualitative data. This approach is often referred to as the concurrent triangulation design (single-phase) because the data are collected and analyzed individually but at the same time. The parallel-databases design is structured so that the quantitative and qualitative data are collected separately (not within the same measures) but at the same time (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). Mixed methods offer a number of advantages over qualitative or quantitative methodologies alone. Mixed-methods

methodology is of strategic significance when the research questions require triangulating (Hadi & Closs, 2016).

The current research method contains an in-built method triangulation that uses data from different types of resources. qualitative research does not require specific sample sizes, nor does it require that the sample size be determined a priori. While there are no specific "rules" for determining sample size, researchers must collect enough quality data to answer the research question. Often, the pre-determined sample size is not feasible, or the area of study requires additional participants; it is understood that the desired sample size may change as the research progresses (Gill, 2020). Sample size can only be a useful quality indicator when related to the research purpose, the chosen methodology and the composition of the sample, i.e., who was included and why (Busetto et al., 2020).

Research Questions

The qualitative results addressed three research questions (RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3). The data were collected by the in-person interview method and the results of the qualitative data were organized by research questions. To address the quantitative question (RQ4) and hypotheses, ANOVA methodology has been used.

RQ1- How does increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes impact the quality of provided healthcare services?

RQ2- How does the increase in medical errors (complaints) in nursing homes, as an indicator of the quality of provided healthcare services, impact the level of customer satisfaction and reflect on the profitability of the business?

RQ3- What are the relational and professional practices that can help overcome the obstacles of increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes?
RQ4- What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, Texas?

Summary Paragraph

The heavy workload of healthcare workers is one of the major problems in the United States' health system. The heavy workload is affecting the quality of healthcare services and patients' safety. The study shed a light on the effect of heavy workload on patient satisfaction and the financial stability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The effect of workload on the patients' satisfaction and business profitability cannot be explored by using one way of research, but a mixed approach that can better help in diagnosis and in finding the truth regarding the problem. The research problem was explored by using a mixed convergent parallel method because it provides more in-depth information and gives the ability to converge the data extracted from both qualitative and quantitative approaches.

Participants

Quantitative Approach

The data of the quantitative approach were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. CMS created the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families, and caregivers compare nursing homes more easily. The Nursing Home Compare web site features a quality rating system that gives each home a rating of between 1 and 5 stars. Nursing homes with 5 stars are considered to have above average quality and nursing homes with 1 star are considered to have quality much below average (Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2019). There is one overall 5-star rating for each nursing home, and a `separate rating for each of the following three source of information: (1) Health Inspections: the health inspection rating contains the most recent health inspections and investigations due to complaints, (2) Staffing: the staffing rating has information about the number of hours of care provided on average to each resident each day by nursing staff, and (3) Quality measures: the quality measure rating has information on 15 different physical and clinical measures for nursing home residents (Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2019).

The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurses (RN) hours per resident per day and (2) total nurse staffing (Including RN, licensed vocational nurse [LVN], and certified nurse assistants) hours per resident per day. To get more accurate data, the Medicare website provided detailed data of time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes.

If a complaint about a nursing home is filed, the state may decide an inspection is needed. A single complaint may contain multiple allegations. Complaints can be filed by residents, families, or others with concerns about the care a resident is receiving (Peterson et al., 2021). If a complaint results in an inspection that finds citation, it is counted, and the citations are included in the nursing home's rating. As part of the onsite-inspection process, an important question for the surveyors is whether the allegations in the complaint are substantiated, which means there are indications that the practices of the nursing home are likely inconsistent with regulatory standards. Only substantiated complaints are further assessed to determine if any federal regulations have been violated, and if so, what level of deficiency citation should be issued (Peterson et al., 2021). The occupancy rate has been extracted by dividing the average resident per day by the number of facility beds.

Qualitative Approach

Participants of the qualitative approach were chosen to participate in the research based on their department (e.g., nurses, CNAs, management, etc.). The study excluded the rehab health care providers, kitchen workers, housekeeping, and even the pharmacy workers. The reason behind that is that most nursing homes outsource these services and are not involved directly in the staffing process regarding these departments. Chen (2018) stated that in a typical skilled nursing facility (SNF), numerous parties exchange goods and services in the delivery of care. Specifically, resident care is rendered through a complex series of transactions among various parties, including, but not limited to physicians, pharmacists, equipment distributors and manufacturers, rehabilitation therapists, laboratorians, and dieticians.

Population and Sampling

Introductory Paragraph

A fundamental difference between quantitative and qualitative designs is the type of data that is collected. Quantitative designs rely upon numerical data that allow one to conduct statistical tests to compare groups or examine relationships between variables. As a result, large samples are required to provide sufficient data (Casteel & Bridier, 2021). Sample sizes must be ascertained in qualitative studies like in quantitative studies but not by the same means. The prevailing concept for sample size in qualitative studies is saturation (Malterud et al., 2016). In quantitative studies, power calculations determine which sample size (N) is necessary to demonstrate effects of a certain magnitude from an intervention. For qualitative interview studies, no similar standards for assessment of sample size exist (Malterud et al., 2016). Generalizability, important for quantitative research, is not a goal of qualitative research. Therefore, sample sizes are much smaller than those needed for quantitative designs. Quantitative researchers typically use large samples, determined by a power analysis, while qualitative samples are smaller in order to examine a phenomenon in depth (Gill, 2020).

Quantitative Approach

Quantitative methods rely on probability sampling techniques, sometimes referred to as random sampling techniques. These techniques aim to achieve high generalizability through representativeness so that inferences from the sample units can be made reliably to the larger population from which the sample was drawn (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015).

Population

Population is the group of individuals restricted to a geographical region (e.g., neighborhood, city, state, country, continent, etc.), or certain institutions (e.g., hospitals, schools, health centers, etc.), that is, a set of individuals that have at least one characteristic in common (Martínez-Mesa et al., 2014). Greater Houston consists of nine counties: Austin, Brazoria, Chamber, Fort Bend, Galveston, Harris, Liberty, Montgomery, and Waller. The population for these counties as of 2016 was 6.77 million (Greater Houston Partnership, 2017). The number of nursing homes in Greater Houston is 163. The number of nursing homes are licensed by both Medicare and Medicaid and have more than one hundred licensed beds in each of 124 nursing homes (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021). The 124 nursing homes with more than 100 beds licensed sent by Medicare and Medicaid are the population of the study. The residents often stay in a skilled nursing home facility temporarily in sake of solving a special medical need outside of a hospital. Skilled nursing facilities (SNFs) are a particular type of nursing home that provide short-term skilled nursing care and rehabilitation services to patients following a stay in an acute-care hospital. Skilled nursing home (SNF) services are covered by Medicare that are considered the second largest payer for nursing home (Gu et al., 2019). The small licensed

skilled nursing home facilities, which have less than one hundred beds, have been excluded from the study, which leaves us a population of 124 SNFs in the research.

Sampling

The nature of quantitative designs is distinctly different, which affects the size of the sample. Using non-numerical forms of data, the requirements for sample size are also less numerically based (Casteel & Bridier, 2021). Sample size calculation is an essential item to be included in the project to reduce the probability of error, respect ethical standards, and define the logistics of the study (Martínez-Mesa et al., 2014). The higher the confidence level (greater expected precision), the larger the sample size. This parameter is usually fixed as 95% (Martínez-Mesa et al., 2014). Because the population size is considered small (124), the sample size is better off as 97. Quantitative methods rely on probability sampling techniques, sometimes referred to as random sampling techniques. These techniques aim to achieve high generalizability through representativeness so that inferences from the sample units can be made reliably to the larger population from which the sample was drawn (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). The quantitative study explores the relationship between staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Greater Houston, Texas. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy. Strategies have been adopted to reduce the incidence of missing data, but these have to be thought through before the first data collection. Whenever the problem of missing data are present, its implications for interpreting

results have to be examined, particularly where they are to be generalized to a broader population.

A sample frame is generally thought of as a file from which a sample is selected (DiGaetano, 2013). The sample frame for the quantitative approach of the study includes all the licensed nursing homes in greater Houston area that have more than 100 licensed beds. The table below shows the distribution map of the licensed skilled nursing facilities in the Greater Houston area. Depending on the sample size calculator with 95% confidence level and five confidence intervals, the sample size should be 97 out of the whole population of skilled nursing facilities in Greater Houston (Creative Research Systems, 2012).

Table 2

	Number of licensed skilled	
	nursing home (more	
County	than 100 licensed beds)	
Austin	1	
Brazoria	9	
Chambers	2	
Fort Bend	8	
Galveston	11	
Harris	78	
Liberty	3	
Montgomery	10	
Waller	2	
Total	124	

Nursing Home Distribution in Greater Houston, Texas

Note. Nursing homes which have less than 100 beds have been excluded from the study.

Qualitative Approach

The qualitative approach is useful in identifying and understanding the beliefs and behaviors of the population. Qualitative approach incorporates the recording, interpreting, and analyzing of non-numeric data with an attempt to uncover the deeper meanings of human experiences and behaviors (Renjith et al., 2021).

Population

Registered nurses (RNs) play a critical role in health care delivery. With an aging US LVN (Licensed Vocational Nurse) population, health care demand is growing at an unprecedented pace (Juraschek et al., 2019). RN staff were more often focused on resident safety and putting the "big picture" together, whereas staff were more often focused on the administrative assignment and "completing the task." (Vogelsmeier et al., 2011). LVN works under the direction of an RN or another medical practitioner and are expected to consult with an RN if the client becomes unstable and thus requires more complex care. LVN is able to work as a team member only, whereas the RN can work as an independent practitioner or as a team member in all clinical settings (Prentice et al., 2020). About 70% of licensed nursing care in nursing homes is provided by licensed practical or vocational nurses (LVNs) rather than RNs (Corazzini et al., 2013). LVNs were described frequently being in supervisory positions and the only licensed nursing staff in the nursing home during evening or weekend shifts. LVNs also described that sometimes they functioned beyond their scope of practice because an RN was not present in the nursing home (Corazzini et al., 2013). Licensed practical nurses/licensed vocational nurses have a program of study of historically 12 to 18 months, though some programs are now 2 years in length. In this short time frame, only a minimal scientific and

theoretical foundation can be offered. Therefore, it is essential that LVNs working in occupational and environmental health settings have on-site or consultative supervision.

Texas is home to 190,000 registered nurses (RNs), 72,000 licensed vocational nurses (LVNs), and 86,000 certified nursing assistants (CNAs). While these professionals work in every city across the state, the Greater Houston metro area contains the largest population of nurses, including 44,450 RNs, 12,920 LVNs, and 16,610 CNAs (Nursing School Almanac, 2021). Houston offers some of the best nursing career opportunities and salaries in all of Texas. The city's RNs earn a median annual salary of \$75,830, while its LVNs earn \$45,360 annually and its CNAs earn \$24,510 per year (Nursing School Almanac, 2021).

Nursing home top management teams, which includes the nursing home administrator, director of nursing (DON), and medical director, can have an important role in influencing quality in nursing homes. Top managers are responsible for overall oversight of nursing home care delivery (Krause, 2012). A nursing home facility has to have one nursing home administrator and one director of nursing. The nursing home administrator has to have specifically a nursing home administrators license, while the director of nursing services should have a registered nurse license (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021). Even though DONs do not typically provide direct resident care, DONs may be particularly central to quality of care because of their role in coordinating, executing, and overseeing nursing care (Krause, 2012). The director of nursing services is responsible for: (1) coordinating each resident's comprehensive plan of care and (2) ensuring that only personnel with an appropriate license or permit administer medication (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021). Directors of nursing (DON) are central to quality of care in nursing homes (NH) because of their role in coordinating and overseeing nursing facility administrator.

The nursing home administrator shall: (1) manage the institution, (2) be responsible for: delivery of quality care to all residents and implementation of the policies and procedures of the institution, and (3) work at least 40 hours per week on administrative duties (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021).

Sampling

Regarding the nonuniformity of the distribution of nursing homes in Greater Houston, the total number of nursing homes that are certified by Medicare and Medicaid and have more than 100 beds were divided by the county that they are located in. The table below shows that Harris County contains the majority of nursing homes, with 78 out of 124 being in the area, while the rest of the nursing homes are divided regarding their county distribution as follows: Galveston contains 11 nursing homes; Montgomery: 10, Brazoria: 9, Fort Bend: 8, Liberty: 3, Waller: 2, Chambers: 2, and Austin: only one nursing home. Since we do not have access to the entire population due to the limitation of time, Quota sampling was used in choosing the nursing homes that I ran the participants' interviews into by giving a quota for each county depending on the proportion of nursing homes located in that specific county. Luborsky and Rubinstein (1995) stated that quota sampling is a method for selecting a number of subjects to represent the conditions to be studied rather than to represent the proportion of people in the universe.

The quota was calculated by dividing the number of nursing homes in each county by the total number of nursing homes in Greater Houston, which is currently standing at 124 nursing homes. As mentioned before, this sampling method was used solely to identify the number of nursing homes I ran the in-person interview into. This sampling method is ideal, especially when there are multiple groups of known size within the main sample. The goal of using this method is to represent each subgroup fairly in the final sample. After identifying the proportion or the

quota for each county, the next step is to identify how many nursing homes will be chosen from each county. I have conducted face-to-face interviews in a total of seven nursing homes. The quota for each county has been calculated by multiplying its proportion percentage by seven (i.e., the chosen sample size).

Relating to the number of nursing homes in counties in the Greater Houston area, the following quotas have been allocated to each county: four nursing homes from Harris County, one from Brazoria County, one from Galveston County, and one from Montgomery County. When I successfully identified the quota in each subgroup (county), the nursing homes were then chosen at random depending on the computer random number calculation. When the nursing homes were chosen, the participants that were interviewed from each one of the selected nursing homes were divided as follows: I interviewed one registered nurse, one licensed vocational nurse, one certified nursing home the study took place in. The participants have been chosen from each facility depending on the availability of the employees and permission given by the management team. I took into consideration that the interviews were conducted during the day shift only.

One nursing home administrator refused to conduct the research in his facility. This was due to the mother company's policy in the nursing home and the busyness of its staff. Because of this shortcoming, I concurred to conduct the research in another facility located in the same county that matched the set-out criteria of the nursing homes under study. The purpose of using a face-to-face interview is to allow participants to share in-depth perspectives and experience of the provided healthcare services. The purposive sampling technique was used to examine a diverse range of cases relevant to the subject of the research. The reasons for adopting a purposive strategy are based on the assumption that, given the aims and objectives of the study, specific kinds of people may hold different and important views about the ideas and issues at question and therefore need to be included in the sample (Campbell et al., 2020). Purposive sampling strategies move away from any random form of sampling and are strategies to make sure that specific kinds of cases of those that could possibly be included are part of the final sample in the research study (Campbell et al., 2020).

The number of participants is therefore dependent on the richness of the data, and more than 15 cases can make analysis complicated and "unwieldy" (Austin & Sutton, 2014). The collected raw data from interviewing the participants was coded and converted into usable data through the identification of themes, concepts, or ideas that have connections to each other. A particularly important part of the thematic analysis process involves coding the data. A code is simply a short, descriptive word or phrase that assigns meaning to the data related to the researcher's analytic interests (Lester et al., 2020). The whole population consists of all individuals that fit the study. While studying the whole population is impractical, sampling is considered a crucial step in research. As a primary method, qualitative interviews seek to harness the potential qualitative data for nuanced, in-depth, and sometimes new understandings of social issues (Braun et al., 2021).

In order to get overall data about the constructs of the qualitative section of the research like workload, quality of medical services, and patient satisfaction, face-to-face interviews were held with sample participants in the likes of nurses, nurse assistants, directors of nursing, and nursing home administrators. To constitute an appropriate sample size in the qualitative portion of the research is only really answerable within the context and scientific paradigm of the research being conducted (Boddy, 2016). The most widely used principle for determining sample size and evaluating its sufficiency is that of saturation (Vasileiou et al., 2018). Data saturation is the most commonly employed concept for estimating sample sizes in qualitative research (Guest et al., 2020). Saturation refers to the point during data analysis at which incoming data points (interviews) produce little or no new useful information relative to the study objectives (Guest et al., 2020).

Table 3

			Selected
County	Number of	Quota	nursing homes
	Nursing Home		based on counties
Austin	1	0.81%	0
Brazoria	9	7.26%	1
Chambers	2	1.61%	0
Fort Bend	8	6.45%	0
Galveston	11	8.87%	1
Harris	78	62.90%	4
Liberty	3	2.42%	0
Montgomery	10	8.06%	1
Waller	2	1.61%	0
Total	124	1	7

The Percentage of Nursing Homes' Quotas for Each County

Note: the percentages (Quota) have been calculated by dividing the number of nursing homes in each county by the total number of nursing homes in the Greater Houston area.

The saturation was reached when there was no more data collected through the qualitative interviews or data changing the coding manual. Guest et al. (2020) stated that the saturation is considered met and there is no need for more interviews when the new interview does not substantially add to the body of information collected. The number of participants was sufficient enough that during the last several in-person interviews with the participants, I found that the data gathered were adequate and no further interviews should be conducted.

Data Collection and Organization

Data Collection Plan

Since the convergent parallel mixed method has been determined as a required method for answering the research questions, the next step is to draw a plan of the actions that fit with the method and components of the study. The main goal of the study focuses on collecting and analyzing the data. The results of both parallel studies (qualitative and quantitative) were converged together at the end of the study to represent the conformity between the results of the two approaches. Using an independent sampling plan in a mixed methods study commits the researchers to propose at least two distinct samples, defined as having unique sampling frames but not requiring nonoverlapping participants (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). A defining feature of qualitative methods is the use of purposeful sampling techniques. These techniques are primarily intended to generate a depth of information (i.e., enhancing credibility) to address a defined research question (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015).

The convergent parallel design is appropriate for the study as both qualitative and quantitative data are needed to have a comprehensive understanding of the effects of work overload. Fetters et al. (2013) stated that in a convergent design, the qualitative and quantitative data are collected and analyzed during a similar timeframe. The convergent parallel mixed

method design was used to analyze the effect of the workload on the patients' satisfaction and profitability of the business. Results from the data analysis of a convergent parallel mixed method provided insight into the effect of high workload and shed light on that phenomenon. The quantitative portion built on analyzing previously collected data are explained in the validity and reliability section. A pilot test had been run to measure the validity and reliability of the data. The qualitative portion depended on interviewing the participants to extract in-depth data. Parallel-results convergent synthesis design consists of independent syntheses of qualitative and quantitative evidence and an interpretation of the results in the discussion (Hong et al., 2017). In this research, the findings of the quantitative and the qualitative components are used to enrich the results and provide further insight to the research subject. Salmon (2016) stated that convergent parallel design involves collecting and analyzing two independent strands of quantitative and qualitative data in a single phase, merging the results of the two strands, and then looking for convergence, divergence, contradictions, or relationships between the two datasets.

Quantitative Approach

Quantitative methods rely on probability sampling techniques, sometimes referred to as random sampling techniques. These techniques aim to achieve high generalizability through representativeness so that inferences from the sample units can be made reliably to the larger population from which the sample was drawn (Curry & Nunez-Smith, 2015). The quantitative study explores the relationship between staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Grand Houston, Texas. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy. Strategies have been adopted to reduce the incidence of missing data, but these have to be thought through before the first data collection. Whenever the problem of missing data are present, its implications for interpreting results have to be examined, particularly where they are to be generalized to a broader population.

Qualitative Approach

The participants of the study, such as nursing home administrators, directors of nurse departments, nurses, and nurses' assistants, have been interviewed and their responses to the inperson interview questions have been recorded. The recorded answers to the open-ended interview questions have been coded to organize the data regarding workload, quality, and patient satisfaction. The research face-to-face interviews were constructed to contain the most related information that can help the researcher in extracting the most beneficial items to the research. Staffini et al. (2022) stated that reducing the number of items in the interview while maintaining relevant information is important as it is associated with advantages such as higher respondent engagement and reduced response error. Participants were chosen to participate in the research based on their department (management, nurses, and nurse assistants). The study excluded rehab health care providers, kitchen workers, housekeeping, and pharmacy workers. The reason behind that is that most nursing homes outsource these services and are not involved directly in the staffing process regarding these departments. Chen (2018) stated that in a typical skilled nursing facility (SNF), numerous parties exchange goods and services in the delivery of care. Specifically, resident care is rendered through a complex series of transactions among various parties including, but not limited to physicians, pharmacists, equipment distributors and manufacturers, rehabilitation therapists, laboratorians, and dieticians.

The purpose of a face-to-face interview is to allow participants to share in-depth perspectives and experience of the provided healthcare services. The collected raw data from interviewing the participant were coded and converted into usable data through the identification of themes, concepts, or ideas that have connections to each other. The participant responses to the in-person interview questions were cross analyzed to better represent emerging thematic codes. The analysis of data was done by using thematic analysis, which supported theme development while staying grounded in the data.

Member Checking

The trustworthiness of results is the bedrock of high-quality qualitative research. Member checking, also known as participant or respondent validation, is a technique for exploring the credibility of results (Birt et al., 2016). To constitute an appropriate sample size in the qualitative portion of the research is only really answerable within the context and scientific paradigm of the research being conducted (Boddy, 2016). Relating to the number of nursing homes in counties in the Greater Houston area, the following quota had been allocated to each county: four nursing homes from Harris County, one from Brazoria County, one from Galveston County, and one from Montgomery County. When I successfully identified the quota in each subgroup (county), the nursing homes were chosen at random depending on the computer random number calculation. When the nursing homes were chosen, the participants that were interviewed from each one of the chosen nursing homes were divided as follows: one registered nurse, one licensed vocational nurse, one certified nursing assistant, one director of nursing, and one nursing home administrator in each nursing home the interviews were conducted in. The participants were chosen from each facility depending on the availability of the employees and

the permission given by the management team. I took into consideration that the interviews were only run during the day shift, excluding night shift.

One nursing home administrator refused to have the research take place in his facility. This is because it did not comply with the mother company's policy and the busyness of his staff. Because of this setback, I conducted the in-person interviews in another facility located in the same county and matched the established criteria of the nursing homes under study. The purpose of using a face-to-face interview is to allow participants to share in-depth perspectives and experience of the provided healthcare services. The purposive sampling technique was used to examine a diverse range of cases relevant to the subject of the research. The reasons for adopting a purposive strategy assume that, given the aims and objectives of the study, specific kinds of people may hold different and important views about the ideas and issues at question and therefore need to be included in the sample (Campbell et al., 2020). Purposive sampling strategies move away from any random form of sampling and are strategies to make sure that specific kinds of cases of those that could possibly be included are part of the final sample in the research study (Campbell et al., 2020). The transcript of the first interview foregrounds the second interview during which the researcher focuses on confirmation, modification, and verification of the interview transcript (Birt et al., 2016). The transcripts were returned to the participants and a second interview was undertaken to discuss the data. By doing this, it will empower the participant to remove or add some data to the findings. Birt et al. (2016) stated that the transcript of the first interview foregrounds the second interview during which the researcher focuses on confirmation, modification, and verification of the interview transcript.

Follow-up Interviews

During the initial interview, the main matters were discussed with the participants, and if there was a new topic or information that was brought up during the analysis process, then a new question would be addressed to the same participant. The participants were notified if there may be a follow-up interview or if only a few additional questions needed to be asked as a follow-up step. A follow-up interview gives both the interviewer and the participant an opportunity to reflect on what was talked about in the first interview, allowing new insights or aspects to emerge. It also gives the researcher an opportunity to clarify questions or test interpretations with the participant directly, giving more nuanced data and enhancing validity (Holter et al., 2019).

Instruments

Qualitative Approach

Semi-structured interviews were used during the qualitative section of the research, which typically consisted of dialogue with the participant and guided by a flexible protocol and supplemented follow-up questions. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) stated that semi structured interviews allow the researcher to collect open-ended data to explore participant thoughts, feelings, and beliefs about a particular topic and to dive deeply into personal and sometimes sensitive issues. Although there is certainly an appropriate place in qualitative approach for other data collection methods, a primary benefit of the semi-structured interview is that it permits interviews to be focused while still giving the investigator the autonomy to explore pertinent ideas that may come up in the course of the interview (Adeoye-Olatunde & Olenik, 2021). The semi-structure interview varies depending on the type of participants, which are organized in two levels: nurses and managers. The interview guide is explained thoroughly in appendix A. The purpose of the research was explained to the participants of the research with refereeing to the confidentiality of their answers. The interview guide was customized depending on the participants' categories which are identified, as explained before, among two main categories: (1) direct health care providers (e.g., RN, LVN, and CNA) and (2) the management team (facility administrator, DON). As explained in the interview guide, the participants were notified that the interview will be recorded in sake of registering all participants' information and comments. The interviews began by establishing a rapport with the participants, then the topic would shift in order to ask more in-depth, open-ended questions.

Quantitative Approach

CMS created the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families, and caregivers compare nursing homes more easily. The Nursing Home Compare website features a quality rating system that gives each home a rating of between 1 and 5 stars. Nursing homes with 5 stars are considered to have above average quality and nursing homes with 1 star are considered to have quality much below average (Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2019). There is one overall 5-star rating for each nursing home, and a separate rating for each of the following three sources of information: (1) Health Inspections: the health inspection rating contains the most recent health inspections and investigations due to complaints, (2) Staffing: the staffing rating has information about the number of hours of care provided on average to each resident each day by nursing staff, and (3) Quality measures: the quality measure rating has information on 15 different physical and clinical measures for nursing home residents (Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2019). The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurses (RN) hours per resident per day and (2) total nurse staffing (Includes RNs, licensed vocational

nurses (LVN), and certified nurse assistants) hours per resident per day. If a complaint about a nursing home is filed, the state may decide an inspection is needed. If a complaint results in an inspection that finds citations, it is counted, and the citations are included in the nursing home's rating. The occupancy rate was extracted from dividing the average resident per day to the number of facility beds.

Data Organization Plan

Participants were chosen to participate in the research based on their department (managers, nurses, nurse assistants. The study excluded rehab health care providers, kitchen workers, housekeeping, and pharmacy workers. The reason behind this is that most nursing homes outsource these services and are not involved directly in the staffing process regarding these departments. Chen (2018) stated that in a typical skilled nursing facility (SNF), numerous parties exchange goods and services in the delivery of care. Specifically, resident care is rendered through a complex series of transactions among various parties including, but not limited to physicians, pharmacists, equipment distributors and manufacturers, rehabilitation therapists, laboratorians, and dieticians. The sample size was chosen to address the qualitative question of the study. The number of participants is therefore dependent on the richness of the data, and more than 15 cases can make analysis complicated and "unwieldy" (Austin & Sutton, 2014). The collected raw data from interviewing the participant were coded and converted into usable data through the identification of themes, concepts, or ideas that have connections to each other. The participant responses to the in-person interview questions were cross analyzed to better represent emerging thematic codes. The analysis of data was done by using thematic analysis, which supported theme development while staying grounded in the data. The coding process highlighted relevant words based on the frequency of a participants' declaration to a

single question of the interview. Codes and sub-codes were marked, referring to the significant words and statements of the participants' declaration. When the coding process was done, the code book was then developed. The answers to the interview questions were cross analyzed to identify the emerging thematic codes of workload, patient satisfaction, and facility profitability.

Greater Houston consists of nine counties: Austin, Brazoria, Chamber, Fort Bend, Galveston, Harris, Liberty, Montgomery, and Waller. The population for these counties as of 2016 was 6.77 million (Greater Houston Partnership, 2017). The number of nursing homes in Greater Houston is 163. The number of nursing homes are licensed by both Medicare and Medicaid and have more than one hundred licensed beds in each of 124 nursing homes (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021). The 124 nursing homes with more than 100 beds licensed sent by Medicare and Medicaid are the population of the study. The quantitative study explores the relationship between staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints as well as the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Greater Houston, Texas. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured amongst three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy. Strategies have been adopted to reduce the incidence of missing data, but these have to be thought through before the first data collection. Whenever the problem of missing data are present, its implications for interpreting results have to be examined, particularly where these are to be generalized to a broader population. A sample frame is generally thought of as a file from which a sample is selected (DiGaetano, 2013). The sample frame for the quantitative approach of the study includes all licensed nursing homes in the greater Houston area that have more than 100 licensed beds. Depending on the sample size calculator with a 95% confidence level and five

confidence intervals, the sample size was 97 out of the whole population of skilled nursing facilities in Greater Houston (Creative Research Systems, 2012).

Data Analysis

Quantitative Approach

A quantitative research study collects numerical data that must be analyzed to help draw the study's conclusions. The goal of data analysis is to reveal the underlying patterns, trends, and relationships of a study's contextual situation (Albers, 2017). The goal of the quantitative approach is to reveal the relationship between the independent variables (Staff/Patient Ratio) and dependent variables (Patient complaint and Bed occupancy rate). The variables are categorized as dependent and independent variables. The changes of the independent variable will affect the reading of the dependent variable. A variable is an essential component of any statistical data. It is a feature of a member of a given sample or population, which is unique, and can differ in quantity or quality from another member of the same sample or population. Variable is defined as a characteristic of the participants or situation in a given study that has different values (Morgan et al., 2013). The extracted data were analyzed by using the SPSS software, which helps to analyze, transform, and produce a characteristic pattern between the research variables.

The Variables

Variables may be independent or dependent. Independent variables influence the value of other variables; dependent variables are influenced in value by other variables. A hypothesis states an expected relationship between variables (Andrade, 2021). The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy.

The independent variable is something that is not affected by the experiment itself but can be manipulated to affect the dependent variable, while the dependent variable is directly linked to the primary outcome of the study (Kaliyadan & Kulkarni, 2019).

Independent variable: The independent variable was nursing hours per patient per day as an ordinal value, which was reflected through a star rating system from 1 star to 5 stars. To get more accurate data, the Medicare website provided detailed data of time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes. Barton (2009) stated that heavy workload put on staff in the American health system is mainly to reduce staffing. In facilities without enough staff, providers "may be forced to 'cut corners' in order to cope with their workload. This may seriously reduce the quality of health services they provide" (Kovacs & Lagarde, 2022). Griffiths et al. (2020) stated that the low nurse staffing levels were related to higher reports of missed care.

The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. Notably, in 2002, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) substantially expanded its quality improvement efforts by launching Nursing Home Compare (NHC), a national effort to publicly report the quality of care in all U.S. nursing homes, thereby informing consumers and incenting the improvement of quality (Brauner et al., 2018). The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurses (RN) hours per resident per day and (2) total nurse staffing, including RN, licensed practical nurse (LPN), licensed vocational nurse (LVN), and certified nurse assistants hours per resident per day.

Dependent variable: patient complaints and incident reports: these are valuable resources for monitoring the quality of health-care services. Gillespie and Reader (2016) stated that patients can provide reliable data on a range of issues; healthcare complaints have been shown to reveal problems in patient care like medical errors, breaching clinical standards, and poor communication, which is hard to capture through safety and quality monitoring systems. Patients and families who make a formal complaint primarily desire two outcomes: a patient-centric response and system-level quality improvement (van Dael et al., 2020). The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's starrating system for individual nursing homes. If a complaint about a nursing home is filed, the state may decide an inspection is needed. If a complaint results in an inspection that find citation, it is counted, and the citations are included in the nursing home's rating.

Dependent variable: bed occupancy rate: The study shed light on the effect of high workload on the bed occupancy rate, which mainly affects business profitability. Clement (2016) stated that the occupancy rate is positively associated with higher profitability. The data were collected from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes, and the occupancy rate was extracted from dividing the average resident per day to the number of facility beds.

The health inspection rating is based on the number of deficiencies identified in the 3 most recent state surveys across several areas, including staff-resident interactions and adequate infection control protocols. The quality measures rating is based on the weighted mean of performance across 15 quality measures (e.g., avoidable hospitalizations, pressure ulcers, urinary tract infections, etc.). The nurse staffing domain is based on the mean staffing hours per resident by qualified nursing staff. The three variables mentioned above include Staff-patient as ordinal value from 1 star to 5 stars [as determined by the CMS- The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurse (RN) hours per resident per day and (2) total nurse staffing,

including RN, licensed practical nurse (LVN) and nurse aide hours per resident per day and patient complaints as a discrete value, and occupancy rate as a continuous value.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics summarize various aspects of the data, giving details about the sample and providing information about the population from which the sample was drawn. Each variable's type determines the nature of descriptive statistics that one calculates and the manner in which one reports or displays those statistics (Larson, 2006). The independent variable was nursing hours per patient per day as an ordinal value, which was reflected through a star rating system from 1 star to 5 stars. To get more accurate data, the Medicare website provided detailed data of time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes. This independent variables were patient complaints as a discrete value, and bed occupancy rate as a continuous value. Once data are collected, statistical analysis typically begins by calculating descriptive statistics—numbers that characterize features of those specific data— and by presenting the descriptive statistics in tables or graphs (Larson, 2006). All the collected data were grouped together to make it more readable, like the number of patient complaints and the bed occupancy rate. The frequency distribution was depicted in two ways: as a table and as a graph.

Table 4

Types of Variables

Variable	Variable type	Data type	
Staff/Patient Ratio	Independent	Ordinal	2-2.5 daily nursing hours per patient
(Nursing hours per			2.51-3.00 daily nursing hours per patient
patient)			3.01-3.50 daily nursing hours per patient
			3.51-4.00 daily nursing hours per patient
			4.01-4.50 daily nursing hours per patient
			4.51-ABOVE daily nursing hours per patient
Patient complaint	Dependent	Discrete	A variable is considered to be discrete when
			it can assume only a finite number of real
			values within a given interval. Number of
			complaints range between 0 and 50.
Bed occupancy rate	Dependent	Continuous	A variable is considered to be continuous if
			it can assume an infinite number of real
			values within a given interval. The
			occupancy rate range is between 0 and 100

Note. Three variables have been identified: Staff/Patient Ratio, Patient complaint, and Bed occupancy rate.

Hypothesis

Significance-based hypothesis testing begins with the formulation of the null hypothesis. This hypothesis, denoted H_0 , typically represents "no effect" or "no relationship" between the variables under study (Turner et al., 2020).

H4o. There is no statistically significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

Alternative H4a. There is a significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

The staff-patient ratio can determine the dedicated time spent by the healthcare provider with the patient during the patient's stay in a medical facility. The high overload of patients on the medical staff will increase the burden to take care of patients and provide accurate medical services. H4 address RQ4 seeks to explain the influence of high workload on patient satisfaction and business profitability. Variable included: H4 contains staff-patient which is the time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes as an ordinal value, patient complaint as discrete value, and occupancy rate as continuous value. Statistical hypothesis testing is a set of methods for statistical inference that has a fascinating and contentious history (Turner et al., 2020). The hypothesis testing is used to make judgments regarding any claim or issue using the sample data to obtain the correct decision that guides researchers to accomplish the research and achieve the objectives (Alkarkhi, 2020). The hypothesis was tested using the on-way or single facto ANOVA to compare six levels of nursing hours per resident on two dependent variables (patient complaints, bed occupancy rate). As is well known, ANOVA is designed to test differences among the means of the subpopulations, and one may observe that 'equal' means having different distributions (Fraiman & Fraiman, 2018).

Due to the familiarity, simplicity, and robustness of ANOVA methodology, this approach has been frequently used for repeated ordinal data (Stiger et al., 1998).

Hypotheses Testing

Significance-based hypothesis testing begins with the formulation of the null hypothesis. This hypothesis, denoted H₀, typically represents "no effect" or "no relationship" between the variables under study (Turner et al., 2020). RQ4- Staff-patient ratio can sometimes determine dedicated time spent by the healthcare provider with the patient during the patient's stay in a medical facility. The high overload of patients on the medical staff will increase the burden to take care of patients and provide accurate medical services. Variables included- H4 includes Staff-patient as ordinal value from 1 star to 5 stars [as determined by the CMS- The staffing rating is based on these measures: (1) Registered Nurse (RN) hours per resident per day, and (2) total nurse staffing, including RN, licensed practical nurse (LPN), and nurse aide hours per resident per day, and patient complaint as discrete value, and occupancy rate as continuous value.

Statistical hypothesis testing is a set of methods for statistical inference that has a fascinating and contentious history (Turner et al., 2020). Hypothesis testing is used to make judgments regarding any claim or issue using the sample data to obtain the correct decision that guides researchers to accomplish the research and achieve the objectives (Alkarkhi, 2020). The hypothesis was tested using the one-way or single factor ANOVA to compare five levels of nursing home star rates on two dependent variables (patient complaints, bed occupancy rate). Due to the familiarity, simplicity, and robustness of ANOVA methodology, this approach has been frequently used for repeated ordinal data (Stiger et al., 1998).

Qualitative Approach

Emergent Ideas

After identifying the sample, the data were collected and organized as codes. Creswell and Poth (2018) stated that an important step in the process is to find people or places to study and to gain access to and establish rapport with participants so that they will provide good data. The data were analyzed and coded through the recommended process by Creswell and Poth (2018), which starts by taking notes while recording, sketching reflective thinking, summarizing field notes, working with words, identifying codes, reducing codes to themes, counting frequency of codes, relating categories, relating categories to analytic framework in literature, creating a point of view, and displaying and reporting the data. Sutton and Austin (2015) concluded that coding refers to the identification of topics, issues, similarities, and differences that are revealed through the participants' narratives and interpreted by the researcher. Sutton and Austin (2015) stated that one way of establishing the "credibility" of the coding is to ask another researcher to code the same transcript and then to discuss any similarities and differences in the two resulting sets of codes. When validating the study, the Corroboration Evidence and Collaborating with Participants methods were applied. A mix of the two methods was consistent with the flexible design of the research. Tigges et al. (2019) concluded that the collaboration measures were identified using both a literature review based on specific keywords and an environmental scan.

Interpretations

Bradley et al. (2007) conclude that once the data were reviewed and there is a general understanding of the scope and contexts of the key experiences under study, coding provides the analyst with a formal system to organize the data and uncovering and documenting additional

links within and between concepts and experiences described in the data. An important tool in the process of turning the raw qualitative data into a communicative and trustworthy "story" is coding. The core operation of coding involves examining a coherent portion of the research empirical material – a word, a paragraph, a page – and labeling it with a word or short phrase that summarizes its content (Skjott Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). The first phase of collected data analysis started by listening, recording, writing, reading, and re-reading the answers to be more familiar with the data and start getting used to the pattern. The second phase was generating the initial codes and giving a full description of how the codes are related to the participants' answers. In the third phase, the codes were combined into themes with an explanation of how the codes were formulated to themes. Attride-Stirling (2001) stated that the development of thematic networks aims to take the researcher deeper into the meaning of the texts, exploring the themes that emerged and identifying the patterns that underlie them. Sutton and Austin (2015) found that theming refers to the drawing together of codes from one or more transcripts to present the findings of qualitative research in a coherent and meaningful way. Thematic analysis is a straightforward way of conducting hermeneutic content analysis, which is from a group of analyses that are designed for non-numerical data. It is a form of pattern recognition used in content analysis, whereby themes (or codes) that emerge from the data become the categories for analysis (Roberts et al., 2019). The process involves the identification of themes with relevance specific to the research focus, the research question, the research context, and the theoretical framework. This approach allows data to be both described and interpreted for meaning (Roberts et al., 2019).

Analysis for Triangulation

In a mixed methods research, triangulation has been lauded as a strategy for exploring viewpoints revealed through divergent data (Campbell et al., 2020). Triangulation is a measurement technique often used by surveyors to locate an object in space by relying on two known points in order to "triangulate" on an unknown fixed point in that same space. Early on, social scientists borrowed the concept of triangulation to argue for its use in the validation process in assessing the veracity of social science research results (Mertens & Hesse-Biber, 2012). Triangulation is used to help understand the experience of a common phenomenon and add depth to data that are collected (Fusch et al., 2018). Terms such as "triangulation," "combining methods," and "multiple methods" have been around for quite a while to designate using different methods of data analysis in empirical studies. However, this practice has gained new momentum through a research strand that has recently emerged and that explicitly aims to offer a framework for combining methods (Timans et al., 2019). The mixed method lends itself to triangulate the date in collecting and analyzing the data and presenting the results of the research. Broader interpretations of mixed methods triangulation would involve crossing the methodological boundary to include both qualitative and quantitative work, with varied data collection methods, within or across stakeholder groups (Campbell et al., 2020).

Hadi and Closs (2016) stated that the convergent design is best suited when the researchers intend to obtain complementary data on the same topic for the purpose of triangulation. It also allows researchers to overcome certain weaknesses of one methodology by complementing it with another methodology and gain in-depth understanding of the research problem. Salmon (2016) stated that the convergent parallel design involves collecting and analyzing two independent strands of quantitative and qualitative data in a single phase; merging

the results of the two strands and then looking for convergence, divergence, contradictions, or relationships between the two datasets. Edmonds and Kennedy (2017) explained that the convergent parallel method involves the collection of different but complementary data on the same phenomena. Thus, it is used for the converging and subsequent interpretation of quantitative and qualitative data. This approach is often referred to as the concurrent triangulation design (single-phase) because the data are collected and analyzed individually but at the same time. The parallel-databases design is structured so that the quantitative and qualitative data are collected separately (not within the same measures) but at the same time (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). Mixed methods offer a number of advantages over qualitative or quantitative methodologies alone. Mixed-methods methodology is of strategic significance when the research questions require triangulating (Hadi & Closs, 2016). The current research method contains an in-built method triangulation that used data from different types of resources. qualitative research does not require specific sample sizes, nor does it require that the sample size be determined a priori. Sample size can only be a useful quality indicator when related to the research purpose, the chosen methodology, and the composition of the sample (Busetto et al., 2020).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability is the extent to which an experiment, test, or procedure yields the same results on repeated trials and the validity is the extent to which an indicator measures what it purports to measure (Scott et al., 2019). In this research's quantitative approach, the purpose of establishing reliability and validity is to make sure that the collected data are replicable, and the result of the analysis is accurate. Reliability and validity have been taken care of even during the research design and planning methods as well as writing the research result after the analysis of the gathered data. As stated by Morgan et al. (2013) reliability is used to indicate the extent to which scores are consistent with one another and the extent to which the data are free from measurement error. The interrater reliability is a degree of agreement between rates. As stated by Scheel et al. (2018), "Inter-rater reliability refers to the consistency of data recorded by two or more raters by measuring the same subjects over a single trial." Internal consistency is a measure of reliability, which means that we can get the same result if we repeat the test (reliable). As stated by Tavakol and Dennick (2011): "Internal consistency describes the extent to which all the items in a test measure the same concept or construct and hence it is connected to the interrelatedness of the items within the test." As stated by Morgan et al. (2013), "measurement validity is concerned with establishing evidence for the use of a measure or instrument in a particular setting with a specific population for a given purpose." The KMO measure should be > .70, and the Bartlett's test shoud be less than .05. This means that the data are correlated high enough to provide a valid and reasonable analysis. Before analyzing the collected quantitative data, a pilot study was applied to nine readings out of the sample. The results plotted in Table 5 are as following: KMO=7 and the Bartlett's test result is less than 0.05. In the reliability statistics, the alpha coefficient was used to measure the reliability of the data. If the result was higher than .70, then the data were considered reliable. The items should be correlated and the scale should indicate a good internal consistency.

Leung (2015) identified that validity in qualitative research means "appropriateness" of the tools, processes, and data. Leung (2015) explained that validity is checking whether the research question is valid for the desired outcome, the choice of methodology is appropriate for answering the research question, the design is valid for the methodology, the sampling and data analysis is appropriate, and that the results and conclusions are valid for the sample and context.

Researchers should consider validity during every step in developing the research, from the designing phase until writing the final research results. Qualitative research could not be trustworthy without validating the used methods and be sure that it measures what is intended to be measured. On the other side, research reliability is identified as used methods that are consistent and produce the same result if researchers use it again under the same conditions. Cypress (2017) stated that reliability and validity are two factors that any qualitative researcher should be concerned about while designing a study, analyzing results, and judging its quality. While in quantitative research, Roberts and Priest (2006) explained that validity describes the extent to which a measure accurately represents the concept it claims to measure, and reliability is the proportion of variability in a measured score that is due to variability in the true score. Mixed methods design necessitates the validity of the result from the quantitative approach and the results from the qualitative approach. The validation and reliability construct that was used and applied is a mix of corroborating evidence and collaborating with participants. By reviewing the literature and holding conversations with the participants, the main codes were originated and organized. After conducting the interviews and triangulating the data, some of the codes were validated and new codes emerged. Creswell and Poth (2018) explained the corroborating evidence that researchers make use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigations, and theories to provide corroborating evidence. Collaboration with participants methods was also used in sake of getting some ideas from a few researchers' articles that handled the same subject. Tigges et al. (2019) explained that collaboration measures were identified using both a literature review based on specific keywords and an environmental scan.

Table 5

Pilot Test

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Samplin	0.684	
Adequacy.		
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-	9.915
	Square	
	df	3
	Sig	0.019

Note. Nine readings have been chosen randomly from the sample.

Bracketing

Bracketing adds scientific rigor and validity to any qualitative study. Bias, perhaps best described as any process at any stage of inference that tends to produce results or conclusions that differ systematically from the truth (Yarborough, 2021). Galdas (2017) stated that the research proposals and manuscripts that do not provide satisfactory detail on the mechanisms employed to minimize bias are unlikely to be viewed favorably. The whole population consists of all individuals that fit the study. While studying the whole population is impractical, sampling is considered a crucial step in research. Simundić (2013) stated that to ensure that a sample is a representative of a population and to lessen the bias of data collection, sampling should be random and every subject needs to have equal probability to be included in the study. The data analysis of the research could also be subject to bias by giving more preference to the conclusions in favor of research hypothesis. In order to get overall data about the constructs of the qualitative section of the research like workload, quality of medical services, and patient

satisfaction, face-to-face interviews were conducted with sample participants in the likes of nurses, nurse assistants, directors of nursing, and nursing home administrators.

Bracketing is a method used in qualitative research to mitigate the potentially deleterious effects of preconceptions that may taint the research process (Tufford & Newman, 2012). The notion of bracketing is not about getting rid of subjective components and removing preunderstandings, but about raising awareness of them so that they can be explored, made use of, and explicitly incorporated. The essential part of bracketing is to isolate researcher experience from what is being studied. Dörfler and Stierand (2020) stated that bracketing can be conceptualized as the researchers' attempt to hold abevance to their pre-understandings and assumptions to attain experiences before making sense of them. The first stage of bracketing is to put bias aside by listening carefully to the participant without interruption while recording the interview to be analyzed and coded later during the analysis process. McGrath et al. (2019) stated that actively listening to the interviewer means respecting silence and identifying such silent moments as an opportunity for ongoing reflection. Interviews on subjects that have profound meanings for the interview subjects may prompt deep reflection on behalf of respondents. The next stage of bracketing, according to Dörfler and Stierand (2020), is to raise the awareness of presumptions and previous knowledge and beliefs the interviewer was not aware of. This has been achieved by transpersonal reflexivity. Berger (2015) stated that reflexivity means turning off the researcher lens back onto oneself to recognize and take responsibility for one's own situatedness within the research and the effect that it may have on the setting and people being studied, questions being asked, and data being collected and its interpretation. The qualitative analysis is subject to many types of bias like data collection bias,
and the bias in analyzing and reporting the data. Reflexivity by reducing research bias provides more credibility to the research.

Summary of Section 2

The heavy workload of healthcare workers is one of the major problems in the United States' health system. Heavy workload is affecting the quality of healthcare services and patients' safety. The study shed a light on the effect of heavy workload on patient satisfaction and the financial stability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The effect of workload on the patients' satisfaction and business profitability cannot be explored by using only one way of research, but a mixed approach that can better help in diagnosis and in finding the truth regarding the problem. The research problem was explored by using a mixed convergent parallel method that provides more in-depth information and gives the ability to converge the data extracted from both qualitative and quantitative approaches. The convergent parallel mixed method converged two types of data collected in two different methods, analyzed separately, and converged to get the final result. In the process of gathering data, honesty, confidentiality, and trustworthiness were provided for the sake of reaching the most fulfilling and accurate results. To collect data free of bias, the source of potential bias was identified and its effects on the study were measured and reduced to a minimal level. The complexity of the convergent parallel mixed method requires the researcher to have qualitative and quantitative analytical skills from the designing process to converge and articulate the results. Results from the data analysis of a convergent parallel mixed method provided insight into the effects of high workload and shed light on this phenomenon.

Section 3: Introduction

Poor quality of healthcare services is an increasing problem in many nursing homes in Houston, Texas. This problem threatens the lives of elderly patients, who are the most vulnerable of the population. A convergent mixed methods design was used, where the qualitative and quantitative data were collected parallelly, analyzed separately, and then merged. In this study, the quantitative data were obtained from the Medicare public document (Nursing Home Compare) and used to test the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and patient complaints, as well as the relationship between staff-patient ratio and bed occupancy rate. At the same time, the qualitative method was applied by exploring the effect of high workload by interviewing healthcare workers and patients in seven nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The reason for collecting both quantitative and qualitative data were to get a deeper insight into the effect of high workload on patient complaints and the profitability of nursing homes.

The findings from the study show that high workload affects the profitability of the nursing homes in Grand Houston, TX. Both the qualitative and the quantitative approaches revealed the same result. Results of both the qualitative and the quantitative approaches did not give the same result regarding the effect of high workload on the quality of healthcare. Since the quantitative approach showed that there is no effect of high workload on the quality of healthcare services, the qualitative approach revealed the opposite result.

Poor quality of healthcare services is an increasing problem in many nursing homes in Houston, Texas. This problem threatens the life of elderly patients, who are the most vulnerable of the population. The problem is that the increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes in Houston, TX is potentially creating an increase in medical errors, resulting in the loss of customer satisfaction and profitability to the business. The purpose of this mixed design convergent parallel method was to understand the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and the profitability of nursing homes in Houston, Texas.

A convergent mixed methods design was used, which is a type of design where the qualitative and quantitative data are collected parallel, analyzed separately, and then merged. In this study, the quantitative data were obtained from the Medicare public document (Nursing Home Compare) and used to test the relationship between staff-patient ratio and patient complaints, as well as the relationship between staff-patient ratio and bed occupancy rate. At the same time, the qualitative method was applied by exploring the effect of high workload through interviewing healthcare workers and patients in seven nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The reason for collecting both quantitative and qualitative data were to get deeper insight on the effect of high workload on patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing homes.

Data Collection

Qualitative Data Collection

In order to get overall data about the constructs of the qualitative section of the research like workload, quality of medical services, and patient satisfaction, the face-to-face interview were conducted with the sample participants like nurses, nurse assistants, directors of nursing, and nursing home administrators. The directors of the nursing home facilities that I have done inperson interviews with have reviewed the interview questions that were asked to the facility members, and I was given the final approval to do my in-person interview there. The participants have been chosen depending on availability. In each facility I have collected data for my study from, I interviewed one administrator, one director of nurses (DON), one registered nurse (RN), one license vocational nurse (LVN), and one certified nursing assistant (CNA). Interviewing patients was not an option in any one of the chosen facilities. The reasoning behind the refusal to interview current patients varied, with reasons like the State of Texas does not allow for it, patient confidentialities, and treatment interruptions of patients.

The number of the chosen nursing homes to be interviewed was determined to be 7 through random computer choice. The number of the planned interviews were 35. The declaration was read out loud to each participant, which states that declared information during the interview would stay confidential and would not be shared with the management team. The approvals were received from each participant and the consents were signed from each participant before each interview began. The consent was handed and fully explained to each participant. The final number of interviews was 35 instead of 42 (as originally planned), since the patients were now excluded from being interviewed. One registered nurse (RN) from a nursing home the study was conducted in held the position of both the interim director of nurses (DON) and a registered nurse (RN), since the facility did not have a DON in place as of that moment. This participant was interviewed twice as an on-floor RN as well as a DON. The qualitative approach handled the constructs by interviewing the sample participants to understand how high workload affected the quality of medical services and medical errors, and how it also affected on the patients' satisfaction and the profitability of the nursing homes.

Table 6

Participant Category	Number of Participants
Participant initially identified as meeting selection criteria	35
Participants who are not available	0
Final Sample	35

Selection of Final Participants Sample

Quantitative Data Collection

The data were collected from a primary source of information (Medicare.gov). The results of the quantitative data were organized by research questions and hypotheses. Quantitative methods rely on probability sampling techniques, sometimes referred to as random sampling techniques. The quantitative study explored the relationship between staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints and between staff-patient ratio and the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Grand Houston, Texas. The quantitative research was conducted by extracting the data from The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Nursing Home Compare website's star-rating system for individual nursing homes. The correlation was measured between three variables: staff-patients ratio, patient complaints, and bed occupancy rate.

The independent variable was nursing hours per patient per day as an ordinal value, which was reflected through a star rating system from 1 star to 5 stars (i.e., to get more accurate data, the Medicare website provided detailed data of time provided per healthcare workers to patients [residents] in nursing homes). Dependent variables were patient complaints as a discrete value, and bed occupancy rate as a continuous value. Greater Houston consisted of nine counties: Austin, Brazoria, Chamber, Fort Bend, Galveston, Harris, Liberty, Montgomery, and Waller. The population for these counties as of 2016 was 6.77 million (Greater Houston Partnership, 2017). The number of nursing homes in Greater Houston is 163. The total number of nursing homes that are licensed by both Medicare and Medicaid and have more than one hundred licensed beds consisted of 124 nursing homes in greater Houston (Texas Health and Human Services, 2021). The 124 nursing homes with more than 100 licensed beds sent by Medicare and Medicaid were the population of the study. Depending on the sample size calculator with a 95% confidence level and a 5% margin of error, the sample size was 97 out of the whole population of skilled nursing facilities in Greater Houston (Creative Research Systems, 2012).

Qualitative Component

The qualitative data were gathered using information acquired from the face-to-face interviews. Each of the interview questions were crafted to allow insight into the feelings and perspectives of participants about the work overload. The responses were reviewed, and tips were registered, allowing the participants to review answers for accuracy before submitting a response. Thematic analysis as an independent method of qualitative analysis has been supported by colleagues in the field of psychology (Braun & Clarke, 2008). All audio recordings were listened to after the interviews. The recorded interviews were listened to for the second time prior to the preliminary coding process. The first step of the coding process focused on identifying the key ideas to serve as initial codes. After finishing the preliminary coding of all 35 interviews, the audio recording interviews were listened to again, and the near-identical codes were merged where appropriate. During the merger process, the codes belonging to a similar idea were grouped together into code families. The final stage was using the code families to identify themes and subthemes based on the frequency and the number of times the code appeared across interviews.

Quantitative Component

The quantitative data collection consisted of pulling out data from Medicare.gov. The data were registered into an Excel sheet. The information was then exported from Microsoft® Excel into Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software for final analysis.

To address the quantitative question (RQ4) and hypotheses, ANOVA methodology was used. One-way ANOVA was used is to compare the means of the independent variable groups to determine if there is a statistically significant difference between the corresponding population means. The hypotheses were tested using the on-way or single facto ANOVA to compare six levels of nursing hours on two dependent variables (patient complaints and bed occupancy rate). ANOVA is designed to test differences among the means of the subpopulations, and one may observe that 'equal' means having different distributions (Fraiman & Fraiman, 2018). Due to the familiarity, simplicity, and robustness of ANOVA methodology, this approach has been frequently used for repeated ordinal data (Stiger et al., 1998). The independent variable (daily nursing hours per patient) was divided into six groups, 2-2.5 daily nursing hours per patient, 2.51-3.00 daily nursing hours per patient, 3.01-3.50 daily nursing hours per patient, 3.51-4.00 daily nursing hours per patient. The first dependent value was the number of complaints leading to a citation in the last 3 years. The second independent variable was the bed occupancy rate, which was calculated by dividing the average daily census by the number of the nursing homes' licensed beds.

Data Analysis and Results

All data were firmly stored and accessible only by the researcher. All the electronic data and paper consents was stored on a USB and were kept in a locked safe. Password-protected electronic data includes the face-to-face interview responses. The researcher was the only individual with access to the data. All data collected for the study will be stored for three years and then destroyed. All of the participants were notified of the confidential process of keeping the information. In the convergent mix method, the qualitative and quantitative data were collected separately and concurrently, the two data sets were analyzed separately and then merged for overarching analysis in sake of understanding the effect of high workload on patient satisfaction and profitability of the nursing homes in Greater Houston. The research questions were essential to the presentation of the research results. The following section concludes the results of each of the qualitative and quantitative research section.

Qualitative Results

The qualitative data were organized in an Excel sheet and the codes and themes were developed accordingly. The coding process highlights symmetric words. Codes and sub-codes are identified, conveying the work experience or information relevant to the in-person interview questions. When the coding process was complete, the preliminary coding report was developed for every individual research question for the sake of being presented in the codebook. The participants of the study were divided into two categories and the questions varied to each category depending on its specifications. The questions which were asked to the nursing homes management team (administrators and directors of nurses) were different than the questions that were asked to workers like registered nurses (RN), licensed vocational nurses (LVN), and certified nursing assistants (CNA). Actual interview times ranging from 5 to 15 minutes and were conducted in many locations depending on the availability, including conference rooms or places of employment.

The participant answers to the in-person questions were cross analyzed to better represent emerging thematic codes. The analysis of data was done by using thematic analysis, which supported theme development while staying grounded in the data. The coding process highlighted relevant words based on the frequency of a participants' declaration to a single question of the interview. Codes and sub-codes were marked, referring to the significant words and statements of the participants' declaration. When the coding process was done, the code book was then developed. The answers to the interview questions were cross analyzed to identify the emerging thematic codes of workload, patient satisfaction, and facility profitability. The following cluster map was developed to show the relationship between categories and sub-categories to help deepen the research.

Figure 2

Cluster Map of Thematic Categories Regarding Work Overload



A refined review of the thematic categories revealed five major themes: (a) patients' complaints and how health care workers and management deal with said complaints, (b) overcoming workload and how health care workers deal with high workload, (c) patient satisfaction, (d) patient retention and admitting new patients, and (e) staffing policy.

Figure 3

Refined Cluster Map of Thematic Categories Regarding Work Overload



Table 7

Themes Emerging from Participants' Statements

Quality of Health Care Services	Profitability	
Complaint	Patient Retention & Admit New Patients	
- Investigation	- Word of Mouth	
- Education and Training	- CMS Rating	
- Changing Staffing Policy		
	Staffing	
	- Patients' Acuity	
	- Staffing Strategy	
	- Employees' Competencies	
	- High Patient to Health Care Worker Ratio	
Workload Management	- Agency	
- Patient Satisfaction		
- Prioritizing		
- Delegation		
- Communication		
Patient Satisfaction Survey		
-Daily Management Round		

Table 8

Workload Effects on the Quality of Healthcare Services and Profitability of Nursing Homes'

Theme, Themes, and Subthemes of 35 Participants (Admins and Workers)

Themes	Subthemes			
Complaint	Investigation			
	10 out of 14 admins said that the complaint would be investigated immediately and the			
	corrective action will be taken as soon as possible. The other 4 admins said that the complaint			
	will be addressed to the right department to take care of.			
	Education and training			
	2 out of 14 admins said that the employees are trained on how to handle the grievance or			
	complaint forms and then afterwards address them to the admin office.			
	16 out of 21 healthcare workers said that in order to handle high workload, the management			
	team has to provide enough training.			
	Changing the assignment			
	2 out of 14 from the admin participants are able to change the assignment in case of an			
	unsatisfied patient.			
Workload	Patient Satisfaction			
Management	16 out of 21 healthcare workers mentioned that increased workload will decrease patient			
	satisfaction.			
	Prioritization			
	5 out of 21 health care workers said that the quality of healthcare services is not affected by			
	high workload, and it could be managed by prioritizing and delegating their tasks, as well as			
	asking for help from the clinical management team.			
	Delegation			
	5 out of 21 health care workers said that the quality of healthcare services is not affected by			
	high workload, and it can be managed by prioritizing and delegating their tasks, as well as			
	asking for help from the clinical management team.			

	Communication
	1 out of 21 healthcare workers said that in cases of high workload, they explain the situation to
	the patients and clarify that they have to fulfil the more urgent needs first.
Satisfaction	Daily Management Round
Survey	14 out of 14 admin teams declared that there is no in-house patient satisfaction survey in place,
	but they have daily manger rounds to figure out if patients are satisfied or not. Two admin
	teams added that they depend on a third-party company to conduct a post-discharge survey.
Patient	Word-of-mouth
Retention&	12 out of 14 admin teams mentioned that word-of-mouth affects the availability of receiving a
Admit New	new patient, which affects the profitability of the facility.
Patients	
	CMS Rating
	2 out of 14 admin teams stated that most patients depend on the CMS rating and not on the
	reputation of the facility.
Staffing	High Patient to Health Care Worker Ratio
	Staffing strategy depends on the admin team's declaration: CNA 8-20 and nurses 12-30.
	Depending on health care workers' declaration, CNA ranges from 10-26, while the nurses
	range from 15-32 patients.
	10 out of 21 health care workers said they are usually assigned more patients than they can
	handle.
	Patient Acuity
	13 out of 14 admin participants declared that the staffing policy depends on patient acuity.
	Changing The Staffing Strategy
	2 out of 14 admins declared that they should hire more staff to handle the unsatisfied patients
	relating to the clinical health services provided.

response to high workload problems.
Employees' Competencies
1 out of 14 admin participants declared that the staffing policy depends on the employees'
competencies.
Agency
2 out of 14 of the admins shared that they are using agencies in case of a shortage of staffing
and high workload.

16 out of 21 health care workers declared that the admin department has to hire more staff in

Themes and Subthemes

Complaint. Three themes have emerged from participant statements that display how leading teams in nursing homes deal with patients' complaints and unsatisfied patients. Investigating, training, educating, and changing employee assignments have been used individually or in combination when going through the patients' complaint process.

Investigation. The number of complaints related to the clinical services were between 2 to 5 on a monthly basis, according to the administrators and the directors of the nursing department. In case of a complaint, the administration department were involved and were to investigate the source of the complaint. The grievance book will be preserved by the regulations of the Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and the State of Texas as well. When the complaint was documented, it became a grievance, and the feedback from the management department about the result of the investigation was transferred over to the patient and the patient's family. In order to prevent the complaint from taking place once more, techniques were applied to train and educate the health care workers, and changing the worker assignment was also likely. The first theme was the investigation following each patient's complaint. Ten participants from the administration following would be investigated immediately,

and the corrective action will be taken as soon as possible. Administrator #1 stated: "We have a grievance book. The grievance form will be filled in by the resident or his/her family members and it will be investigated." Four participants from the admin team said that the complaint will be addressed to the right department to take care of. Previous literature defines grievance as "a formal or informal written or verbal complaint that is made to the healthcare facility by a patient, or the patient's representative, regarding the patient's care, abuse or neglect, or issues related to the hospital's compliance with the CMS" (Bayer et al., 2021). Regarding to the reasons behind the complaints, Raberus et al. (2019) stated that "the purpose regarding the complaints is often reflected across six factors; access to healthcare services, continuity and follow-up, incidents and patient harm, communication, attitudes and approaches, and healthcare options pursued against the patient's wishes." This research used complaints and grievances as indicators of the quality of the health care services. How the healthcare providers and the management team approach the complaints shows the degree and the persistence of the healthcare quality. van Dael et al. (2020) stated that "Complaints could be linked to overall patient satisfaction rates to reveal latent incidents that may explain changes over time." The process of handling grievances is by having the patients or their families fill out a grievance form, which is then analyzed in order to figure out the root cause/causes of the event, then the corrective actions are taken if needed. This process, in addition to its main goal of fixing the current status and eliminating the cause of the complaints, also eliminates the severity and the occurrence of the complaint's cause in the future. Through the steps taken during the process of handling the patients' complaints, it is evident that the healthcare admin teams are involved directly or indirectly in the investigation process to solve the complaint and prevent further future occurrences.

Education and Training. Training and education, as mentioned in the in-person interviews, was an essential tool for providing healthcare services effectively and efficiently, which leads to a decrease in patient dissatisfaction and limits the number of patients' complaints. The process starts from the first day on the job by providing new employees with full and thorough training. Further training has been provided as well in cases of complaints or grievances related to lack of training or knowledge. In the response of handling patient complaints, the second theme, education and training, was identified. Two participants from the leadership team said that the employees are trained in how to handle the grievance or complaint forms, and then afterwards addressing them to the admin office. Administrator #2 stated:

The quality of training during the new staff orientation is very thorough. We make sure that all staff members are trained very well, their needs are respected, their initial training is sufficient, and ensure that they get a full introduction to the facility nuances and job specifications. In cases of complaints, investigation and education is our main tool for handling the situation and prevents it from occurring in the future.

Health care providers provided their input as well. They mentioned that continuous training and education will help them in handling critical situations. Sixteen healthcare workers said that in order to handle a high workload, the management team has to provide enough training. Continuous training even after hiring is an important factor in providing optimum healthcare services. As mentioned, employees are trained to handle complaints, which start from the reporting stage (by patient or family member), and how the complaint form will be delivered to the management team to get investigated and resolved. This participation matches previous studies that insist on the cruciality of employees' training and education before and during their job journey. Kim et al. (2022) stated that organizational factors, such as the staff education

system and the composition of appropriate personnel, should be strengthened to establish a patient safety culture in nursing homes, for which policy support is crucial. Eastman and Kernan (2022) stated that following nursing education, it is expected that the nursing staff will have a better understanding of patient acuity and thus create more equitable nurse-patient assignments that take into consideration current and future needs of the individual patient's care.

Changing the Assignment. Changing the staffing assignment by increasing the number of employees is costly and sometimes cannot be applied abruptly due to shortages of staff delaying the hiring process. Some staff changes could be applied without having to increase the number of staff, like changing the assignment by giving more of the workload to the expert healthcare workers or changing the assignment according to the patients' preferences. The third theme identified was changing the employees' assignments in response to complaints and unsatisfied patients. Two participants from the admin team said that they are able to change the assignment in cases of unsatisfied patients. Director of Nursing (DON) #7 stated that

If the complaint is about the provided health care or a delay in providing the health care service, the staffing policy will be adjusted accordingly, like hiring more staff members

In spite of its cost inefficiency, admin teams occasionally adjust employees' assignments by increasing the number of employees or replacing unskilled employees with more skilled ones. This was consistent with previous studies that manifest the relation between the quality of health care services and the employees' assignments. Koca et al. (2024) stated "To increase the quality of work life, it is necessary to balance the workload distribution among employees and create a suitable organizational climate. For this, it can benefit all stakeholders, especially managers, to act together."

or making changes to the staffing assignment in sake of satisfying patient needs.

Workload Management. While answering their in-person interview questions, participants of the study mentioned that the satisfaction of the patient is affected by high workload. When handling high workload, healthcare providers develop several individual coping mechanisms to meet patients' needs and to lower the possibilities of mistakes during a high workload situation. There are several themes that have been identified when coping with high workload, like prioritization, delegation, and communication.

Patient Satisfaction. Upon the declarations of health care workers and the management teams, the quality of the provided health care services was affected by high workload. The fourth theme identified regarding high workload was the level of patient satisfaction. Sixteen participants from the health care workers mentioned that increased workload will decrease patient satisfaction. Nurse Assistant (CNA) #1 stated,

By assigning me more patients than I can handle or tolerate, it is hard to provide the proper care due to the high workload, which affects the work ethics of providing the right healthcare services and accurate customer services and deteriorates patient satisfaction. Registered Nurse (RN) #2 said "An increased number of patients certainly does affect patient satisfaction. I will still do everything required of me, but patient services will be affected." Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #6 stated:

Most likely, it's possible that in assigning more patients, it can delay the process of giving certain medications and taking care of patients in the right way, affecting the quality of services and the empathy towards the patient. In summary, when we have a higher workload, we are in a rush to give medications or other medical services and cannot provide decent customer services.

Most of the participants mentioned the effect of a high workload on patient satisfaction and the quality of the provided healthcare services like medication dissemination, customer services, and the number of complaints. This was consistent with previous literature. Wang et al. (2023) stated that Overloads, including extended working hours and high workloads, left healthcare workers without good rest and prone to occupational fatigue, which affected their mental and physical health. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that more than half of U.S. nursing homes were found to have lower RN, CNA, and total nurse staffing levels than what is recommended by experts, with one quarter of nursing homes that have dangerously low staffing. Griffiths et al. (2020) stated that low nurse staffing levels are associated with adverse outcomes, most notably mortality.

Prioritization. A number of the health care workers who were interviewed and were in a situation where they had to deal with high workload developed a methodology of handling a great deal of workload by prioritizing the work that had to be done. The process started by healthcare workers analyzing their workload at first glance at the start of each shift and after receiving summary reports from the health care workers in the previous shift. In response to the high workload and how to manage it from health care workers' perspectives, another theme that emerged was work prioritization. Health care workers, in response to high workload, prioritize their daily activities by tackling the most important task and moving on to less important ones. Five health care workers dictated that high workload could be managed by prioritizing activities. Nurse Assistant (CNA) #3 said that "In the situation of having to handle more patients than I can usually tolerate, I know how to handle it by prioritizing tasks and meeting the most important needs first." Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #2 said that "In case of work overload, I prioritize my tasks." For example,

I focus first on patients that need their pain medication and then proceed to shift my focus to patients that have a feeding tube. This way, I focus on the most critical patients first then move on to other patients.

In sake of handling workload and the level of stress, healthcare workers have developed a coping mechanism like prioritizing their activities and rearranging their work based on the cruciality of the patients' needs. The data are compatible with previous literature. Søvold et al. (2021) stated that to avoid accumulation of stress during times of crisis or other challenging working conditions, healthcare workers should try to prioritize and simplify tasks; focus on one task at a time whenever possible; set healthy boundaries; communicate in a self-assertive way; and seek support for important clinical decisions.

Delegation. Delegation of tasks during work overload was highly usable in nursing home facilities, especially when it was applicable depending on the scope of practice and the ability of the tasks to be delegated. Upon the health workers' declarations (i.e., nurses and nurses assistants), the delegation proceeded to decide if it was applicable to other health care workers or to one of the available clinical management team members. A few interviewed healthcare employees (i.e., nurses and nurses' assistants) mentioned that delegation can be used in a nursing home setting to handle the work overload, but to a certain extent. Delegation is not usually acceptable, depending on the employee's scope of practice and skills level. In response to the high workload, delegation has emerged as a theme in handling the high workload in nursing homes. Five health care workers dictated that the high workload could be managed by delegating some activities to another coworker or to the clinical management team. Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #4 stated,

When I'm overwhelmed, some activities are delegated to other health care workers, especially the medical aid and the nurse assistants, or someone on the management team who's available and willing to help. Even when there is work overload, the work can be handled efficiently.

Nurse Assistant (CNA) #4 said, "In instances of work overload, I will ask for help, especially if I am dealing with a critical patient and when there is no way to delay the delivery of health care services." The participants' dictations align with previous literatures that mention using delegation as a technique of handling high workload and lack of manpower. Shore et al. (2022) stated that delegation may not improve care but may prevent deterioration of care, or missed care, that can occur due to a lack of resources.

Communication. Communication in nursing homes was an essential tool when it came to solving issues or grievances from unsatisfied patients or families. The communication between health care workers and between the direct health care providers and the management team eliminates a lot of staffing problems and the excess workload. In the circumstances of a direct provider having an overwhelming assignment on their hands, they can communicate with management to get more help from them, like getting extra help with patients or being offered a less challenging assignment if possible. Communication between healthcare providers and patients was crucial in getting more information about patient needs and how they were satisfied. The health care workers can, through communication, prioritize their tasks more efficiently as well. In response to the high workload, another coping mechanism of handling work overload is by healthcare services providers communicating with patients and explaining the cruciality of another patient's situation to get them to symphonize and be patient before their needs are able to be met. This method of handling workload is not as familiar or widespread in nursing homes.

Just one participant explained that communication with patients will help in managing workload. Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #5 said,

When I am in a stressful situation where I have a lot of work to get done, I communicate with patients who wish for my assistance and explain to them that there are other patients who require urgent attention right now, and I promise to fulfill their needs after working through the more urgent situation.

No previous study has been found or recognized in the area. However, as mentioned in previous literature, the communication with peers and the management team is crucial in reaching the objectives of the healthcare facilities and increasing patient satisfaction. Novaes et al. (2023) stated that communication and interprofessional teamwork are fundamental to optimal outcomes in healthcare, as they are the basis of good professional practice.

Satisfaction Survey. In nursing homes, it was not required to hold a weekly or even monthly patient satisfaction survey. They did, however, have different processes of screening patient satisfaction through daily management rounds and partaking in a discharge survey for patients using a third-party.

Daily Management Round. A satisfaction survey is not as common in the nursing home setting, especially since there are no federal or state regulations that force nursing homes to do periodic patient satisfaction surveys. Usually, nursing homes depend on patient complaints or undocumented daily rounds to check the degree of patient satisfaction experience throughout the facility. In response to sequences of patient satisfaction surveys, a new theme was identified: the daily management round is a widespread technique in scanning the level of patient satisfaction in the nursing home and solving a patient's complaint early on. All participants from the admin team (administrators and directors of nursing department) declared that there is no in-house

patient satisfaction survey in place, but they have daily manger rounds to figure out if patients are satisfied or not. Administrator #5 said, "We meet with patients periodically and assign managers to complete rounding on a daily basis from Monday to Friday and ask questions relating to satisfaction and complaints." Director of Nursing (DON) #3 said:

We have a patient satisfaction survey on a discharge basis only. We send discharged patients a link to rate the provided health care service during their stay. We also have management perform rounding, and each department's managers have been assigned several patients to check on weekly. If there's any complaints or unsatisfied patients, the situation will be discussed in our daily meeting and handled directly.

There is no previous research conducted regarding the existence of a satisfaction survey in nursing homes.

Patient Retention and Admitting New Patients. The profitability of nursing homes relates directly to the number of patients they have. A low number of patients will hinder the nursing home's ability to cover its fixed and variable expenses. Patients or their families, according to the leader team's declarations, rely on the facility's reputation (word of mouth) and CMS rating website to choose the nursing home they want to reside in.

Word-of Mouth. Nursing homes, like any other business or facility, depend on their reputation to get more patients. The number of patients (the patient census) correlated directly to the profitability of the nursing home. The greater the number of patients, the more reimbursement collected from public insurance companies (Medicare and Medicare) and private insurance companies (commercial insurance). Early discharge due to unsatisfied patients through unsolved complaints or poor healthcare services set the facility at risk of penalties or even more serious consequences. A new theme has been identified during the in-person interviews, which

recognizes that word-of-mouth plays a part in acquiring new patients. Word-of-mouth reveals the level of patient satisfaction and the quality of the provided health care services in nursing homes. Twelve participants from the admin team mentioned that word-of-mouth affects how frequently a nursing home receives a new patient, which affects the profitability of the facility.

Administrator #3 said, "In this facility, word-of-mouth, reputation, and patient contentment is very important in order to get new patients and retain current patients." Director of Nursing (DON) #4 said,

Patient satisfaction relates to our profitability since feedback and bad reviews will ruin our reputation and negatively affect the number of patients being admitted. Also, reputation can affect our relationship with doctors who rely on us and send patients to our facility.

In order for nursing homes to stay financially feasible and profitable to their owners, they have to attract more clients (patients), and decrease the interruption stay or early leave. Most of the leadership teams in nursing homes believe that word-of-mouth is the main factor that patients or their families rely on in their nursing home choosing process. This was consistent with previous literature. Lu et al. (2021) stated that service quality supplied by nursing homes has the following important features: First, quality is delivered after purchase, allowing caregivers to "shirk" relative to the implicitly promised quality level. Second, it is difficult for patients to identify quality ex-ante and verify it ex-post. Instead, patients rely on report cards, word of mouth, or brand reputation to form their expectations of quality.

CMS Rating. Prospective patients sometimes depend solely on the CMS rating website during their process of choosing the right facility fit for them. Nursing homes were given ratings from 1 star to 5 stars depending on the quality of care, staffing, and survey performance. The

CMS rating website gave more information about the nursing home, which the prospective patient could rely on to choose the most efficient and convenient nursing home for their needs. The CMS rating program reflects the quality of the provided health care services. CMS ratings address care quality, and the families' satisfaction measures quality of life and care quality. High satisfaction is associated with high care quality and quality of life; lower satisfaction is associated with lower care quality (Kusmaul et al., 2023). Regarding patient retention and attracting more patients to nursing home facilities, a new theme has been identified during the inperson interviews. According to a few administrators, the CMS rating affects patients' decisions in choosing a nursing home. Two participants from the admin team declared that the CMS rating is what most patients depend on in choosing their nursing home, rather than the facility's reputation. Administrator #7 said, "Word-of-mouth or reputation are not the only factors that patients rely on to seek out where they want to reside. Some of the patients or their families choose their facility depending on the CMS rating." As mentioned before, a few of the nursing home leaders mentioned that the patients or their families rely more on the CMS rating in choosing the nursing home. This is consistent with previous literature, which exhibits the importance of the CMS rating website and its reflection on the degree of patient satisfaction. Kusmaul et al. (2023) stated that there is a strong association between CMS ratings and satisfaction at the extremes of the 5-star system.

Staffing. The staffing process is an essential process in any nursing home. Several themes emerged while interviewing the participants. Patient acuity and the employees' competencies have been incorporated when creating the assignments. Handling workload, from the management teams' stand points, can be handled through changing assignments or using

temporary employees. The patient-healthcare worker ratio is not unified and varies from nursing home to nursing home.

High Patient to Health Care Worker Ration. Depending on the administrators' and the DONs' declarations, the average nurse-patient ratio had a range of 1:12 to 1:30. The certified nurse assistant patient ratio had a range of 1:8 to 1:20. Because of patient acuities and specifications of the nursing homes, some nursing homes were provided with extra services like in-house dialysis and ventilation. Depending on the health care workers' declaration, the number of assigned patients to each nurse assistant (CNA) was between 10 and 26 patients for one CNA, while the nurse-to-patient ratio was 15-32 patients for a nurse. The labor cost is the main contributor to the variable cost in nursing homes. In the absence of the staffing requirement, nursing homes can increase the number of patients an employee has to take care of, which could possibly be more than they can handle, in sake of decreasing the variable cost. This theme was made clear in the participant declaration. Employees in one nursing home were taking care of 32 patients per employee, while employees at the same level of licensure and experience were taking care of 15 patients each in another nursing home. This is consistent with previous literature. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that nurse staffing is one of the primary cost components for nursing homes. During the in-person interview, ten participants mentioned that they are usually assigned more patients than they can handle. The theme of a high patient to health care ratio was clearly identified during the in-person interviews. Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #6 said, "Usually, I'm being assigned more patients than expected, like 30 patients instead of 20. At nights, the number of patients I'm in charge of can reach to about 60 patients." This theme is consistent with previous literatures. Geng et al. (2019) stated that it is common for nursing homes to keep staffing costs as low as possible to maximize profits. New payroll-based

data reveals large daily staffing fluctuations, low weekend staffing, and daily staffing levels often below the expectations of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Harrington et al. (2020) stated that most nursing homes do not provide sufficient staffing to ensure basic quality.

Patient Acuity. The management team (administrators and DONs) take into consideration each patient's acuity and needs when it comes to drafting the staffing policy. There is no specific number of patients that were assigned to each nurse or nurse assistant; it depends on how the facility views the patient requirements and employees' competencies. Patient acuity, according to most of the leadership teams' declaration, is the main factor in deciding the appropriate assignment. The more critical a patient's situation is, the more skilled personnel or the more manpower needed to handle the cruciality of the situation. Thirteen participants from the staffing policy. Administrator #1 said,

The staffing policy is based on the patient's acuity and the number of patients. For example, if the patient came in with a trach (artificial windpipe) or high acuity, then we decide that we need a higher licensure healthcare worker or a greater number of staffing. This is consistent with previous literature, which also considers patient acuity a leading factor when it comes to determining the staffing and drafting the assignment. Juvé-Udina et al. (2020) stated that the nurse managers play a pivotal role in exercising best leadership practices that consider nurse expertise and patient acuity, in designing and implementing plans to improve the work environments to minimize missed nursing care, and in hustling policymakers to address structural understaffing in general wards to improve patient outcomes. *Staffing Strategy.* The administrators and the DONs insisted on the importance of orientation and fully educating the new hires about the nuance of the facility before having them fully participate in the work environment. The nurses and the nurse assistants, on the other hand, voiced that administrations should hire additional staff in cases of continuous high workload and surges in the number of patients. Two participants from the leading team mentioned that the staffing assignment can be changed in sake of handling an unsatisfied patient. Administrator #2 said,

We hire employees who have a passion in providing elderly patients the services that they need. Hiring the right employees decreases the turnover rate. When needed, PRN (used as needed) employees are hired to cover any shortages or employee absenteeism. We always hire PRN employees in case we need coverage. Usually, we schedule two months in advance.

Sixteen healthcare workers mentioned that leaders should increase the number of employees in cases of high workload. Licensed Vocational Nurse (LVN) #6 said, "Management should hire enough staff and PRN to effectively handle emergencies or employee absence." This is consistent with previous literatures, which show that many nursing homes are understaffed, which consequently leads to an increase in the risk of medical errors and impaired quality of healthcare services, ultimately leading to lower patient satisfaction. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that most nursing homes do not provide sufficient staffing to ensure basic quality. De Hert (2020) stated that healthcare workers seem to be at particular risk for burnout, which may have significant professional consequences such as lower patient satisfaction, impaired quality of care, and even major medical errors. Insufficient staffing leads to the rationing of time of care, which has an important impact on the occurrence of missed care (Haegdorens et al., 2019).

Employees' Competencies. The staffing assignment were dependent on the employees' competencies as well. The more skilled and higher licensure employees were assigned additional patients, or the most critical and time-consuming patients. A theme regarding employees' competencies has been identified when interviewing the admin team concerning employees' staffing. One administrator declared that the staffing policy depends on the employees' competencies in addition to patient acuity. Administrator #4 said, "If the patient came with a trach (artificial windpipe) or high acuity, then we determine if we need a higher licensure healthcare worker or a greater number of staffing."

This administrator mentioned that there is another factor that should be considered when developing staffing and the assignment, which is the employees' competencies. This is consistent with previous research, which also shows that employee competencies are part and parcel of the level of quality of the provided health care services. Neves et al. (2020) stated that nurse staffing (the quantity and competencies) and teamwork indirectly influence the quality of care. This process is mediated by the response capacity, the use of new techniques and work methods and patient's surveillance capacity. Neves et al. (2020) stated that optimizing nursing care safety and quality requires an adequate nurse staffing level, both in terms of number and competencies, as well as teamwork.

Agency. Like any other healthcare facility, nursing homes temporarily outsourced employees when they had a quick surge of patient numbers or did not have enough employees on board to cover the patients' needs. Hiring the right employee and training them well limited the turnover rate and increased the quality of provided health care services. Two participants from the admin team shared that they are using agencies in cases of shortage of staffing and high workload. These nursing home leaders mentioned that the temporary employees (temporary workers acquired from agencies) could be used to deal with high workload. The use of agencies is an expensive method of handling a high workload. DON (Director of Nurses) #6 said,

In situations where there is a staffing problem like lack of staffing, we use a staffing agency for the shortages of staff temporarily. If the issue of a shortage of staff turns out to be long-term, we hire more people that can provide sufficient training in order to cover the shortages and limiting the use of an agency (agencies are generally considered more expensive and less efficient).

No research has been previously done that covers the use of agencies in handling the high workload, but research still shows that the use of agencies is still common, especially during the persistent situation of the shortage of healthcare providers. Knutsen (2018) stated that the huge shortage of nurses predicted for the coming years because of the growing elderly population is an important motivation for temporary work agencies to remain in the market for temporary nurses.

Qualitative Research Questions

The qualitative results addressed three research questions (RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3). The data were collected by the in-person interview method and the results of the qualitative data were organized by research questions.

RQ1- How does increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes impact the quality of provided healthcare services?

Each participant provided significant statements explaining their personal and professional experience at their time in nursing homes. Several participants had agreeing statements about the effects of high workload on the quality of health care services. Sixteen health care workers mentioned in their statements that with handling more patients than they can tolerate, the quality of health care services and patient satisfaction decreased, due to the shorter time dedicated to each patient. In addition to the quality of the health care services, three health care workers mentioned that the quality of customer services were affected as well, since the insufficient time assigned to patients led to low customer services, such as not answering all of the patients' questions.

RQ2- How does the increase in medical errors (complaints) in nursing homes, as an indicator of the quality of provided healthcare services, impact the level of customer satisfaction and reflect on the profitability of the business?

According to the administration department, the grievance number on a monthly basis ranged from 2 to 5 per month, which was handled through investigation and additional education of employees. After receiving the complaint form (grievance form), the administrator and the DON would go over the details of the complaint and go through with the investigation process until they found the root cause. If the complaint was substantiated and related to one of the health care providers, additional training to the employee was applied and documented as a corrective action. When replying to the interview question of how the management team handles patient complaints, which were often associated with the provided healthcare services, 10 participants mentioned that complaints were handled by investigating the find the root cause of the issue and further educating and training of employees. The complaint, or grievance forms, were preserved in the grievance book for a State of Texas review during the annual survey or in case there are any litigations against the facility. In addition to that, the complaint would be reported to the state if the complaint is reportable. In some cases, the complaint should be reported to the State of Texas. The form of self-report by the nursing home would be filled out and sent to the State of Texas attached with a full documentation of the complaint and the taken corrective action. The state would check the issue out and make a site visit if proven needed.

Relating to the profitability, 12 out of 14 nursing home management teams agreed that the profitability, which correlated to patient retention and admitting more patients, was related to the reputation of the facility and the quality of the provided healthcare services. The remaining two department management teams specified that the profitability was not affected by the reputation of the facility, but rather to the CMS rating program, which gets its results from the result of the last state site visit (i.e., annual visit or visit related to an incident or complaint) and the staffing policy.

RQ3- What are the relational and professional practices that can help overcome the obstacles of increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes?

In handling high workload, health care workers prioritize their daily activities, delegate some of their tasks (i.e., if applicable depending on the scope of practice), and ask for the management team's (clinical team's) help. 12 out of 14 health care workers depended on prioritizing work in order to handle daily activities. Communication in nursing homes was an essential tool in solving complaints, issues, and unsatisfied patients' problems. Communication between one health care worker to another health care worker, between the health care providers and the management team, and between health care providers with patients eliminates numerous staffing problems and the overload of work. In an event where health care providers were assigned an overwhelming assignment, they can communicate with management to get help in serving patients or changing the assignment if possible. Health providers can communicate with patients about their concerns and get their needs satisfied in an order relating to the levels of urgency of the situations. Communication with management was considered a way of handling high workload by having health care providers explain to the management team the drawbacks of high workload to get more management involvement of daily work.

Quantitative Results

The data were collected from a primary source of information (Medicare.gov). The results of the quantitative data were organized by research questions and hypotheses.

Research question 4: What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints, as well as between the staff-patient ratio and bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, TX?

Hypotheses, H4o: There is no statistically significant relationship between the staffpatient ratio and the probability of the nursing home, and between patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

H4a: There is a significant relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the probability of the nursing home, and between patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

H4 addressed RQ4 and sought to explain the influence of high workload on patient complaints as an indication of patient satisfaction and business profitability. The independent variable was nursing hours per patient per day as an ordinal value which is reflected as a star rating system from 1 star to 5 stars (to get more accurate data, the Medicare website has provided detailed data of the time provided per healthcare workers to patients (residents) in nursing homes). The dependent variables were patient complaints as a discrete value, and bed occupancy rate as a continuous value. The results were exported from Microsoft® Excel into SPSS for analysis.

Pilot Test

Reliability is the extent to which an experiment, test, or procedure yields the same results on repeated trials and the validity, is the extent to which an indicator measures what it purports to measure (Scott et al., 2019). In this research's quantitative approach, the purpose of establishing reliability and validity was to make sure that the collected data were replicable, and the result of the analysis was accurate. The reliability and validity of the research has been carefully attended to, starting from the research design and planning methods to writing the research result after the analysis of the gathered data. The interrater reliability is a degree of agreement between rates. As stated by Scheel et al. (2018), "Inter-rater reliability refers to the consistency of data recorded by two or more raters by measuring the same subjects over a single trial." Internal consistency is a measure of reliability, which means that we can get the same result if we repeat the test. In the reliability statistics, the alpha co-oefficient will be used to measure the reliability of the data, and the results have to be higher than .70 to consider the data reliable. The items should be correlated and the scale should indicate a good internal consistency. The KMO measure should be greater than .70, and the Bartlett's test shoud be less than .05. This means that the data are correlated high enough to provide a valid and reasonable analysis. Before going further into analyzing the collected quantitative data, a pilot study was applied to nine readings out of the sample. The results plotted in Table 9 are as following: KMO is equal to seven and the Bartlett's test result is less than 0.05.

Researchers should consider validity during every step in developing the research, from the designing phase until publishing the final research results. Qualitative research could not be trustworthy without validating the used methods and confirming that it measures what is intended to be measured. On the other hand, research reliability is identified as used methods that are consistent and produce the same result if researchers use it again under the same conditions. Cypress (2017) stated that reliability and validity are two factors that any qualitative researcher should be concerned about while designing a study, analyzing results, and judging its quality. Roberts and Priest (2006) explained that validity describes the extent to which a measure accurately represents the concept it claims to measure, and reliability is the proportion of variability in a measured score that is due to variability in the true score.

Mixed methods design necessitates the validity of the results of the quantitative approach and the results of the qualitative approach. The validation and reliability construct that is used and applied is a mix between corroborating evidence and collaborating with participants. By reviewing the literature and holding conversations with the participants, the main codes will be organized. After conducting the interviews and triangulating the data, some of the codes may be validated and many emerged codes may show up. Creswell and Poth (2018) explained that researchers make use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigations, and theories to provide corroborating evidence. The collaboration with participants method was also used in sake of getting some ideas from a number of research articles that handled the same subject. Tigges et al. (2019) explained that collaboration measures were identified using both a literature review based on specific keywords and an environmental scan.

Table 9

Pilot Test

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling		0.684
Adequacy.		
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-	9.915
	Square	
	df	3
	Sig	0.019

Note. Nine readings have been chosen randomly from the sample.

The fourth research question, "What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints, and between the staff-patient ratio and the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, TX?," was addressed through the ANOVA method. The ANOVA method was conducted to compare the effect of staff-patient ratio (i.e., daily nursing hours provided per patient) on patient complaints and bed occupancy which reflects on the nursing homes' profitability. Comparisons were made between 2.51-3.00 daily nursing hours per patient, 3.01-3.50 daily nursing hours per patient, 3.51-4.00 daily nursing hours per patient, 4.01-4.50 daily nursing hours per patient, and 4.51-ABOVE daily nursing hours per patient. On one side, there was no significant difference in the number of the provided nursing hours per patient among patients' complaint at the p > .05 level for the six groups F (5, 91) = 1.376, p = 0.241. One the other side, there was a significant difference in the number of the provided nursing hours among the bed occupancy rate at the p < .05 level for the six groups F (5, 91) = 4.639, p < .001. if the P-value of the ANOVA is statistically significant, then the null hypothesis will be rejected and the alternative hypothesis will be accepted as "There is a significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and the profitability of the nursing home."

The post-hoc comparison between groups was conducted, which allows us to explore the differences between the multiple groups' means. The LSD post hoc test results revealed that 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient had a significantly higher bed occupancy rate (M= 80.93, SD= 10.53) compared to the 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient (M= 59.01, SD= 9.50) and 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient (M= 41.17, SD= 20.73). There was no significant difference in bed occupancy rate between 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient and 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient, 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient, and 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours per patient.
The LSD post hoc test results revealed that the 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient had a significant lower bed occupancy rate (M= 67.84, SD= 17.63) compared to the 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient (M= 80.93, SD= 10.53) and a significant higher bed occupancy rate to the 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient (M= 41.17, SD= 20.73). There was no significant difference in bed occupancy rate between 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient and 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient, 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient, and 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours per patient.

The LSD post hoc test results revealed that the 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient had a significant higher bed occupancy rate (M=71.25, SD=12.83) to 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient (M= 59.01, SD= 9.50) and 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient (M= 41.17, SD= 20.73). There is no significant difference in bed occupancy rate between 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient and 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient, 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient, and 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours per patient.

The LSD post hoc test results revealed that 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patients had a significant lower bed occupancy rate (M=59.01, SD=9.50) to 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient (M=80.93, SD=10.53) and 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient (M=71.25, SD=12.83), as well as a significantly higher bed occupancy rate to the 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient (M=41.17, SD=20.73). There is no significant difference in bed occupancy rate between 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient and 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient and 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours/patient.

The LSD post hoc test results revealed that 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient had a significantly lower bed occupancy rate (M= 41.17, SD= 20.73) to the 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient (M= 80.93, SD= 10.53), 2.51-3.00 nursing hours per patient (M= 67.84, SD= 17.63),

3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient (*M*=71.25, *SD*=12.83), 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient (*M*= 59.01, *SD*= 9.50), and 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours per patient (*M*= 71.23, *SD*= 21.09).

The LSD post hoc test results revealed that 4.51-ABOVE nursing hours per patient had a significantly higher bed occupancy rate (M=71.23, SD=21.09) compared to 4.01-4.50 nursing hours per patient (M= 41.17, SD= 20.73). There was no significant difference in the bed occupancy rate between 4.51-ABOVE and 2-2.5 nursing hours per patient, 2.51-3.00 nursing hours patient, 3.01-3.50 nursing hours per patient, and 3.51-4.00 nursing hours per patient.

Table 10

Mean Differences Between Nursing Hours Per Patient and Number of Complaints and Between Nursing Hours Per Patient and Bed Occupancy Rate

	Descriptives										
					95% Confidence						
					Interval for Mean						
				Std.	Std.	Lower	Upper	Minim	Maxim		
		Ν	Mean	Deviation	Error	Bound	Bound	um	um		
Bed	2-2.5 hours	4	80.94	10.54	5.27	64.17	97.70	67.90	92.93		
Occupancy	2.51-3.00	25	67.84	17.63	3.53	60.56	75.12	29.45	95.75		
Rate	hours										
	3.01-3.50	50	71.25	12.84	1.816	67.60	74.90	43.08	97.95		
	hours										
	3.51-4.00	10	59.02	9.51	3.01	52.22	65.81	45.19	71.62		
	hours										
	4.01-4.50	4	41.17	20.73	10.37	8.1741	74.1559	11.15	56.10		
	hours										

	4.51-ABOVE	4	71.24	21.09	10.55	37.68	104.80	40.27	85.89
	hours								
	Total	97	68.27	15.89	1.61	65.07	71.47	11.15	97.95
Complaints	2-2.5 hours	4	20.25	30.73	15.36	-28.65	69.15	0	66
	2.51-3.00	25	12.56	15.21	3.043	6.28	18.84	0	56
	hours								
	3.01-3.50	50	11.92	13.67	1.93	8.03	15.81	0	65
	hours								
	3.51-4.00	10	15.70	18.73	5.92	2.30	29.10	1	60
	hours								
	4.01-4.50	4	29.75	47.08	23.54	-45.16	104.66	2	100
	hours								
	4.51-ABOVE	4	.75	1.50	.75	-1.64	3.14	0	3
	hours								
	Total	97	13.09	17.51	1.78	9.56	16.62	0	100

Table 11

ANOVA Test Result.

		ANOVA				
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Complaints	Between Groups	2067.975	5	413.595	1.376	p= 0.241
	Within Groups	27362.190	91	300.683		
	Total	29430.165	96			
Bed Occupancy Rate	Between Groups	4921.525	5	984.305	4.639	<.001
	Within Groups	19310.088	91	212.199		
	Total	24231.613	96			

Table 12

LSD Post Hoc Test Results

Dependent Variable: Bed Occupancy Rate LSD

	Mean				95% Confidence Interval		
		Difference (I-			Lower	Upper	
(I) Time level	(J) Time level	J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Bound	Bound	
2-2.5 hours	2.51-3.00 hours	13.10	7.84	.098	-2.49	28.68	
	3.01-3.50 hours	9.68	7.57	.204	-5.35	24.72	
	3.51-4.00 hours	21.92*	8.62	.013	4.80	39.04	
	4.01-4.50 hours	39.77*	10.30	<.001	19.31	60.23	
	4.51-ABOVE	9.70	10.30	.349	-10.76	30.16	
	hours						
2.51-3.00 hours	2-2.5 hours	-13.10	7.84	.098	-28.68	2.49	
	3.01-3.50 hours	-3.41	3.57	.341	-10.50	3.68	
	3.51-4.00 hours	8.83	5.45	.109	-2.00	19.65	
	4.01-4.50 hours	26.68*	7.84	.001	11.09	42.26	
	4.51-ABOVE	-3.40	7.84	.666	-18.98	12.18	
	hours						
3.01-3.50 hours	2-2.5 hours	-9.68	7.57	.204	-24.72	5.35	
	2.51-3.00 hours	3.41	3.57	.341	-3.68	10.50	
	3.51-4.00 hours	12.24*	5.05	.017	2.21	22.261	
	4.01-4.50 hours	30.09*	7.57	<.001	15.05	45.12	
	4.51-ABOVE	.06	7.57	.998	-15.02	15.05	
	hours						
3.51-4.00 hours	2-2.5 hours	-21.92*	8.62	.013	-39.03	-4.80	

Multiple Comparisons

HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT

	2.51-3.00 hours	-8.83	5.45	.109	-19.65	2.00
	3.01-3.50 hours	-12.24*	5.05	.017	-22.26	-2.21
	4.01-4.50 hours	17.85*	8.68	.041	.73	34.96
	4.51-ABOVE	-12.22	8.62	.160	-29.34	4.90
	hours					
4.01-4.50 hours	2-2.5 hours	-39.77*	10.30	<.001	-60.23	-19.31
	2.51-3.00 hours	-26.68*	7.84	.001	-42.26	-11.09
	3.01-3.50 hours	-30.09*	7.57	<.001	-45.12	-15.05
	3.51-4.00 hours	-17.85*	8.618	.041	-34.97	73
	4.51-ABOVE	-30.07*	10.30	.004	-50.53	-9.61
	hours					
4.51-ABOVE hours	2-2.5 hours	-9.70	10.30	.349	-30.16	10.76
	2.51-3.00 hours	3.40	7.84	.666	-12.18	18.98
	3.01-3.50 hours	06	7.57	.998	-15.05	15.02
	3.51-4.00 hours	12.22	8.618	.160	-4.90	29.34
	4.01-4.50 hours	30.07*	10.30	.004	9.61	50.53

Note. * denotes that statistic is Statistically significant. The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

Analysis of Qualitative and Quantitative Data Combined

Following the convergent mixed methods procedures allows the qualitative and quantitative data to be collected concurrently, analyzed separately in parallel, and then integrated through merging. A narrative approach has been used in the process of final analysis of merging the quantitative and qualitative data. Integrating the results (known as weaving) connects each data set thematically, allowing the analysis of the qualitative and quantitative data to weave back and forth around similar themes or concepts. The mixed methods study resulted in a comprehensive understanding to how the qualitative components provide information about high workload's effect on patient satisfaction and profitability of nursing homes.

Quality of Health Care Services

When asked about patients' complaints during the in-person interview, admin teams presented by the administrators and the director of nurses mentioned that the number of complaints were between 2 to 5 on a monthly basis, and the complaints are investigated, and corrective action is taken appropriately. The healthcare workers will be trained accordingly in case the cause of the complaint is related to insufficient training. Little admin teams mentioned that they will change the staffing assignment in case of a patient's complaint regarding dissatisfaction. Health care workers have mentioned that patient satisfaction will be decreased when there is a high workload. From their standpoint, high workload could be managed by prioritization, delegation, and communication. The quantitative approach showed that there was no significant difference in the number of the provided nursing hours per patient among patient's complaint at the p > .05 level for the six groups F(5, 91) = 1.376, p = 0.241.

Profitability

As mentioned by the admin team, the patients' assignment and staffing depends on the patient acuity (patient's health status) and employees' competencies. In cases of a shortage of staff, the admin team can hire more staff, change the assignment, or use a temporary worker through an agency. Most of the admin team groups mentioned that word-of-mouth and the facilities' reputations were the main factors to patient retention and acquiring new patients. A few of the admin teams said that the patients or their families depend on the Medicare rating when choosing a nursing home. When running the ANOVA test for the collected quantitative data, the results showed that there was a significant difference in the number of the provided

nursing hours among the bed occupancy rate at the p < .05 level for the six groups F(5, 91) = 4.639, p < .001.

Findings, Interpretations, and Conclusions

The results of the data analysis explained in the previous sections provides the required information to address the hypotheses and research questions. The interpretation and conclusions were drawn from the study's conceptual framework of pragmatism. The framework of the convergent parallel mixed method design driven by a pragmatism paradigm provided a comprehensive view of the study. The pragmatism paradigm aligned with the core of the study that revealed the effect of high workload on the provided medical services and business profitability. The theory aligned with the methodology of the study by exploring the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and business profitability. Pragmatism framework sheds light on multiple experiences of the high workload phenomena and directs to problem solving by observing what participants say and how they act. Pragmatic inquiry recognizes that individuals within social settings (including organizations) can experience action and change differently, and this encourages them to be flexible in their investigative techniques (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). Shannon-Baker (2016) stated that pragmatism is characterized by an emphasis on communication and shared meaning-making in order to create practical solutions to social problems. The study was guided by the following research questions:

Research Questions 1: How does increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes impact the quality of provided healthcare services?

Research Questions 2: How does the increase in medical errors (complaints) in nursing homes, as an indicator of the quality of provided healthcare services, impact the level of customer satisfaction and reflect on the profitability of the business?

Research Questions 3: What are the relational and professional practices that can help to overcome the obstacles of increased workload experienced by employees in nursing homes?

Research Questions 4: What is the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the number of patient complaints, and between the staff-patient ratio and the bed occupancy rate in nursing homes in Houston, Texas?

Hypothesis:H4o: There is no statistically significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and the profitability of the nursing home, and between patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

H4a: there is a significant relationship between staff-patient ratio and the profitability of the nursing home, and between patient complaints and the profitability of the nursing home.

Findings Related to the Research Questions

To address the qualitative research questions (RQ1, RQ, and RQ3), the use of in-person interviews allowed participants to share thorough information regarding perceptions and experiences. To address the quantitative question (RQ4) and hypotheses, One-way ANOVA was used to compare the means of the independent variable groups to determine if there was a statistically significant difference between the corresponding population means.

For Research Question 1, the data revealed four themes. The themes were (a) high workload will effect on the quality of health care services, (b) patient satisfaction surveys, for the most part, have not been applied yet in nursing homes, (c) health care workers are usually assigned patient more than what they can handle, and (d) staffing (assigning patient to healthcare workers) depends on patients' acuity (health status) and employee competencies.

For Research Question 2, the data revealed five themes: (a) patients' satisfaction (indicated by word-of-mouth) will affect patient retention and acquiring new patients. (b)

complaints (which is reflected through the Medicare rating) is considered a factor patients rely on to choose their nursing home, (c) complaints will be investigated from the management team (represented by the administrator and director of nursing), (d) health care workers will be trained if the complaint is related to the quality of healthcare services, and (e) workload will be handled more effectively if healthcare workers are provided with more training.

For Research Question 3, data revealed five themes: (a) high workload is managed by prioritizing activities, (b) delegation is considered by healthcare workers when managing high workload, (c) healthcare workers communicate with patients and the management team to decrease the stress of high workload, (d) staffing assignments can be changed to manage patient complaints, and (e) an outsource agency can be used to handle staff shortages.

For Research Question 4, the statistical test measured the significant relationship between three variables: nursing hours per patient per day, patient complaints, and bed occupancy rate. there was no significant difference in the number of the provided nursing hours per patient among patients' complaint at the p > .05 level for the six groups F(5, 91) = 1.376, p = 0.241. There was, however, a significant difference in the number of the provided nursing hours among the bed occupancy rate at the p < .05 level for the six groups F(5, 91) = 4.639, p < .001.

Interpretation of Findings

The qualitative and quantitative findings of the study were based on the conceptual framework described previously in this study. The pragmatism paradigm shaped the conceptual framework for the convergent mixed methods research study, which was the paradigm of this research. The pragmatism paradigm aligned with the core of the study reveals the effect of high workload on the provided medical services and business profitability. Pragmatism framework allowed for a light to be shed on multiple experiences of the high workload phenomena and directs to problem solving by observing what participants say and how they act when studying the phenomena. Pragmatism encourages researchers to base choices on the relevance of these methods and methodologies 'in terms of carrying us from the world of practice to the world of theory and vice-versa (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). For pragmatism, creativity is always embedded in a situation; actors confront problems in a particular set of circumstances. However, the solution to these problems, the choice of action to be taken, is not clearly prescribed beforehand by reality but calls for creativity (Ormerod, 2021).

The following theories align with the methodology of the study by exploring the relationship between the staff-patient ratio and the quality of health care services and between the staff-patient ratio and business profitability. Ruf et al. (2022), regarding the capacity theory, stated that capacity shortfalls occur when the workforce is too small. They are most evident when making medium- to short-term personnel scheduling decisions that involve the construction of weekly timetables, and short-term operational planning, such as the daily assignment of tasks. Consolidation includes the stabilization and integration of memory into long-term storage to increase resistance to interference and decay. This process creates enduring structural modification in the brain and thereby has consequential effects on the function by reorganizing and strengthening neural connections. Diverse sources like sleep and stress and the release of neurotransmitters can influence memory consolidation (Sridhar et al., 2023). Ruf et al. (2022), regarding the discrepancy theory, stated that when the delivered experience is at odds with the customer's closely held beliefs and values, this creates cognitive dissonance, and instead of happiness, it is supposed to generate unhappiness and disengagement results. Karande et al. (2021), regarding the medical error theory, stated that lengthy working hours and heavy workloads are being increasingly recognized as factors that cause stress, chronic fatigue, and

sooner or later burnout in physicians, residents, and nurses. Burnout in these healthcare professionals is being recognized to result in suboptimal patient care practices and appreciably increase the risk of medical errors (Karande et al., 2021). The theories were considered throughout the study. The mixed methods study supported the conceptual framework concerning the high workload, quality of health care services, and nursing home profitability.

The research was built on literature and develops the understanding of how high workload will affect the quality of the healthcare services and the profitability of the nursing homes in Grand Houston, TX. Chang et al. (2019) stated that the increased workload experienced by healthcare service providers increases the rate of medical errors, which can lead to a loss of customer satisfaction, with common mistakes consisting of patient falls, infections, medications, and incorrect documentation. Metcalf et al. (2018) stated that understaffing and healthcare workers' work overload will increase the rate of medical errors. Sturm et al. (2019) stated that high workload can lead to more job-related stress and strain, which will effect on the patients' outcomes. Qualitative interviews were conducted to address the workload status in the targeted nursing homes. Patients were most dissatisfied when they were not met in a professional manner (Skär & Söderberg, 2018). Rosko et al. (2020) stated that the occupancy rate is positively associated with higher profitability. patients' feedback on their treatment has also become an economic factor since reimbursement as well as the reputation of hospitals in some healthcare systems are also dependent on patients' judgements of their received care (Friedel et al., 2023).

The findings from the study showed that high workload effects on the profitability of the nursing homes in Grand Houston, TX. Both the qualitative and the quantitative approach revealed the same result. Results of both the qualitative and the quantitative approaches did not give the same result regarding the effect of workload on the quality of healthcare. Since the

quantitative approach showed that there is no effect of high workload on the quality of healthcare services, the qualitative approach revealed the opposite result. The findings of the study revealed that healthcare workers sought out many ways in handling high workload, like prioritizing and delegating their activities and through communication, especially when there was a limited ability for the admin team to change the assignment and decrease workload.

Conclusion

Four research questions shaped the basis of the mixed methods research. The qualitative questions let admin teams and healthcare workers share information about personal experiences with high workload in nursing homes. The quantitative question and hypothesis provided statistical information about the relationship between variables. The data did not provide a solid answer about high workload being a contributing factor to the quality of healthcare services, while the data deepens the belief that high workload is a contributing factor on the profitability of the nursing homes. The study added additional data on how healthcare workers deal with high workload when little to no help is provided from the management team regarding the changing of the staffing assignment and increasing the number of the employees.

Application of Professional Practice

Introduction

Nursing homes play an important role hand by hand with other kinds of healthcare facilities to service the medical needs of the elderly population, which is increasing rapidly globally and nationwide. Nursing homes provide a wide range of health services to residents who end up in their facilities due to the lack of patients' ability to serve themselves or due to other health-related issues. Poor quality of healthcare services is a problem in many nursing homes in Texas. This problem threatens the life of elderly patients, who are the most vulnerable of the population. The aim of this research is to shed light on the effect of high workload on the quality of the health care services in nursing homes in Houston, Texas, and how high workload will have an effect on the profitability of the nursing homes. Defining the problem itself will help find solutions for it. Many practices can be applied at many levels, such as federal, state, organizational, or even individually to overcome the problem being examined.

Improving General Business Practice

The Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and the State of Texas, represented by the Texas Department of State Health Services, did not identify the maximum number of patients that each health care worker in the nursing home should handle (health care workers such as registered nurses, licensed vocational nurses, and certified nurse assistants). This number is determined by the facility admin team, represented by the administrator and the director of the nursing department, to decide the ratio of patients to health care workers for the sake of providing the best health care services to their patients (residents). For this reason, the staffing policy (patient to health care worker ratio) varies between nursing homes in Houston, Texas. The idea of the research is that the number of patients handled by health care providers more than their capacity (high workload) is associated with the low quality of health care services, and in the long run will negatively affect the profitability of the nursing home.

The quality of the healthcare services provided in nursing homes is affected by many factors. The study was conducted to figure out if high workload is one of the factors that can affect the quality of the provided healthcare services and the profitability of the nursing homes. As I found when reviewing previous literature, there were few studies that have been done in this field regarding this topic.

Workload can be measured by the number of patients that the healthcare worker is assigned to take care of. The quantitative part of the study showed that there was no significant relation between the workload and the quality of the health care services, while the qualitative study showed the opposite result and revealed that the quality of the provided health care services will be affected by the level of workload. Most of the healthcare workers agreed that with higher workload, the quality of provided health care services will be affected, and patient satisfaction will deteriorate accordingly. Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and the State of Texas call for nurse staffing to be determined by factors such as patient acuity and staff competencies, rather than by mandatory staffing ratios. All the nursing home facilities should be in compliance with the federal agency (which delegate the authorities to the CMS and the State agencies to enforce its regulations) for the sake of receiving payment from Medicare and Medicaid. Unroe et al. (2018) stated that nursing homes are a highly regulated setting of care and are regularly visited by both federal and state surveyors. Harrington et al. (2020) stated that nurse staffing is one of the primary cost components for nursing homes. It is common for nursing homes to keep staffing costs as low as possible to maximize profits. Many studies that have been conducted before mentioned indirectly the effect of high workload on the quality of health care services and the facility's reputation. Buljac-Samardžić and van Woerkom (2018) stated that the stress of workload has negatively impacted patient safety and may lead to issues such as infections, patient falls, medication errors, and patient mortality. Low nurse staffing levels are associated with adverse outcomes, most notably mortality (Griffiths et al., 2018).

The reasons behind assigning more patients to healthcare workers are to reduce the cost of healthcare services and increase the margin of profit. Nursing homes with an environment lacking federal or state regulation of staffing might reduce the number of healthcare workers or reduce the number of patients the one employee can handle in sake of cutting expenses. They can take advantage that there are no federal or state regulations regarding mandatory staffing policies. California and Massachusetts are the only states that have regulations regarding the nurse-to-patient ratio. All nursing homes in the United States, however, are required to report their staffing ratio to the Center of Medicare and Medicare to be publicly reported in the Medicare Compare website to provide transparency to the public so patients can make legitimate decision about where to receive health care services.

This study made the CMS and the State of Texas aware of the importance of regulating the staffing policies instead of leaving it to the nursing homes to decide, which can lead to the nursing homes abusing their rights and reduce staffing, jeopardizing patient health status. This study sheds light on the importance of proper staffing to improve the quality of the health care services and simultaneously improve the financial situation of the nursing homes in Houston, Texas by improving their reputation. The study can also expand the vision of the health care workers to apply positive coping mechanisms like prioritizing, delegating, or seeking help from the management team to handle the work overload and stress level associated with it.

Potential Application Strategies

The general business practice is to assign an adequate number of patients to healthcare workers without any restriction or predetermined ratios preidentified by the CMS or the state of Texas. This study could play an important role in leading the Center of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and the State of Texas to reconsider the staffing regulation and update its regulations, start stipulating rules and regulations in staffing policies, and require nursing homes in Houston Texas to follow the new staffing regulations. All nursing homes in Houston, Texas are mandated to follow the federal and state rules and regulations. If the regulation of staffing has changed, like requiring all nursing homes to have no more than the set maximum number of patients that the health care worker can handle, nursing homes will be required to follow this regulation to keep business open and continue getting reimbursements from public health care insurance like Medicare and Medicaid. Updating the staffing regulations will affect positively the level of stress and work overload that the health care workers are suffering from and improve the quality of the provided health care services in nursing home settings. This update will shift the administrative interest from cutting the cost to increasing the admission by focusing on increasing the quality of the health care services instead of reducing the number of employees. These changes will likely increase the cost of the health care services provided by the nursing homes, but, in the long run, will improve nursing homes' reputations and increase the number of patient admissions.

On a facility level, even with a shortage of regulations governing the staffing policy, they can increase the number of healthcare workers in their facility, which leads to a decrease in the level of the workload and stress level, increasing the time dedicated to each patient and gives fewer opportunities for medical errors. This will lead to better health care services and will be reflected, in the long run, in the profitability of the nursing homes. The monthly quality Assurance and Performance Improvement (QAPI) committee are required to meet on a monthly basis to review the quality indicators in order to improve their healthcare services. Leger and Forest (2021) stated that The QAPI model offers healthcare organizations a systematic, comprehensive, and data-driven strategy for maximizing outcomes. During the committee meetings, the staffing ratio can be reviewed and adjusted according to the expected number of patients, the patient satisfaction survey results, and patient complaints summaries.

Individually, I found in this study that healthcare workers have developed their own strategies to handle the high level of workload. Strategies such as prioritization, delegation, and seeking help from the management team have been used in varied ways and on an individual basis. These techniques could be more widespread and regulated more thoroughly in the nursing home setting. Many participants mentioned that they can use prioritizing techniques as a mechanism for handling high workload. This technique, instead of leaving it to be done on an individual basis without any restriction or rules, can be organized and documented as a policy and protocol that each healthcare worker can follow in cases of being in a situation of high workload. Delegation should be more restricted, especially since every employee should do the job depending on the scope of practice which is initiated from the level of education, licensure, and experience. Delegation, if not done properly, might initiate more problems if the task is delegated to a non-competent employee. Delegation should be regulated in the facility and healthcare workers must follow these regulations to limit the span of mistakes and errors. Seeking help from the management team is another coping mechanism that healthcare workers can use to relieve the high workload burden. In this case, the management team should be more involved and provide help to the health care providers when help is needed. The healthcare management team should be a teamwork player and be more involved in health care workers' situations and provide help when needed.

Summary

Because of the absence of regulations identifying the maximum number of patients a health care worker can handle in the nursing home setting, it induces nursing home facilities to depend on many other factors to build their staffing policies. Due to the variation of the staffing ratio between each nursing home, the quality of the provided healthcare services has varied as well. Some practices can be applied on a federal or state level to limit the variation of staffing policies. Also, some procedures or processes can be implemented on organizational and individual levels and can alleviate the effect of high workload.

Recommendations for Further Studies

The quantitative part of the study displayed that high workload would affect the quality of health care services and patient satisfaction. Regarding this finding, more research can be done to compare the health care quality between nursing homes depending on nursing hours per patient (how much nursing time is dedicated per patient). Many factors can be considered as an indicator of quality, like number of complaints, medical errors, patient satisfaction, and the State of Texas annual site evaluation results.

Very few nursing homes in Houston, Texas conduct a periodic patient satisfaction survey. This survey is not mandated by the CMS or the State of Texas. The benefit of the periodic survey should be studied more thoroughly as well, which may lead to changing the regulations regarding the survey and requiring it to be mandated.

Efficiency of employee training can be measured by the orientation and training program types and longevity. The efficiency of these programs can be reflected in the quality of healthcare services. Studies can be done in this field to see the difference between these programs and how the programs can reflect on the quality of healthcare services.

The shortages of healthcare providers in nursing homes can be studied. Is the shortage of health care providers more severe in nursing homes, or is standard and match with the national shortage level in the U.S. health system?

The qualitative and quantitative analysis of this study show that workload will affect the profitability of nursing homes. Quantitative studies can be done to define the relationship

between the staffing ratio and financial profitability. In the short term, increasing the staffing ratio will increase the cost of the nursing homes. In the long term, it will reflect positively on the facility's reputation and the CMS rating, which, in the conducted study, are considered the only two factors affecting the patient's choice to choose between nursing homes.

Reflections

Introductory Paragraph

Research in general is a long journey. Sometimes, it takes years to accomplish. Students should be very interested in the subject of the research and enthusiastic to keep pursuing the research to the end. Pursuing research will affect the personal and professional lives of the researchers, as it develops their critical thinking skills along with written and oral communication skills. A lot of other benefits will be reaped during and after finishing the research project, depending on the field and type of said research.

Personal & Professional Growth

I have been working in the healthcare field in Houston, Texas since 2012. The DBA program and the dissertation widened my view of the healthcare system in general, especially in the nursing home field. The dissertation taught me how to be more organized and dedicated, starting from choosing the problem that I found deserved to be studied until I got to analyzing and presenting what I found out from the research. The skills that I learned from this study were crucial and its advantages spread to my personal and professional life. My conceptual understanding improved a lot and led me to view the studied problem from different sides, especially during the literature review task and data collection. The mixed method research design sharpened my qualitative and quantitative research skills. This is considered a huge advantage to me, since it gave me an opportunity to implement two research designs in one

study. During the qualitative research, I learned more about how to introduce myself in the right way and how to convince the participants to cooperate with me and get their feedback. During the in-person interviews, I collected unexpected data from healthcare workers, especially regarding coping mechanisms they apply to limit the effect of high workload. Methods like delegation and prioritizing were not expected when collecting feedback.

I feel more confident and skillful in doing research relating to similar problems in the healthcare field. The health healthcare field is not static; regulations and the types of healthcare services continue to change over time, which can bring more difficulties and problems to the healthcare system. These problems deserve to be studied and analyzed thoroughly to find adequate solutions. Health care is a sensitive industry, and any delay in solving any emergent problem will cost patients' lives and amplify the problem. As a DBA student, the dissertation itself is not just a valuable teaching methodology that increases student research skills, but also provides valuable information that can be used in solving the problem being researched.

Biblical Perspective

Christianity supports research and insists on finding the best for humanity. Christianity encourages all of us to ask questions and find reasons behind the phenomenon. This would seem like "God's work" and some previous mathematicians have proposed that math is actually searching for the patterns of God (Nickel, 2001). Jeremiah 9:23-24: Thus says the LORD:

Let not the wise man boast in his wisdom, let not the mighty man boast in his might, let not the rich man boast in his riches, but let him who boasts boast in this, that he understands and knows me, that I am the LORD who practices steadfast love, justice, and righteousness in the earth. For in these things, I delight, declares the LORD. Understanding how one's cultural experiences can mix with religious faith is an important understanding of the self (Ripley & Dwiwardani, 2014). The purpose of the research was to analyze the effect of high workload on the quality of healthcare services and the financial profitability of nursing homes, as well as help the community overcome the bad effects of high workload. The qualitative and the quantitative methodologies have been used in this research to give more reliability to the study. Christianity leads researchers to do robust research and provide information that the community can get help from. Deuteronomy 13:14, 15, BBE: "Let a full search be made, and let questions be put with care." Seeking health care treatment is supported by Christianity, it is a responsibility for both patients and caregivers to seek health care treatment when needed. James 5:13-15:

Is anyone among you suffering? Let him pray. Is anyone cheerful? Let him sing praise. Is anyone among you sick? Let him call for the elders of the church, and let them pray over him, anointing him with oil in the name of the Lord. And the prayer of faith will save the one who is sick, and the Lord will raise him up. And if he has committed sins, he will be forgiven.

Research is not easy work. When things do not go according to plan, we can lose our faith in ourselves and the potential outcome in our lives. However, what does not kill you makes you stronger; we have to keep our faith and find our purpose in life. God found us for a reason, and our job is to find that reason, and never lose our faith. James 2:14-26 ESV: "What good is it, my brothers, if someone says he has faith but does not have works? Can that faith save him?" If a brother or sister is poorly clothed and lacking in daily food, and one of you says to them, "Go in peace, be warmed and filled," without giving them the things needed for the body, what good is that? So also faith by itself, if it does not have works, is dead. But someone will say, "You have

faith and I have works." Show me your faith apart from your works, and I will show you my faith by my works."

Health care providers' job is to provide the best services, especially for elderly people, the most vulnerable of our population. The number of Americans over the age of 65 is increasing much faster than the overall population's growth rate. These changes can be largely attributed to the improvement in life expectancy (Chiu & Pinto, 2018). Due to the aging situation, the use of medical services for the elderly is exceeding the rest of the population, which, therefore, puts more pressure on the healthcare system. With an increasing aging population worldwide, there is a need for a greater focus on the spirituality of older people, to better support them and lead them to an enhancement of their inner peace (Lepherd et al., 2020). Christianity is a monotheistic religion based on the life teachings and miracles of Jesus Christ. With the attainment of eternal life with God at the heart of most Christian beliefs, the acknowledged relationship between death and religion is not surprising (Choudry et al., 2018). Oberholzer (2019) stated that spirituality and healthcare have depended on and supported one another from the earliest times. Patients all over the world seek the services of faith healers for all kinds of ailments, including social and psychological issues (Peprah et al., 2018). The nurse-patient relationship is understood as the basis for transforming the patient illness experience into an encounter where patients and families gain knowledge and experience that fosters health (Pfeiffer, 2018). Genesis 2:15 "The Lord God took the man he had created and placed him in the Garden of Eden to work it and keep it." Christianity encourages people to provide the best work and services with enthusiasm, leading health care providers to take their jobs seriously and provide adequate, rather than poor, services. Ecclesiastes 9:10 says, "Whatever your hands find to do, do it with all you might, for there is no work, knowledge, or wisdom in the grave where we all end up in." Christianity speaks very lowly of lazy individuals. Proverbs 18:19, "He who is slothful in his work is a brother to him who is the destroyer of everything good."

The financial stress on the healthcare facilities and management team can lead them to lower costs in many ways. One of the big chunks that make up the expenses is the manpower cost or staffing cost. Decreasing the number of healthcare workers means assigning more patients to each provider, which, in turn, increases the workload and the stress level. The data in the qualitative part of the study displays that increased workload will affect the quality of the provided health care services. Providing unfair work or unfair treatment is prohibited by Christianity, clearly defined in Hosea 10:13:

You have plowed iniquity; you have reaped injustice; you have eaten the fruit of lies. Because you have trusted in your own way and in the multitude of your warriors, therefore the tumult of war shall arise among your people.

Summary of Section 3

High workload of healthcare workers is one of the major problems in the United States health system. Heavy workload continues to affect the quality of healthcare services and patients' safety. The study sheds light on the effect of heavy workload on patient satisfaction and the financial stability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The effect of workload on patients' satisfaction and business profitability is explored by using a mixed approach that can better help diagnosis and find the root of the problem. The research was explored by using a mixed convergent parallel method for the sake of providing more in-depth information and gives the ability to converge the extracted data from both qualitative and quantitative approaches.

Summary and Study Conclusions

The heavy workload of healthcare workers is one of the major problems in the U.S. health system. Heavy workload is affecting the quality of healthcare services and patients' safety. The study shed a light on the effect of heavy workload on patient satisfaction and the financial stability of nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The significance of the study was to understand the phenomena of high workload and its effects on the residents and the nursing home facilities in Houston, Texas. The intention was to provide more in-depth information regarding how much high workload will reflect on the quality of medical services and finances of the nursing homes. Four research questions shaped the basis of the mixed methods research. The qualitative questions let admin teams and healthcare workers share information about personal experiences with high workload in nursing homes. The quantitative question and hypothesis provided statistical information about the relationship between variables. The data did not provide a solid answer about high workload being a contributing factor to the quality of healthcare services, while the data deepens the belief that high workload is a contributing factor on the profitability of the nursing homes. The study added additional data on how healthcare workers deal with high workload when little to no help is provided from the management team regarding the changing of the staffing assignment and increasing the number of the employees.

References

- Abeliansky, A. L., Erel, D., & Strulik, H. (2020). Aging in the USA: Similarities and disparities across time and space. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 14309–14309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-71269-3
- Abutabenjeh, S., & Jaradat, R. (2018). Clarification of research design, research methods, and research methodology: A guide for public administration researchers and practitioners. *Teaching Public Administration*, *36*(3), 237–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0144739418775787
- Adeoye-Olatunde, O. A., & Olenik, N. L. (2021). Research and scholarly methods: Semi-structured interviews. JAACP: Journal of the American College of Clinical Pharmacy, 4(10), 1358–1367. https://doi.org/10.1002/jac5.1441
- Albers, M. J. (2017). Quantitative data analysis—In the graduate curriculum. *Journal of Technical Writing and Communication*, 47(2), 215–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047281617692067
- Alkarkhi, A. F. M. (2020). Applications of hypothesis testing for environmental science. Elsevier.
- Allen, J. E. (2016). Nursing home administration (7th ed.). Springer Publishing Company.
- Allen-Duck, A., Robinson, J. C., & Stewart, M. W. (2017). Healthcare quality: A concept analysis. *Nursing Forum (Hillsdale)*, 52(4), 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12207
- Allhoff, F., & Borden, S. L. (2019). Ethics and error in medicine. Routledge.
- Almgren, G. R. (2018). *Health care politics, policy, and services: A social justice analysis* (3rd ed.). Springer Publishing Company

- Alwashmi, M. F., Hawboldt, J., Davis, E., & Fetters, M. D. (2019). The iterative convergent design for mobile health usability testing: Mixed methods approach. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(4), e11656–e11656. https://doi.org/10.2196/11656
- Al-Worafi, Y. M. (2024). Medical Errors: Overview. In Al-Worafi, Y.M. (eds), Handbook of Medical and Health Sciences in Developing Countries. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-74786-2_276-1
- Ameringer, C. F. (2018). US health policy and health care delivery: Doctors, reformers, and entrepreneurs. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316338117
- Anbari, A. B. (2015). The RN to BSN transition: A qualitative systematic review. Global Qualitative Nursing Research, 2, 2333393615614306-2333393615614306. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615614306
- Anbari, A. B. (2019). What makes a BSN a BSN? *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *41*(2), 167–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945918803683
- Anderlini, D. (2018). The United States Health Care System is sick: From Adam Smith to overspecialization. *Cureus*, *10*(5), e2720. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.2720
- Anders, R. L. (2021). Patient safety time for federally mandated registered nurse to patient ratios. *Nursing Forum*, *56*(4), 10381043. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12625
- Andrade, C. (2021). A student's guide to the classification and operationalization of variables in the conceptualization and design of a clinical study: Part 1. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(2), 177–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717621994334
- Angel, J. L., Angel, R. J., & Cantu, P. (2019). Medicaid use among older low-income Medicare enrollees in California and Texas: A tale of two states. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 44(6), 885–910. https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-7785799

- Attride-Stirling, J. (2001). Thematic networks: An analytic tool for qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *1*, 385–405. https://doi.org/10.1177/146879410100100307
- Austin, Z., & Sutton, J. (2014). Qualitative research: getting started. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 67(6), 436–440. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v67i6.1406
- Averill, R. F., Fuller, R. L., McCullough, E. C., & Hughes, J. S. (2016). Rethinking Medicare payment adjustments for quality. *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 39(2), 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000137
- Bal, R., & Wallenburg, I. (2023). Linking costs and quality in healthcare: Towards sustainable healthcare systems comment on "hospitals bending the cost curve with increased quality: A scoping review into integrated hospital strategies". *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, 12(1), 7461–7461. https://doi.org/10.34172/ijhpm.2022.7461
- Bari, A., Khan, R. A., & Rathore, A. W. (2016). Medical errors; causes, consequences, emotional response and resulting behavioral change. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 32(3), 523–528. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.323.9701
- Barton, A. (2009). Patient safety and quality: An evidence-based handbook for nurses. *AORN Journal*, *90*(4), 601–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2009.09.014
- Batbaatar, E., Dorjdagva, J., Luvsannyam, A., & Amenta, P. (2015). Conceptualization of patient satisfaction: A systematic narrative literature review. *The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 135(5), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913915594196
- Bates, D. W., & Singh, H. (2018). Two decades since to err is human: An assessment of progress and emerging priorities in patient safety. *Health Affairs*, 37(11), 1736–1743. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0738

Bauchner, H. (2017). Health care in the United States: A right or a privilege. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 317(1), 29–29. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.19687

- Bayer, S., Kuzmickas, P., Boissy, A., Rose, S. L., & Mercer, M. B. (2021). Categorizing and rating patient complaints: An innovative approach to improve patient experience. *Journal of Patient Experience*, *8*, 237437352199862-2374373521998624.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2374373521998624
- Bengtsson, M., Ekedahl, A. I., & Sjöström, K. (2021). Errors linked to medication management in nursing homes: An interview study. *BMC Nursing*, 20(1), 69–69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00587-2
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(2), 219–234.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475

- Berkowitz, B. (2016). The patient experience and patient satisfaction: Measurement of a complex dynamic. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 21(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3912/OJIN.Vol21No01Man01
- Biesta, G. (2010). Pragmatism and the philosophical foundations of mixed methods research1. In SAGE handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioral research (pp. 95–118). SAGE
 Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506335193
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870

- Bishop, C. E., & Degenholtz, H. B. (2022). Evidence base for the future of nursing homes:
 Special issue. *Innovation in Aging*, 6(4), igac039–igac039.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igac039
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*, *19*(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bogenrief, J. (2018). New patient-driven payment model will change SNF PPS payment. *OT Practice*, 23(12), 9–9. https://doi.org/10.7138/otp.2018.2312.cb
- Boscart, V. M., Sidani, S., Poss, J., Davey, M., d'Avernas, J., Brown, P., Heckman, G., Ploeg, J., & Costa, A. P. (2018). The associations between staffing hours and quality of care indicators in long-term care. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 750. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3552-5
- Bougnol, M., & Dulà, J. (2021). Improving productivity using government data: The case of US centers for Medicare & Medicaid's 'nursing home compare'. *The Journal of the Operational Research Society*, *72*(5), 1075–1086.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01605682.2020.1724056

- Bradley, E. H., Curry, L. A., & Devers, K. J. (2007). Qualitative data analysis for health services research: Developing taxonomy, themes, and theory. *Health Services Research*, 42(4), 1758–1772. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00684.x
- Bradley, E. H., Sipsma, H., & Taylor, L. A. (2017). American health care paradox-high spending on health care and poor health. *QJM: Monthly Journal of the Association of Physicians*, *110*(2), 61–65. https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcw187
- Branning, G., & Vater, M. (2016). Healthcare spending: Plenty of blame to go around. *American Health & Drug Benefits*, 9(8), 445–447.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/316670625_Healthcare_Spending_Plenty_of_B lame_to_Go_Around

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2008). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Boulton, E., Davey, L., & McEvoy, C. (2021). The online survey as a qualitative research tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(6), 641–654. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1805550
- Brauner, D., Werner, R. M., Shippee, T. P., Cursio, J., Sharma, H., & Konetzka, R. T. (2018).
 Does nursing home compare reflect patient safety in nursing homes?. *Health Affairs* (*Project Hope*), 37(11), 1770–1778. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0721
- Brockett, P. L., Golden, L. L., & Yang, C. C. (2018). Potential "savings" of Medicare: The analysis of Medicare advantage and accountable care organizations. *North American Actuarial Journal*, 22(3), 458–472. https://doi.org/10.1080/10920277.2018.1436445
- Brown, D. (2022, July 28). 1 in 3 nursing homes fall in staffing under new CMS five-star rating system. *McKnight's Long-Term Care News*. https://www.mcknights.com/news/1-in-3nursing-homes-fall-in-staffing-under-new-five-star-rating-system/
- Brunt, C. S., & Bowblis, J. R. (2023). Beyond nursing staff levels: The association of nursing home quality and the five-star quality rating system's new staffing measures. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 80(6), 631–640. https://doi.org/10.1177/10775587231187782
- Bruya, B., & Tang, Y. Y. (2018). Is attention really effort? Revisiting Daniel Kahneman's influential 1973 book attention and effort. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1133.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01133

- Buljac-Samardžić, M., & van Woerkom, M. (2018). Improving quality and safety of care in nursing homes by team support for strengths use: A survey study. *PLoS One*, 13(7), e0200065. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200065
- Buntin, M. B. (2021). Confronting challenges in the US health care system: Potential opportunity in a time of crisis. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 325(14), 1399–1400. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.1471
- Burd, C., Brown, N. C., Puri, P., & Sanghavi, D. (2017). A centers for Medicare & Medicaid services lens toward value-based preventive care and population health. *Public Health Reports (1974)*, 132(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916681508
- Burke, R. E., & Werner, R. M. (2019). Quality measurement and nursing homes: Measuring what matters. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28(7), 520–523. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-009447
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(1), 14–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Camillo, C. A. (2016). The US healthcare system: Complex and unequal. *Global Social Welfare: Research, Policy & Practice*, *3*(3), 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40609-016-0075-z
- Campbell, D. J. T., Tam-Tham, H., Dhaliwal, K. K., Manns, B. J., Hemmelgarn, B. R.,
 Sanmartin, C., & King-Shier, K. (2017). Use of mixed methods research in research on coronary artery disease, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension: A scoping review. *Circulation Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, *10*(1), e003310.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.116.003310

- Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., Feeney, H., & Fehler-Cabral, G. (2020). Assessing triangulation across methodologies, methods, and stakeholder groups: The joys, woes, and politics of interpreting convergent and divergent data. *The American Journal of Evaluation*, *41*(1), 125–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018804195
- Cao, P., Zhao, Q., Xiao, M., Kong, L., & Xiao, L. (2018). The effectiveness of exercise for fall prevention in nursing home residents: A systematic review meta-analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(11), 2511–2522. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13814
- Carayon, P., & Gürses, A. P. (2005). A human factors engineering conceptual framework of nursing workload and patient safety in intensive care units. *Intensive & Critical Care Nursing*, 21(5), 284–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2004.12.003
- Carey, K., Zhao, S., Snow, A. L., & Hartmann, C. W. (2018). The relationship between nursing home quality and costs: Evidence from the VA. *PLoS One*, *13*(9), e0203764. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203764
- Carlfjord, S., Öhrn, A., & Gunnarsson, A. (2018). Experiences from ten years of incident reporting in health care: A qualitative study among department managers and coordinators. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 113–113. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2876-5
- Carrez, L., Bouchoud, L., Fleury, S., Combescure, C., Falaschi, L., Sadeghipour, F., & Bonnabry, P. (2019). Work overload is related to increased risk of error during chemotherapy preparation. *Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice*, 25(6), 1456–1466. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078155219845432

- Casteel, A., & Bridier, N. (2021). Describing populations and samples in doctoral student research. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 16, 339–362. https://doi.org/10.28945/4766
- Castle, N. G., Engberg, J., & Men, A. (2018). Satisfaction of discharged nursing home residents. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 37(10), 1225–1243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464816656095
- Castle, N. G., Ferguson, J. C., & Hughes, K. (2009). Humanism in nursing homes: The impact of top management. *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, 31(4), 483–516. https://doi.org/10.1177/107937390903100401
- Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2019). *Five-star quality rating system*. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-Certification/CertificationandComplianc/FSQRS
- Chandra, S., Ward, P., & Mohammadnezhad, M. (2019). Factors associated with patient satisfaction in outpatient department of Suva sub-divisional health center, Fiji, 2018: A mixed method study. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7, 183–183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00183
- Chang, L., Yu, H., & Chao, Y. C. (2019). The relationship between nursing workload, quality of care, and nursing payment in intensive care units. *The Journal of Nursing Research*, 27(1), e8. https://doi.org/10.1097/jnr.00000000000265
- Chee, T. T., Ryan, A. M., Wasfy, J. H., & Borden, W. B. (2016). Current state of value-based purchasing programs. *Circulation*, 133(22), 2197–2205. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.010268

- Chen, H. (2018). Assessing outsourcing strategy on quality and performance of US long-term healthcare. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 19(2), 118–128. https://articlearchives.co/index.php/JMPP/article/view/4112
- Chen, Q., Beal, E. W., Okunrintemi, V., Cerier, E., Paredes, A., Sun, S., Olsen, G., & Pawlik, T.
 M. (2019). The association between patient satisfaction and patient-reported health outcomes. *Journal of Patient Experience*, 6(3), 201–209.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2374373518795414
- Chiu, B. L., & Pinto, J. M. (2018). Aging in the United States: Opportunities and challenges for otolaryngology-head and neck surgery. *Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America*, 51(4), 697–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otc.2018.03.001
- Choo, J., Hutchinson, A., & Buchnall, T. (2010). Nurses' role in medication safety. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 18(7), 853–861. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01164.x
- Choudry, M., Latif, A., & Warburton, K. G. (2018). An overview of the spiritual importances of end-of-life care among the five major faiths of the United Kingdom. *Clinical Medicine* (London, England), 18(1), 23–31. https://doi.org/10.7861/clinmedicine.18-1-23
- Clement, J. (2016). Value and nursing home profitability. *Health Services Management Research*, 29, 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0951484816662491
- Cohen, I. G., & Mello, M. M. (2018). HIPAA and protecting health information in the 21st century. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 320(3), 231–232. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.5630
- Corazzini, K. N., Anderson, R. A., Mueller, C., Thorpe, J. M., & McConnell, E. S. (2013).
 Licensed practical nurse scope of practice and quality of nursing home care. *Nursing Research (New York)*, 62(5), 315–324. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e31829eba00

- Corso, K. A., Dorrance, K. A., & LaRochelle, U. (2018). The physician shortage: A red herring in American health care reform. *Military Medicine*, 183(suppl_3), 220–224. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usy211
- Creative Research Systems. (2012). *The survey system*. https://www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Crowley, R., Daniel, H., Cooney, T. G., & Engel, L. S. (2020). Envisioning a better U.S. health care system for all: Coverage and cost of care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *172*(2_Suppl), S7–S32. https://doi.org/10.7326/M19-2415
- Currie, J., & Duque, V. (2019). Medicaid: What does it do, and can we do it better? *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 686(1), 148–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716219874772
- Curry, L., & Nunez-Smith, M. (2015). *Mixed methods in health sciences research: A practical primer*. Sage.
- Cutler, D. M. (2018). What is the US health spending problem? *Health Affairs Web Exclusive*, 37(3), 493–497. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1626
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research: Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *36*(4), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000253

- Dalen, J. E., Plitt, J. L., Jaswal, N., & Alpert, J. S. (2019). An alternative to Medicare for all. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 132(6), 665–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.01.007
- Datta, A., Datta, R., & Elkins, J. (2018). What factors predict falls in older adults living in nursing homes: A pilot study. *Journal of Functional Morphology and Kinesiology*, *4*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/jfmk4010003
- de Cordova, P. B., Pogorzelska-Maziarz, M., Eckenhoff, M. E., & McHugh, M. D. (2019).
 Public reporting of nurse staffing in the United States. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, *10*(3), 14–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2155-8256(19)30143-7
- Decorte, T., Malm, A., Sznitman, S. R., Hakkarainen, P., Barratt, M. J., Potter, G. R., Werse, B., Kamphausen, G., Lenton, S., & Asmussen Frank, V. (2019). The challenges and benefits of analyzing feedback comments in surveys: Lessons from a cross-national online survey of small-scale cannabis growers. *Methodological Innovations*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799119825606
- De Hert, S. (2020). Burnout in healthcare workers: Prevalence, impact and preventative strategies. *Local and Regional Anesthesia*, 13, 171–183. https://doi.org/10.2147/LRA.S240564
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Demir, S. B., & Pişmek, N. (2018). A convergent parallel mixed-methods study of controversial issues in social studies classes: A clash of ideologies. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 18(1), 119–149. https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2018.1.0298
- Denscombe, M. (2008). Communities of practice: A research paradigm for the mixed methods approach. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *2*(3), 270–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689808316807
- DeWalt, D. A., Oberlander, J., Carey, T. S., & Roper, W. L. (2005). Significance of Medicare and Medicaid programs for the practice of medicine. *Health Care Financing Review*, 27(2), 79–90.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/6513678_Significance_of_Medicare_and_Medi caid_Programs_for_the_Practice_of_Medicine

- DiGaetano, R. (2013). Sample frame and related sample design issues for surveys of physicians and physician practices. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, *36*(3), 296–329. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278713496566
- Doran, T., Maurer, K. A., & Ryan, A. M. (2017). Impact of provider incentives on quality and value of health care. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 38(1), 449–465. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021457
- Dörfler, V., & Stierand, M. (2020). Bracketing: A phenomenological theory applied through transpersonal reflexivity. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, *34*(4), 778– 793. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-12-2019-0393
- Doupe, M. B., Poss, J., Norton, P. G., Garland, A., Dik, N., Zinnick, S., & Lix, L. M. (2018).
 How well does the minimum data set measure healthcare use? A validation study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3089-7
- Drennan, V. M., & Ross, F. (2019). Global nurse shortages-the facts, the impact and action for change. *British Medical Bulletin*, *130*(1), 25–37. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldz014

- Durrani H. (2016). Healthcare and healthcare systems: Inspiring progress and future prospects. *mHealth*, 2, 3. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2306-9740.2016.01.03
- Eastman, D., & Kernan, K. (2022). A new patient acuity tool to support equitable patient assignments in a progressive care unit. *Critical Care Nursing Quarterly*, 45(1), 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1097/CNQ.00000000000388
- Edemekong, P. F., Annamaraju, P., & Haydel, M. J. (2024). *Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.* In StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan-. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK500019/
- Edmonds, W., & Kennedy, T. (2017). Convergent-parallel approach. In *An applied guide to research designs* (pp. 181–188). SAGE Publications, Inc, https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781071802779
- Ercia, A. (2021). The impact of the affordable care act on patient coverage and access to care:
 Perspectives from FQHC administrators in Arizona, California and Texas. *BMC Health* Services Research, 21(1), 920–920. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06961-9
- Etafa, W., Argaw, Z., Gemechu, E., & Melese, B. (2018). Nurses' attitude and perceived barriers to pressure ulcer prevention. *BMC Nursing*, 17, 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-018-0282-2
- Ettinger, W. H., Jr. (1998). The balanced budget act of 1997: Implications for the practice of geriatric medicine. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society (JAGS)*, 46(4), 530–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1998.tb02479.x
- Everhart, D., Neff, D., Al-Amin, M., Nogle, J., & Weech-Maldonado, R. (2013). The effects of nurse staffing on hospital financial performance: competitive versus less competitive

markets. *Health Care Management Review*, *38*(2), 146–155. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e318257292b

- Falkson, S. R., & Srinivasan, V. N. (2023). *Health maintenance organization*. [Updated 2023
 Mar 6]. In StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan..
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554454
- Fang, J., Liu, L., & Fang, P. (2019). What is the most important factor affecting patient satisfaction - A study based on gamma coefficient. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 13, 515–525. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S197015
- Favez, L., Zúñiga, F., Sharma, N., Blatter, C., & Simon, M. (2020). Assessing nursing homes quality indicators' between-provider variability and reliability: A cross-sectional study using ICCs and rankability. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(24), 9249. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249249
- Fetters, M. D., Curry, L. A., & Creswell, J. W. (2013). Achieving integration in mixed methods designs-principles and practices. *Health Services Research*, 48(6 Pt 2), 2134–2156. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12117
- Fraiman, D., & Fraiman, R. (2018). An ANOVA approach for statistical comparisons of brain networks. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 4746. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23152-5
- Franzosa, E., Mak, W., Burack, O., Hokenstad, A., Wiggins, F., Boockvar, K. S., & Reinhardt, J. P. (2022). Perspectives of certified nursing assistants and administrators on staffing the nursing home frontline during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Services Research*, *57*(4), 905–913. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13954
- Frey, B. (2018). *The SAGE encyclopedia of educational research, measurement, and evaluation* (Vols. 1-4). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506326139

Friedel, A. L., Siegel, S., Kirstein, C. F., Gerigk, M., Bingel, U., Diehl, A., Steidle, O.,
Haupeltshofer, S., Andermahr, B., Chmielewski, W., & Kreitschmann-Andermahr, I.
(2023). Measuring patient experience and patient satisfaction-how are we doing it and
why does it matter? A comparison of European and U.S. American approaches. *Healthcare (Basel)*, *11*(6), 797. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare11060797

Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2018). Data collection via in-depth email interviewing: Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(10), 1640–1649. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067

- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Gaietto, K. J., & Williams, M. E. (2020). ATTENTION: Workforce shortages as a barrier to optimal dialysis. *Seminars in Dialysis*, *33*(6), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12920
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research: Reflections on its relationship with funding and impact. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 160940691774899. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992
- Galofré-Vilà, G. (2023). The US baby boom and the 1935 social security act. *The History of the Family*, *28*(3), 530–543. https://doi.org/10.1080/1081602X.2023.2178478
- Garness, K. (2019). The challenge of high drug prices in America: Cost disclosure in direct-toconsumer advertising may offer a solution. *American Health & Drug Benefits*, 12(5), 254–255. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32015793/
- Gattinger, H., Senn, B., Hantikainen, V., Köpke, S., Ott, S., & Leino-Kilpi, H. (2017). Mobility care in nursing homes: Development and psychometric evaluation of the kinaesthetics

competence self-evaluation (KCSE) scale. BMC Nursing, 16, 67.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-017-0257-8

- Gaudet Hefele, J. (2020). Nursing home quality: What matters to patients. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 29(5), 401–404. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010338
- Geng, F., Stevenson, D. G., & Grabowski, D. C. (2019). Daily nursing home staffing levels highly variable, often below CMS expectations. *Health Affairs (Project Hope)*, 38(7), 1095–1100. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05322
- Giesinger, J. M., Aaronson, N. K., Arraras, J. I., Efficace, F., Groenvold, M., Kieffer, J. M., Loth, F. L., Petersen, M. A., Ramage, J., Tomaszewski, K. A., Young, T., & Holzner, B. (2018). A cross-cultural convergent parallel mixed methods study of what makes a cancer-related symptom or functional health problem clinically important. *Psycho-Oncology (Chichester, England)*, 27(2), 548–555. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4548
- Gill, S. L. (2020). Qualitative sampling methods. *Journal of Human Lactation*, *36*(4), 579–581. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334420949218
- Gillespie, A., & Reader, T. W. (2016). The healthcare complaints analysis tool: Development and reliability testing of a method for service monitoring and organizational learning.
 BMJ Quality & Safety, 25(12), 937–946. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004596
- Gluck, P. A. (2008). Medical error theory. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*, 35(1), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2007.12.006

Goel, R. K. (2021). Are health care scams infectious? Empirical evidence on contagion in health care fraud. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 42(1), 198–208. https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.3224

- Goldsteen, R. L., Goldsteen, K., & Benjamin Goldsteen, M. B. A. (2020). *Jonas' introduction to the US health care system*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Goncalves, H. M., & Sampaio, P. (2012). The customer satisfaction-customer loyalty relationship: Reassessing customer and relational characteristics moderating effects. *Management Decision*, 50(9), 1509–1526. https://doi.org/10.1108/00251741211266660
- Goodwin, J. S., Li, S., Zhou, J., Graham, J. E., Karmarkar, A., & Ottenbacher, K. (2017).
 Comparison of methods to identify long term care nursing home residence with administrative data. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*(1), 376–376.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2318-9
- Gorgich, E. A., Barfroshan, S., Ghoreishi, G., & Yaghoobi, M. (2016). Investigating the causes of medication errors and strategies to prevention of them from nurses and nursing student viewpoint. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 8(8), 54448. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v8n8p220
- Grabowski, D. C. (2021). The future of long-term care requires investment in both facility- and home-based services. *Nature Aging*, *1*(1), 10–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43587-020-00018-y
- Grabowski, D. C., Stevenson, D. G., Caudry, D. J., O'Malley, A. J., Green, L. H., Doherty, J. A., & Frank, R. G. (2017). The impact of nursing home pay-for-performance on quality and Medicare spending: Results from the nursing home value-based purchasing demonstration. *Health Services Research*, *52*(4), 1387–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12538

Greater Houston Partnership. (2017). Houston Metropolitan Statistical Area Profile. https://hogg.utexas.edu/wp-

content/uploads/2018/10/02C20W00120Houston20Area20Profile1.pdf

- Griffin, P. M. (2016). *Healthcare systems engineering*. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119174639
- Griffiths, P., Recio-Saucedo, A., Dall'Ora, C., Briggs, J., Maruotti, A., Meredith, P., Smith, G.
 B., & Ball, J. (2018). The association between nurse staffing and omissions in nursing care: A systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(7), 1474–1487. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13564
- Griffiths, P., Saville, C., Ball, J., Jones, J., Pattison, N., & Monks, T. (2020). Nursing workload, nurse staffing methodologies and tools: A systematic scoping review and discussion.
 International Journal of Nursing Studies, *103*, 103487.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103487
- Grober, E. D., & Bohnen, J. M. (2005). Defining medical error. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, 48(1), 39–44. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3211566/
- Gu, J., Sood, N., Dunn, A., & Romley, J. (2019). Productivity growth of skilled nursing facilities in the treatment of post-acute-care-intensive conditions. *PLoS One*, 14(4), e0215876. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215876
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PloS One*, *15*(5), e0232076–e0232076. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076

- Gupta, N., Vrat, P., & Ojha, R. (2022). Prioritizing enablers for service quality in healthcare sector – A DEMATEL approach. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 36(5), 633–649. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-06-2021-0222
- Gupta, S. (2017). Ethical issues in designing internet-based research: Recommendations for good practice. *Journal of Research Practice*, 13(2), D1. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1174008.pdf
- Hackmann, M. B. (2019). Incentivizing better quality of care: The role of Medicaid and competition in the nursing home industry. *The American Economic Review*, 109(5), 1684–1716. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20151057
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Applications of mixed-methods methodology in clinical pharmacy research. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38(3), 635–640. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0231-z
- Haegdorens, F., Van Bogaert, P., De Meester, K., & Monsieurs, K. G. (2019). The impact of nurse staffing levels and nurse's education on patient mortality in medical and surgical wards: An observational multicentre study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *19*(1), 864– 864. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4688-7
- Halcomb, E. J. (2019). Mixed methods research: The issues beyond combining methods. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 75(3), 499–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13877
- Harrill, W. C., & Melon, D. E. (2021). A field guide to U.S. healthcare reform: The evolution to value-based healthcare. *Laryngoscope Investigative Otolaryngology*, 6(3), 590–599. https://doi.org/10.1002/lio2.575

- Harrington, C., Dellefield, M. E., Halifax, E., Fleming, M. L., & Bakerjian, D. (2020).
 Appropriate nurse staffing levels for U.S. nursing homes. *Health Services Insights*, *13*, 1178632920934785. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178632920934785
- Harrington, C., Mollot, R., Edelman, T. S., Wells, J., & Valanejad, D. (2020). U.S. nursing home violations of international and domestic human rights standards. *International Journal of Health Services*, 50(1), 62–72. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020731419886196
- Harrington, C., Schnelle, J. F., McGregor, M., & Simmons, S. F. (2016). The need for higher minimum staffing standards in U.S. nursing homes. *Health Services Insights*, 2016(9), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.4137/HSI.S38994
- Harrington, C., Zimmerman, D., Karon, S. L., Robinson, J., & Buetel, P. (2000). Nursing home staffing and its relationship to deficiencies. The Journals of Gerontology. *Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *55*(5), S278–S287. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/55.5.S278
- Havaei, F., & MacPhee, M. (2020). The impact of heavy nurse workload and patient/family complaints on workplace violence: An application of human factors framework. *Nursing Open*, 7(3), 731–741. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.444
- Heathcote, A., Coleman, J. R., Eidels, A., Watson, J. M., Houpt, J., & Strayer, D. L. (2015).
 Working memory's workload capacity. *Memory & Cognition*, 43(7), 973–989.
 https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-015-0526-2
- Ho, J. Y., & Hendi, A. S. (2018). Recent trends in life expectancy across high income countries: Retrospective observational study. *BMJ*, 362, k2562–k2562. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k2562

- Hoben, M., Norton, P. G., Ginsburg, L. R., Anderson, R. A., Cummings, G. G., Lanham, H. J., Squires, J. E., Taylor, D., Wagg, A. S., & Estabrooks, C. A. (2017). Improving nursing home care through feedback on PerfoRMance data (INFORM): Protocol for a clusterrandomized trial. *Trials*, 18(1), 9–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1748-8
- Holter, M. T., Johansen, A. B., Ness, O., Brinkmann, S., Høybye, M. T., & Brendryen, H.
 (2019). Qualitative interview studies of working mechanisms in electronic health: Tools to enhance study quality. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *21*(5), e10354–e10354. https://doi.org/10.2196/10354
- Hong, Q. N., Pluye, P., Bujold, M., & Wassef, M. (2017). Convergent and sequential synthesis designs: Implications for conducting and reporting systematic reviews of qualitative and quantitative evidence. *Systematic Reviews*, 6(1), 61–61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0454-2
- Huang, C., Iqbal, U., & Li, Y. (2018). Healthcare improvement measures in risk management and patient satisfaction. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 30(1), 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzx192
- Hudak, P. L., Hogg-Johnson, S., Bombardier, C., McKeever, P. D., & Wright, J. G. (2004).
 Testing a new theory of patient satisfaction with treatment outcome. *Medical Care*, *42*(8), 726–739. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000132394.09032.81
- Huffman, K. F., & Upchurch, G. (2018). The health of older Americans: A primer on Medicare and a local perspective. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society (JAGS)*, 66(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15227

- Hut-Mossel, L., Ahaus, K., Welker, G., & Gans, R. (2021). Understanding how and why audits work in improving the quality of hospital care: A systematic realist review. *PLoS One*, *16*(3), e0248677–e0248677. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248677
- Iheduru-Anderson, K. C. (2021). Students' perspectives of factors related to delayed completion of online RN-BSN programs. *BMC Nursing*, 20(1), 53–53. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00574-7
- Inegbedion, H., Inegbedion, E., Peter, A., & Harry, L. (2020). Perception of workload balance and employee job satisfaction in work organisations. *Heliyon*, 6(1), e03160–e03160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03160
- Islam, M., & Li, Y. (2019). Quality improvement in healthcare: The need for valid, reliable and efficient methods and indicators. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 31(7), 495–496. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzz077
- Jaca, A., Malinga, T., Iwu-Jaja, C. J., Nnaji, C. A., Okeibunor, J. C., Kamuya, D., & Wiysonge,
 C. S. (2022). Strengthening the health system as a strategy to achieving a universal health coverage in underprivileged communities in Africa: A scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(1), 587.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19010587
- Jacobs, P. D. (2021). The impact of Medicare on access to and affordability of health care. *Health Affairs (Millwood, Va.)*, 40(2), 266–273. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00940
- Jain, S. H., & Shrank, W. H. (2014). The CMS Innovation Center: delivering on the promise of payment and delivery reform. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(9), 1221–1223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-014-2844-7

- Jeurissen, P., Kruse, F. M., Busse, R., Himmelstein, D. U., Mossialos, E., & Woolhandler, S. (2021). For-profit hospitals have thrived because of generous public reimbursement schemes, not greater efficiency: A multi-country case study. *International Journal of Health Services: Planning, Administration, Evaluation, 51*(1), 67–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020731420966976
- Jiang, J., Klein, G., & Saunders, C. (2011). Discrepancy theory models of satisfaction in IS research. *Information Systems Theory: Explaining and Predicting Our Digital Society*, 1, 355–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6108-2_18
- Jin, G. Z., Lee, A., & Lu, S. F. (2022). Patient routing to skilled nursing facilities: The consequences of the Medicare reimbursement rule. *Management Science*, 68(12), 8722– 8740. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2022.4316
- Johannessen, T., Ree, E., Aase, I., Bal, R., & Wiig, S. (2020). Exploring challenges in quality and safety work in nursing homes and home care - A case study as basis for theory development. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 277–277. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05149-x
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033007014
- Johnson, R. W., & Wang, C. X. (2019). The financial burden of paid home care on older adults: Oldest and sickest are least likely to have enough income. *Health Affairs (Project Hope)*, 38(6), 994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00025

- Jones, G. H., & Kantarjian, H. (2015). Health care in the united States—basic human right or entitlement? *Annals of Oncology*, 26(10), 2193–2195. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv321
- Jones, T., Heui Bae, S., Murry, N., & Hamilton, P. (2015). Texas nurse staffing trends before and after mandated nurse staffing committees. *Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice*, 16(3–4), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527154415616254
- Juraschek, S. P., Zhang, X., Ranganathan, V., & Lin, V. W. (2019). United States registered nurse workforce report card and shortage forecast. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 34(5), 473–481. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860619873217
- Juvé-Udina, M., González-Samartino, M., López-Jiménez, M. M., Planas-Canals, M.,
 Rodríguez-Fernández, H., Batuecas Duelt, I. J., Tapia-Pérez, M., Pons Prats, M.,
 Jiménez-Martínez, E., Barberà Llorca, M. À., Asensio-Flores, S., Berbis-Morelló, C.,
 Zuriguel-Pérez, E., Delgado-Hito, P., Rey Luque, Ó., Zabalegui, A., Fabrellas, N., &
 Adamuz, J. (2020). Acuity, nurse staffing and workforce, missed care and patient
 outcomes: A cluster-unit-level descriptive comparison. *Journal of Nursing Management*,
 28(8), 2216–2229. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13040
- Kahneman, D. (1973). Attention and Effort. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Kajamaa, A., Mattick, K., & de la Croix, A. (2020). How to ... do mixed-methods research. *The Clinical Teacher*, *17*(3), 267–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13145

Kaliyadan, F., & Kulkarni, V. (2019). Types of variables, descriptive statistics, and sample size.
 Indian dermatology Online Journal, 10(1), 82–86.
 https://doi.org/10.4103/idoj.IDOJ 468 18

- Kapoor, A., Field, T., Handler, S., Fisher, K., Saphirak, C., Crawford, S., Fouayzi, H., Johnson, F., Spenard, A., Zhang, N., & Gurwitz, J. H. (2019). Adverse events in long-term care residents transitioning from hospital back to nursing home. *Jama Internal Medicine*, *179*(9), 1254–1261. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.2005
- Kapp, M. B. (2003). Resident safety and medical errors in nursing homes: Reporting and disclosure in a culture of mutual distrust. *The Journal of Legal Medicine (Chicago. 1979)*, 24(1), 51–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/713832123
- Karaca, A., & Durna, Z. (2019). Patient satisfaction with the quality of nursing care. *Nursing Open*, 6(2), 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.237
- Karande, S., Marraro, G., & Spada, C. (2021). Minimizing medical errors to improve patient safety: An essential mission ahead. *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine (Bombay)*, 67(1), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpgm.JPGM 1376 20
- Kaur, M. (2016). Application of mixed method approach in public health research. *Indian* Journal of Community Medicine: Official Publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine, 41(2), 93–97. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0218.173495
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Social Sciences (Basel)*, 8(9), 255.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8090255
- Kelly, L. M., & Cordeiro, M. (2020). Three principles of pragmatism for research on organizational processes. *Methodological Innovations*, *13*(2), 205979912093724. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120937242

- Kesselheim, A. S., Avorn, J., & Sarpatwari, A. (2016). The high cost of prescription drugs in the United States: Origins and prospects for reform. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 316(8), 858–871. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.11237
- Kim, K., Lee, J., Kim, D., & Min, D. (2022). Patient safety measurement tools used in nursing homes: A systematic literature review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 1376. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-08814-5
- Kinder, R. (2019). The facts on Medicare's new SNF payment system. *ASHA Leader*, 24(5), 38–40. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.OTP.24052019.38
- King, L. (2020). How government created and shaped the U.S. nursing home industry. *Critical Sociology*, 46(6), 881–897. https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920519853020
- Kivunja, C., & Kuyini, A. B. (2017). Understanding and applying research paradigms in educational contexts. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(5), 26–41. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1154775.pdf
- Knutsen, H. M. (2018). Health institutions, temporary work agencies, and the mobility power of Nurses. Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies, 8(4), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.18291/njwls.v8i4.111927
- Koca, M., Deniz, S., İnceoğlu, F., & Kılıç, A. (2024). The effects of workload excess on quality of work life in third-level healthcare workers: A structural equation modeling perspective. *Healthcare (Basel)*, *12*(6), 651. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare12060651
- Konetzka, R. T. (2020). The challenges of improving nursing home quality. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(1), e1920231–e1920231. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20231

- Konetzka, R. T., Sharma, H., & Park, J. (2018). Malpractice environment vs direct litigation:
 What drives nursing home exit? *Inquiry (Chicago)*, 55, 46958018787995.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018787995
- Kovacs, R., & Lagarde, M. (2022). Does high workload reduce the quality of healthcare? Evidence from rural Senegal. *Journal of Health Economics*, 82, 102600–102600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2022.102600
- Krause, M. R. (2012). Director of nursing current job tenure and past experience and quality of care in nursing homes. *Health Care Management Review*, 37(1), 98–108. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e318222429a
- Kusmaul, N., Millar, R. J., Diehl, C., & Stockwell, I. (2023). A facility-level analysis of nursing home compare five star rating and Maryland's family satisfaction with care survey. *The Gerontologist*, gnad166. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnad166
- Lancaster, R. J., Vizgirda, V., Quinlan, S., & Kingston, M. B. (2022). To err is human, just culture, practice, and liability in the face of nursing error. *Nurse Leader*, 20(5), 517–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2022.06.010
- Landes, S. D., & Lillaney, N. (2019). Trend change in the intellectual disability nursing home census from 1977 to 2004. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 124(5), 427–437. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-124.5.427
- Larson, M. G. (2006). Descriptive statistics and graphical displays. *Circulation*, *114*(1), 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.584474
- Lavallée, J. F., Gray, T. A., Dumville, J. C., & Cullum, N. (2019). Preventing pressure injury in nursing homes: Developing a care bundle using the Behaviour Change Wheel. *BMJ Open*, 9(6), e026639. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026639

- Lee, S. J., Venkataraman, S., Heim, G. R., Roth, A. V., & Chilingerian, J. (2020). Impact of the value-based purchasing program on hospital operations outcomes: An econometric analysis. *Journal of Operations Management*, 66(1–2), 151–175. https://doi.org/10.1002/joom.1057
- Leger, J. M., & Forest, S. (2021). Implementing a QAPI framework for improvement in an academic setting: A roadmap to success. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 37(1), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.11.004
- Lepherd, L., Rogers, C., Egan, R., Towler, H., Graham, C., Nagle, A., & Hampton, I. (2020).
 Exploring spirituality with older people:(1) rich experiences. *Journal of Religion, Spirituality & Aging*, *32*(4), 306–340. https://doi.org/10.1080/15528030.2019.1651239
- Lepore, M., & Leland, N. E. (2015). AGING & HEALTH: Nursing homes that increased the proportion of Medicare days saw gains in quality outcomes for long-stay residents. *Health Affairs (Millwood, Va.)*, 34(12), 2121. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0303
- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review*, 19(1), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 4(3), 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Li, Y., Cai, X., & Wang, M. (2019). Social media ratings of nursing homes associated with experience of care and "nursing home compare" quality measures. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 260–260. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4100-7

- Li, Y., Harrington, C., Temkin-Greener, H., You, K., Cai, X., Cen, X., & Mukamel, D. B.
 (2015). Deficiencies in care at nursing homes and racial/ethnic disparities across homes fell, 2006-11. *Health Affairs Web Exclusive*, *34*(7), 1139–1146. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0094
- Lord, J., Davlyatov, G., Thomas, K. S., Hyer, K., & Weech-Maldonado, R. (2018). The role of assisted living capacity on nursing home financial performance. *Inquiry: A Journal of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing*, 55, 46958018793285. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018793285
- Lu, S. F., Serfes, K., Wedig, G., & Wu, B. (2021). Does competition improve service quality?
 the case of nursing homes where public and private payers coexist. *Management Science*, 67(10), 6493–6512. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2020.3806
- Luborsky, M. R., & Rubinstein, R. L. (1995). Sampling in qualitative research: Rationale, issues, and methods. *Research on Aging*, *17*(1), 89–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027595171005
- Lund, S. B., Malmedal, W. K., Mosqueda, L., & Skolbekken, J. A. (2024). "Just pee in the diaper"- A constructivist grounded theory study of moral distress enabling neglect in nursing homes. BMC Geriatrics, 24(1), 366. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-024-04920-7
- Mackey, T. K., Miyachi, K., Fung, D., Qian, S., & Short, J. (2020). Combating health care fraud and abuse: Conceptualization and prototyping study of a blockchain antifraud framework. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(9), e18623. https://doi.org/10.2196/18623
- MacPhee, M., Dahinten, V., & Havaei, F. (2017). The impact of heavy perceived nurse workloads on patient and nurse outcomes. *Administrative Sciences*, 7(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci7010007

- Makary, M. A., & Daniel, M. (2016). Medical error-the third leading cause of death in the US. *BMJ*, 353. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i2139
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753–1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Marć, M., Bartosiewicz, A., Burzyńska, J., Chmiel, Z., & Januszewicz, P. (2019). A nursing shortage A prospect of global and local policies. *International Nursing Review*, 66(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12473
- Martínez-Mesa, J., González-Chica, D. A., Bastos, J. L., Bonamigo, R. R., & Duquia, R. P.
 (2014). Sample size: how many participants do I need in my research?. *Anais Brasileiros De Dermatologia*, 89(4), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20143705
- Mazie, D. M. (2024, June 11). *Medicare and Medicaid*. *Encyclopedia Britannica*. https://www.britannica.com/topic/Medicare-United-States-health-insurance
- McCreaddie, M., Benwell, B., & Gritti, A. (2018). Traumatic journeys; understanding the rhetoric of patients' complaints. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 551–551. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3339-8
- McGee, B. T., & Breslin, S. E. (2021). The affordable care act 10 years in. *Nurse Leader*, *19*(1), 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.03.022
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- McHugh, M. D., Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Windsor, C., Douglas, C., & Yates, P. (2021). Effects of nurse-to-patient ratio legislation on nurse staffing and patient mortality,

readmissions, and length of stay: A prospective study in a panel of hospitals. *The Lancet* (*British Edition*), 397(10288), 1905–1913. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00768-6

- McIntyre, A., & Song, Z. (2019). The US Affordable Care Act: Reflections and directions at the close of a decade. *PLoS Medicine*, 16(2), e1002752. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002752
- McKenna, L., Copnell, B., & Smith, G. (2021). Getting the methods right: Challenges and appropriateness of mixed methods research in health-related doctoral studies. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 30(3–4), 581–587. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15534
- McNarry, G., Allen-Collinson, J., & Evans, A. B. (2019). Reflexivity and bracketing in sociological phenomenological research: Researching the competitive swimming lifeworld. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(1), 138–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2018.1506498
- Mello, M. M., Frakes, M. D., Blumenkranz, E., & Studdert, D. M. (2020). Malpractice liability and health care quality: A review. *Jama*, 323(4), 352–366. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.21411
- Mertens, D. M. (2007). Transformative paradigm: Mixed methods and social justice. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(3), 212–225. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689807302811

Mertens, D. M., & Hesse-Biber, S. (2012). Triangulation and mixed methods research: Provocative positions. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 75–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689812437100

- Metcalf, A. Y., Wang, Y., & Habermann, M. (2018). Hospital unit understaffing and missed treatments: Primary evidence. *Management Decision*, 56(10), 2273–2286. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-09-2017-0908
- Millwee, B., Quinn, K., & Goldfield, N. (2018). Moving toward paying for outcomes in Medicaid. *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 41(2), 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000232
- Mirzoev, T., & Kane, S. (2018). Key strategies to improve systems for managing patient complaints within health facilities What can we learn from the existing literature? *Global Health Action*, 11(1), 1458938. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2018.1458938
- Miseda, M. H., Were, S. O., Murianki, C. A., Mutuku, M. P., & Mutwiwa, S. N. (2017). The implication of the shortage of health workforce specialist on universal health coverage in Kenya. *Human Resources for Health*, 15(1), 80–80. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-017-0253-9
- Molina-Azorin, J. F. (2016). Mixed methods research: An opportunity to improve our studies and our research skills. *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, 25(2), 37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redeen.2016.05.001
- Monroe, M. C., Adams, A. E., & Greenaway, A. (2019). Considering research paradigms in environmental education. *Environmental Education Research*, 25(3), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2019.1610863
- Montanera, D. (2016). The importance of negative defensive medicine in the effects of malpractice reform. *The European Journal of Health Economics*, 17(3), 355–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-015-0687-8

- Moody-Williams, J. D. (2019). CMS works to ensure residents' quality and safety in nursing homes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society (JAGS)*, 67(11), 2232–2233. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16198
- Moore, W., & Frye, S. (2019). Review of HIPAA, part 1: History, protected health information, and privacy and security rules. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine Technology*, 47(4), 269–272. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnmt.119.227819
- Morgan, D. L. (2014). *Integrating qualitative and quantitative methods: A pragmatic approach*. Sage.
- Morgan, G. A., Leech, N., Gloeckner, G., & Barrett, K. C. (2013). *IBM SPSS for introductory statistics* (5th ed.). Routledge.
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Myhre, J., Saga, S., Malmedal, W., Ostaszkiewicz, J., & Nakrem, S. (2020). Elder abuse and neglect: An overlooked patient safety issue. A focus group study of nursing home leaders' perceptions of elder abuse and neglect. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 199–199. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-5047-4
- Nantsupawat, A., Nantsupawat, R., Kunaviktikul, W., Turale, S., & Poghosyan, L. (2016). Nurse burnout, nurse-reported quality of care, and patient outcomes in Thai hospitals. *Journal* of Nursing Scholarship, 48(1), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12187
- Nash, D. B. (2019). *The healthcare quality book: Vision, strategy, and tools* (4th ed.). Health Administration Press.

- Neves, T. M. A., Parreira, P. M. S. D., Graveto, J. M. G. N., Freitas, M. J. B. D. S. D., & Rodrigues, V. J. L. (2020). Nurse managers' perceptions of nurse staffing and nursing care quality: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(3), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12966
- Nicholas, L. H., Hanson, C., Segal, J. B., & Eisenberg, M. D. (2020). Association between treatment by fraud and abuse perpetrators and health outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries. *JAMA International Medicine*, *180*(1), 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.4771
- Nickel, J. (2001). Mathematics: Is God silent? Ross House Books
- Novaes, F. P. S., Alves, J. G. B., & Grosseman, S. (2023). Communication in healthcare:
 Experience of students and professionals from teaching- learning to practice in health.
 International Journal of Medical Education, 14, 23–35.

https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.6412.f49b

- Nursing School Almanac. (2021). List of accredited nursing schools in the Greater Houston metro area, Texas. https://www.nursingschoolsalmanac.com/articles/list-accreditednursing-schools-greater-houston-metro-area-texas
- Oberholzer, A. E. (2019). Standing in awe of scientific healthcare. *Hervormde Teologiese Studies*, 75(4). https://doi.org/10.4102/hts.v75i4.5574

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Johnson, R. B., & Collins, K. M. (2009). Call for mixed analysis: A philosophical framework for combining qualitative and quantitative approaches.
 International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches, 3(2), 114–139.
 https://doi.org/10.5172/mra.3.2.114

- Ormerod, R. J. (2021). Pragmatism in professional practice. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, *38*(6), 797–816. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2739
- Orr, C. J., Ritter, V., Turner, L., Tyrrell, H., Konrath, J., Flower, K. B., & Coker, T. R. (2020). Membership trends in the academic pediatric association from 2009 to 2018. *Academic Pediatrics*, 20(6), 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2020.02.024
- Overview of Medicare Parts A-D. (2009). *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 5(2), 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.0922502
- Owusu, Y., Medakkar, P., Akinnawo, E. M., Stewart-Pyne, A., & Ashu, E. E. (2017). Emigration of skilled healthcare workers from developing countries: can team-based healthcare practice fill the gaps in maternal, newborn and child healthcare delivery?. *International journal of MCH and AIDS*, 6(2), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.21106/ijma.204
- Pannucci, C. J., & Wilkins, E. G. (2010). Identifying and avoiding bias in research. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 126(2), 619–625.

https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181de24bc

- Papanicolas, I., Woskie, L. R., & Jha, A. K. (2018). Health care spending in the United States and other high-income countries. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 319(10), 1024–1039. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.1150
- Pascoe, G. C. (1983). Patient satisfaction in primary health care: A literature review and analysis. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 6(3–4), 185–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7189(83)90002-2
- Paulsen, R. A. (2018). Taking nurse staffing research to the unit level. *Nursing Management*, 49(7), 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000538915.53159.b5

- Pennington, K., Scott, J., & Magilvy, K. (2003). The role of certified nursing assistants in nursing homes. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 33(11), 578–584. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005110-200311000-00007
- Peprah, P., Mohammed, R. M. G., Adjei, P. O., Agyemang-Duah, W., Abalo, E. M., & Kotei, J. N. A. (2018). Religion and health: Exploration of attitudes and health perceptions of faith healing users in urban Ghana. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1358–1358. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6277-9
- Pérez-Francisco, D. H., Duarte-Clíments, G., Del Rosario-Melián, J. M., Gómez-Salgado, J.,
 Romero-Martín, M., & Sánchez-Gómez, M. B. (2020). Influence of workload on primary care nurses' health and burnout, patients' safety, and quality of care: Integrative review. *Healthcare (Basel)*, 8(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare 8010012
- Pesis-Katz, I., Phelps, C. E., Temkin-Greener, H., Spector, W. D., Veazie, P., & Mukamel, D. B. (2013). Making difficult decisions: the role of quality of care in choosing a nursing home. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(5), e31–e37. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301243
- Peterson, L. J., Bowblis, J. R., Jester, D. J., & Hyer, K. (2021). U.S. state variation in frequency and prevalence of nursing home complaints. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 40(6), 582– 589. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464820946673
- Pfeiffer, J. (2018). Strategies Christian nurses use to create a healing environment. *Religions* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 9(11), 352. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel9110352
- Phelan, A. (2015). Protecting care home residents from mistreatment and abuse: on the need for policy. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 8, 215–223. https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S70191

- Phillips, R. L., Jr., Fryer, G. E., Chen, F. M., Morgan, S. E., Green, L. A., Valente, E., & Miyoshi, T. J. (2004). The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 and the financial health of teaching hospitals. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2(1), 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.17
- Piatak, J. S. (2017). Understanding the implementation of Medicaid and Medicare: Social construction and historical context. *Administration & Society*, 49(8), 1165–1190. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399715581030
- Piccioli, M. (2019). Educational research and mixed methods. Research designs, application perspectives, and food for thought. *Studi Sulla Formazione*, 22, 423–438. https://flore.unifi.it/handle/2158/1181021
- Plaku-Alakbarova, B., Punnett, L., & Gore, R. J. (2019). Nursing home employee and resident satisfaction and resident care outcomes. *Safety and Health at Work*, 9(4), 408–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2017.12.002
- Plutzer, E. (2019). Privacy, sensitive questions, and informed consent. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 83(S1), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfz017
- Pozgar, G. D. (2019). *Legal aspects of health care administration* (12th ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Prakash, B. (2010). Patient satisfaction. *Journal of Cutaneous and Aesthetic Surgery*, 3(3), 151–155. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-2077.74491
- Prentice, D., Moore, J., Crawford, J., Lankshear, S., & Limoges, J. (2020). Collaboration among registered nurses and licensed practical nurses: A scoping review of practice guidelines. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2020, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5057084

- Raberus, A., Holmstrom, I. K., Galvin, K., & Sundler, A. J. (2019). The nature of patient complaints: A resource for healthcare improvements. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 31(7), 556–562. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy215
- Radanović, N. M., & Vukušić, I. (2020). Causation in medical malpractice. *EU and Comparative Law Issues and Challenges Series*, *4*, 771–797.
- Rastogi, A., & Chertow, G. M. (2018). Mandating staffing ratios in hemodialysis facilities:
 California SB 349 and unintended consequences. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *13*(7), 1110–1112. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.03030318
- Raven, M. C., Doran, K. M., Kostrowski, S., Gillespie, C. C., & Elbel, B. D. (2011). An intervention to improve care and reduce costs for high-risk patients with frequent hospital admissions: A pilot study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *11*(1), 270–270. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-11-270
- Reader, T. W., Gillespie, A., & Roberts, J. (2014). Patient complaints in healthcare systems: A systematic review and coding taxonomy. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 23(8), 678–689. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2013-002437
- Regnault, A., Willgoss, T., & Barbic, S. (2018). Towards the use of mixed methods inquiry as best practice in health outcomes research. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 2(1), 19–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-018-0043-8
- Renjith, V., Yesodharan, R., Noronha, J., Ladd, E., & George, A. (2021). Qualitative methods in health care research. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *12*(1), 20–20. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM_321_19

- Richter, J. P., & Muhlestein, D. B. (2017). Patient experience and hospital profitability: Is there a link? *Health Care Management Review*, 42(3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.00000000000105
- Righi, L., Ourahmoune, A., Béné, N., Rae, A., Courvoisier, D. S., & Chopard, P. (2020). Effects of a pressure-ulcer audit and feedback regional programme at 1 and 2 years in nursing homes: A prospective longitudinal study. *PLoS One*, *15*(5), e0233471–e0233471. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233471
- Ripley, J., & Dwiwardani, C. (2014). Integration of Christianity in research and statistics courses. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 42, 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1177/009164711404200209
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data: A case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 66–66. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Roberts, P., & Priest, H. (2006). Reliability and validity in research. *Nursing Standard*, 20(44), 41–45. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2006.07.20.44.41.c6560
- Rodziewicz, T. L., & Hipskind, J. E. (2020). *Medical error prevention*. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.
- Rome, V., & Harris-Kojetin, L. D. (2016). Variation in residential care community nurse and aide staffing levels: United States, 2014. *National Health Statistics Reports*, (91), 1–11. https://europepmc.org/article/med/26905720

- Rosko, M., Al-Amin, M., & Tavakoli, M. (2020). Efficiency and profitability in US not-forprofit hospitals. *International Journal of Health Economics and Management*, 20(4), 359–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10754-020-09284-0
- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(4), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Ruf, C., Bard, J. F., & Kolisch, R. (2022). Workforce capacity planning with hierarchical skills, long-term training, and random resignations. *International Journal of Production Research*, 60(2), 783–807. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2021.2017058
- Ryskina, K. L., Konetzka, R. T., & Werner, R. M. (2018). Association between 5-star nursing home report card ratings and potentially preventable hospitalizations. Inquiry: *A Journal* of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing, 55, 46958018787323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018787323
- Saliba, D., Weimer, D. L., Shi, Y., & Mukamel, D. B. (2018). Examination of the new short-stay nursing home quality measures: Rehospitalizations, emergency department visits, and successful returns to the community. *Inquiry (Chicago)*, 55, 46958018786816. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018786816
- Salmon, U. (2016). Making the case for a mixed methods design in a Bourdieusian analysis of family firms. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 14(2), 135–146. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/313367121_Making_the_Case_for_a_mixed_m ethods_design_in_a_bourdieusian_analysis_of_family_firms
- Sarafis, P., Rousaki, E., Tsounis, A., Malliarou, M., Lahana, L., Bamidis, P., Niakas, D., & Papastavrou, E. (2016). The impact of occupational stress on nurses' caring behaviors and

their health related quality of life. *BMC Nursing*, *15*, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-016-0178-y

- Sari, W. I. R. (2017). The role of regulations on administrative and practices in improving quality of services in public organizations. *Cogent Business & Management*, 4(1), 1396952. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2017.1396952
- Scheel, C., Mecham, J., Zuccarello, V., & Mattes, R. (2018). An evaluation of the inter-rater and intra-rater reliability of OccuPro's functional capacity evaluation. *Work (Reading, Mass.)*, 60(3), 465–473. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-182754
- Scheffler, R. M., & Arnold, D. R. (2019). Projecting shortages and surpluses of doctors and nurses in the OECD: What looms ahead. *Health Economics, Policy and Law*, 14(2), 274– 290. https://doi.org/10.1017/S174413311700055X
- Schilgen, B., Nienhaus, A., Handtke, O., Schulz, H., & Mösko, M. (2017). Health situation of migrant and minority nurses: A systematic review. *PLoS One*, *12*(6), e0179183. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179183
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & Schwarte, L. A. (2018). Correlation coefficients: Appropriate use and interpretation. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, 126(5), 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000002864
- Schoonenboom, J., & Johnson, R. B. (2017). How to construct a mixed methods research design. *Kolner Zeitschrift fur Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, 69(Suppl 2), 107–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11577-017-0454-1
- Scott, P. J., Brown, A. W., Adedeji, T., Wyatt, J. C., Georgiou, A., Eisenstein, E. L., & Friedman, C. P. (2019). A review of measurement practice in studies of clinical decision

support systems 1998–2017. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association: JAMIA*, *26*(10), 1120–1128. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz035

- Shannon-Baker, P. (2016). Making paradigms meaningful in mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *10*(4), 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815575861
- Sharma, H., Hefele, J., Xu, L., Conkling, B., & Wang, X. (2020). SNF-VBP penalizes skilled nursing facilities with negative profit margins. *Health Services Research*, 55(S1), 14–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13341
- Shi, L., & Singh, D. A. (2017). *Essentials of the U.S. health care system* (4th ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Shore, C. B., Maben, J., Mold, F., Winkley, K., Cook, A., & Stenner, K. (2022). Delegation of medication administration from registered nurses to non-registered support workers in community care settings: A systematic review with critical interpretive synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *126*, 104121.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104121
- Shorten, A., & Smith, J. (2017). Mixed methods research: Expanding the evidence base. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 20(3), 74–75. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102699
- Signorell, A., Saric, J., Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Ewald, H., Burri, C., Goetz, M., & Gerold, J. (2021). Methodological approaches for conducting follow-up research with clinical trial participants: A scoping review and expert interviews. *Trials*, 22(1), 961–977. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-021-05866-6
- Simundić, A. M. (2013). Bias in research. *Biochemia Medica*, 23(1), 12–15. https://doi.org/10.11613/bm.2013.003

- Singh, G., Patel, R. H., Vaqar, S., & Boster, J. (2024). Root cause analysis and medical error prevention. In StatPearls [internet]. StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK570638/
- Sjöberg, A., Pettersson-Strömbäck, A., Sahlén, K., Lindholm, L., & Norström, F. (2020). The burden of high workload on the health-related quality of life among home care workers in northern Sweden. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 93(6), 747–764. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-020-01530-9
- Skär, L., & Söderberg, S. (2018). Patients' complaints regarding healthcare encounters and communication. *Nursing Open*, 5(2), 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.132
- Skjott Linneberg, M., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Smith, C. A., & Fogarty, S. (2016). A survey of study participants' understanding of informed consent to participate in a randomised controlled trial of acupuncture. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *16*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-015-0975-y
- Smith, M. G., Witte, M., Rocha, S., & Basner, M. (2019). Effectiveness of incentives and followup on increasing survey response rates and participation in field studies. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 230–230. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0868-8

Sofer, D. (2017). Proposed regulations for long-term care omit nurse staffing mandates. *The American Journal of Nursing*, 117(2), 12. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000512282.40618.94

- Sofer, D. (2019). The number of uninsured Americans is on the rise again. The American Journal of Nursing, *119*(4), 15. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000554536.64901.d4
- Søvold, L. E., Naslund, J. A., Kousoulis, A. A., Saxena, S., Qoronfleh, M. W., Grobler, C., & Münter, L. (2021). Prioritizing the mental health and well-being of healthcare workers:
 An urgent global public health priority. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *9*, 679397.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.679397
- Spurlock, D., Jr. (2020). The nursing shortage and the future of nursing education is in our hands. *The Journal of Nursing Education*, 59(6), 303–304. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20200520-01
- Sridhar, S., Khamaj, A., & Asthana, M. K. (2023). Cognitive neuroscience perspective on memory: Overview and summary. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 17, 1217093. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2023.1217093
- Staffini, A., Fujita, K., Svensson, A. K., Chung, U., & Svensson, T. (2022). Statistical methods for item reduction in a representative lifestyle questionnaire: Pilot questionnaire study. *Interactive Journal of Medical Research*, 11(1), e28692. https://doi.org/10.2196/28692
- Stark, J. L. (2014). The potential of Deweyan-inspired action research. *Education and Culture* (*Iowa City, Iowa*), 30(2), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1353/eac.2014.0013
- Stiger, T. R., Kosinski, A. S., Barnhart, H. X., & Kleinbaum, D. G. (1998). ANOVA for repeated ordinal data with small sample size? A comparison of ANOVA, MANOVA, WLS and GEE methods by simulation. Communications in Statistics. *Simulation and Computation*, 27(2), 357–375. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610919808813485

- Stowell, N. F., Schmidt, M., & Wadlinger, N. (2018). Healthcare fraud under the microscope: Improving its prevention. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 25(4), 1039–1061. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-05-2017-0041
- Sturm, H., Rieger, M. A., Martus, P., Ueding, E., Wagner, A., Holderried, M., & Maschmann, J. (2019). Do perceived working conditions and patient safety culture correlate with objective workload and patient outcomes: A cross-sectional explorative study from a German university hospital. *PLoS One*, *14*(1), e0209487. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209487
- Suchánek, P., & Králová, M. (2019). Customer satisfaction, loyalty, knowledge and competitiveness in the food industry. *Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 32(1), 1237–1255. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2019.1627893
- Super, N. (2020). Three trends shaping the politics of aging in America. *The Public Policy and Aging Report*, *30*(2), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/praa006
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Svalastog, A. L., Donev, D., Jahren Kristoffersen, N., & Gajović, S. (2017). Concepts and definitions of health and health-related values in the knowledge landscapes of the digital society. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 58(6), 431–435. https://doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2017.58.431
- Tamata, A. T., & Mohammadnezhad, M. (2023). A systematic review study on the factors affecting shortage of nursing workforce in the hospitals. *Nursing Open*, 10(3), 1247– 1257. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1434

- Tariq, S., & Woodman, J. (2013). Using mixed methods in health research. *JRSM Short Reports*, 4(6), 2042533313479197. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042533313479197
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International Journal of Medical Education, 2, 53–55. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd

Texas Health and Human Services. (2021). *Health and Safety Code Title 4*. Chapter 242: Convalescent and Nursing Homes and Related Institutions. https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HS/htm/HS.242.htm

Texas Health and Human Services. (2021). Nursing Facilities (NF). https://www.hhs.texas.gov/providers/long-term-care-providers/nursing-facilities-nfThe relationship between staffing levels and consumer complaints in nursing homes.

- The relationship between staffing levels and consumer complaints in nursing homes. (2021). *Journal of Aging & Social Policy*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/08959420.2021.1962173
- Thomas Craig, K. J., McKillop, M. M., Huang, H. T., George, J., Punwani, E. S., & Rhee, K. B. (2020). U.S. hospital performance methodologies: A scoping review to identify opportunities for crossing the quality chasm. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 640–640. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05503-z
- Thornton, R. D., Nurse, N., Snavely, L., Hackett-Zahler, S., Frank, K., & DiTomasso, R. A.
 (2017). Influences on patient satisfaction in healthcare centers: A semi-quantitative study over 5 years. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*(1), 361–361. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2307-z
- Tigges, B. B., Miller, D., Dudding, K. M., Balls-Berry, J. E., Borawski, E. A., Dave, G., Hafer, N. S., Kimminau, K. S., Kost, R. G., Littlefield, K., Shannon, J., & Menon, U. (2019).Measuring quality and outcomes of research collaborations: An integrative review.

Journal of Clinical and Translational Science, 3(5), 261–289.

https://doi.org/10.1017/cts.2019.402

- Timans, R., Wouters, P., & Heilbron, J. (2019). Mixed methods research: What it is and what it could be. *Theory and Society*, 48(2), 193–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11186-019-09345-5
- Tkatch, R., Musich, S., MacLeod, S., Alsgaard, K., Hawkins, K., & Yeh, C. S. (2016). Population health management for older adults: Review of interventions for promoting successful aging across the health continuum. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333721416667877
- Tomasi, J., Warren, C., Kolodzey, L., Pinkney, S., Guerguerian, A. M., Kirsch, R., Hubbert, J., Sperling, C., Sutton, P., Laussen, P., & Trbovich, P. (2018). Convergent parallel mixedmethods study to understand information exchange in paediatric critical care and inform the development of safety-enhancing interventions: a protocol study. *BMJ Open*, 8(8), e023691. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023691
- Tseng, P., Kaplan, R. S., Richman, B. D., Shah, M. A., & Schulman, K. A. (2018).
 Administrative costs associated with physician billing and insurance-related activities at an academic health care system. *JAMA*, *319*(7), 691–697.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.19148
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work: QSW: Research and Practice*, *11*(1), 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316
- Turner, D. P., Deng, H., & Houle, T. T. (2020). Statistical hypothesis testing: Overview and application. *Headache*, *60*(2), 302–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.13706
- Unroe, K. T., Ouslander, J. G., & Saliba, D. (2018). Nursing home regulations redefined:
 Implications for providers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society (JAGS)*, 66(1), 191–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15128
- Unruh, M. A., Khullar, D., & Jung, H. (2020). The patient-driven payment model: Addressing perverse incentives, creating new ones. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 26(4), 150–152. https://doi.org/10.37765/ajmc.2020.42831
- van Dael, J., Reader, T. W., Gillespie, A., Neves, A. L., Darzi, A., & Mayer, E. K. (2020). Learning from complaints in healthcare: A realist review of academic literature, policy evidence and front-line insights. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, *29*(8), 684–695. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-009704
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*(1), 148–148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vedel, I., Kaur, N., Hong, Q. N., El Sherif, R., Khanassov, V., Godard-Sebillotte, C., Sourial, N., Yang, X. Q., & Pluye, P. (2019). Why and how to use mixed methods in primary health care research. *Family Practice*, *36*(3), 365–368. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmy127
- Venkataramani, A. S., O'Brien, R., Whitehorn, G. L., & Tsai, A. C. (2020). Economic influences on population health in the United States: Toward policymaking driven by data and evidence. *PLoS Medicine*, 17(9), e1003319–e1003319.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003319

- Vésteinsdóttir, V., Joinson, A., Reips, U., Danielsdottir, H. B., Thorarinsdottir, E. A., & Thorsdottir, F. (2019). Questions on honest responding. *Behavior Research Methods*, 51(2), 811–825. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-018-1121-9
- Vogelsmeier, A. A., Scott-Cawiezell, J. R., & Pepper, G. A. (2011). Medication reconciliation in nursing homes: Thematic differences between RN and LPN staff. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 37(12), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20111103-05
- Vuong, L. (2020). Staffing ratios and burnout. *The American Journal of Nursing*, *120*(5), 13–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000662724.83879.81
- Walshe, K., & Harrington, C. (2002). Regulation of nursing facilities in the United States: An analysis of resources and performance of state survey agencies. *The Gerontologist*, 42(4), 475–487. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/42.4.475
- Wang, K., Yang, B., Wu, C., & Zheng, L. (2023). The moderation of satisfaction with working conditions in the association between workload and mental health among healthcare workers collecting test samples in the post-COVID-19 era. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *11*, 1106299–1106299. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1106299
- Wang, X., Gammonley, D., & Bender, F. (2020). Civil money penalty enforcement actions for quality deficiencies in nursing homes. *The Gerontologist*, 60(5), 868–877. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnz180
- Warner, J. J., Benjamin, I. J., Churchwell, K., Firestone, G., Gardner, T. J., Johnson, J. C., Ng-Osorio, J., Rodriguez, C. J., Todman, L., Yaffe, K., Yancy, C. W., & Harrington, R. A. (2020). Advancing healthcare reform: The American Heart Association's 2020 statement of principles for adequate, accessible, and affordable health care: A presidential advisory

from the American Heart Association. *Circulation (New York, N.Y.)*, *141*(10), e601–e614. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000759

- Weech-Maldonado, R., Pradhan, R., Dayama, N., Lord, J., & Gupta, S. (2019). Nursing home quality and financial performance: Is there a business case for quality? *Inquiry (Chicago)*, 56, 46958018825191–46958018825191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018825191
- Wei, H., Ming, Y., Cheng, H., Bian, H., Ming, J., & Wei, T. L. (2018). A mixed method analysis of patients' complaints: Underpinnings of theory-guided strategies to improve quality of care. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 5(4), 377–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2018.06.006
- Werner, R. M., Hoffman, A. K., & Coe, N. B. (2020). Long-term care policy after Covid-19 –
 Solving the nursing home crisis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 383(10), 903–905. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2014811
- Wiener, J. M. (2003). An assessment of strategies for improving quality of care in nursing homes. *The Gerontologist*, 43(suppl-2), 19–27.

https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/43.suppl_2.19

- Williams, K., & Colomb, P. (2020). Important considerations for the institutional review board when granting health insurance portability and accountability act authorization waivers. *The Ochsner Journal*, 20(1), 95-97. https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.19.0083
- Wood, J., Brown, B., Bartley, A., Cavaco, A. M. B. C., Roberts, A. P., Santon, K., & Cook, S. (2019). Reducing pressure ulcers across multiple care settings using a collaborative approach. *BMJ Open Quality*, 8(3), e000409. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2018-000409

- Woolf, S. H., & Schoomaker, H. (2019). Life expectancy and mortality rates in the United States, 1959-2017. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 322(20), 1996–2016. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.16932
- Xu, D., Kane, R., & Arling, G. (2019). Relationship between nursing home quality indicators and potentially preventable hospitalisation. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28(7), 524–533. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2018-008924
- Xu, H., & Intrator, O. (2020). Medicaid long-term care policies and rates of nursing home successful discharge to community. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 21(2), 248–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2019.01.153
- Yarborough, M. (2021). Moving towards less biased research. *BMJ Open Science*, 5(1), e100116. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjos-2020-100116
- Young, M., & Smith, M. A. (2024). Standards and evaluation of healthcare quality, safety, and person-centered care. In StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan-. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK576432/
- Zhang, N. J., Unruh, L., Liu, R., & Wan, T. T. H. (2006). Minimum nurse staffing ratios for nursing homes. *Nursing Economic*, 24(2), 78–85. https://www.proquest.com/openview/58d23ba962861b13f94da687b634ee4e/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=30765
- Zhang, X., Lin, D., Pforsich, H., & Lin, V. W. (2020). Physician workforce in the United States of America: Forecasting nationwide shortages. *Human Resources for Health*, 18(1), 8–. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-020-0448-3

Appendix A: Semi-Structure Interview Guide for employees in the nursing department (RN, LVN, CNA)

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. We are interviewing you to better understand how the work overload will affect the quality of the provided medical services. There are no right or wrong answers to any of our questions; we are interested in your own experiences. Participation in this study is voluntary and your decision to participate or not participate will not affect your job and your answers will stay confidential and will not be exposed to your management team. The interview should take approximately twenty minutes depending on how much information you would like to share. Can you give me your permission to audio record this interview so that I don't miss any of your comments? You may decline to answer any question or stop the interview at any time and for any reason. Please let me know if you have any questions. May I start recording?

Establishing Rapport:

Before we begin, it would be nice if you could tell me a little bit about yourself. and how long have you been working in the medical field? It looks like a nice place to work in, can you tell me how long you have been working at this nursing home?

1- Workload Experience:

I want to start asking you the interview questions now. Can you tell me, in your opinion, what is a decent number of patients you can usually handle?

Prompts: How many patients are you assigned to take care of? Prompts: Have you been assigned more patients over your usual expectation? 241

Prompts: when you handle more patient than you can tolerate, could the quality of the provided medical service be affected? In other words, does the increased number of the assigned patients decrease your ability to take care of them properly?

2- Relating to patient satisfaction:

Can you tell me how you are handling the work overload and what is needed to be done from the management part to be more realistic in assignment preparations?

Prompts: When you take care of more patients, was there a decrease of patient satisfaction? For example, was there an increase of complaints filed against you?

3- Conclusion Is there anything else that you would like to comment on that I haven't already asked you about?

Thank you for the opportunity to interview you and for the valuable information you shared today.

Appendix B: Semi-Structure Interview Guide for Management Team (Administrator, DON)

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. We are interviewing you to better understand how work overload affects the quality of the provided medical services. There are no right or wrong answers to any of our questions: we are interested in your own experiences. Participation in this study is voluntary and your decision to participate, or not participate, will not effect on your job and your answers will stay confidential and will not be exposed to your management team. The interview should take approximately twenty minutes depending on how much information you would like to share. Can you give me your permission to audio record the interview so that I don't miss any of your comments? You may decline to answer any question or stop the interview at any time and for any reason. Please let me know if you have any questions. May I start recording?

Establishing Rapport:

Before we begin, it would be nice if you could tell me a little bit about yourself. How long have you been working in the medical field? This looks like a nice place to work in, can you tell me how long you have been working at this nursing home?

1- Staffing policy

May you tell me what is your nursing and nursing assistant staffing policy?

Prompts: What are the factors that play an important role in constructing your staffing plan? Prompts: What is the patient/CNA ratio in your facility? Prompts: What is the patient/nurse ratio in your facility?

2- Patient satisfaction:

HIGH WORKLOAD EFFECTS ON PATIENT

Do you have a patient satisfaction policy in place? Are you doing any patient satisfaction surveys in your facility? If yes, how frequently, and is it possible if I could see the survey charts? Prompts: Can you tell me what your policy of handling patients' complaints is? Prompts: How many complaints are you receiving per month relating to the quality of the provided medical services?

Prompts: What is your staffing plan in response to unsatisfied patients relating to the quality of the provided health services?

3- Patient Retention:

From your standpoint, do you think that patient retention or getting a new patient is related to patient satisfaction and quality of medical services?